UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Multi-Photon Multi-Channel Interferometry for Quantum Information Processing

by

Ish Dhand

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS AND ASTRONOMY

CALGARY, ALBERTA

December, 2015

 \bigodot Ish Dhand 2015

Abstract

This thesis reports advances in the theory of design, characterization and simulation of multiphoton multi-channel interferometers. I advance the design of interferometers through an algorithm to realize an arbitrary discrete unitary transformation on the combined spatial and internal degrees of freedom of light. This procedure effects an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix on the state of light in n_s spatial and n_p internal modes. Our realization uses beam splitters and operations on internal modes to effect arbitrary linear transformations. The number of beam splitters required to realize a unitary transformation is reduced as compared to existing realization by a factor $n_p^2/2$ at the cost of increasing the number of internal optical elements by a factor of two. I thus enable the optical implementation of higher dimensional unitary transformations.

I devise an accurate and precise procedure for characterizing any multi-port linear optical interferometer using one- and two-photon interference. Accuracy is achieved by estimating and correcting systematic errors that arise due to spatiotemporal and polarization mode mismatch. Enhanced accuracy and precision are attained by fitting experimental coincidence data to a curve simulated using measured source spectra. Bootstrapping statistics are employed for quantifying the resultant degree of precision. A scattershot approach is devised to effect a reduction in the experimental time required to characterize the interferometer. The efficacy of our characterization procedure is verified by numerical simulations.

I develop group-theoretic methods for the analysis and simulation of linear interferometers. I devise a graph-theoretic algorithm to construct the boson realizations of the canonical SU(n) basis states, which reduce the canonical subgroup chain, for arbitrary n. The boson realizations are employed to construct \mathcal{D} -functions, which are the matrix elements of arbitrary irreducible representations, of SU(n) in the canonical basis. I demonstrate that this \mathcal{D} -function algorithm offers significant advantage over the two competing procedures, namely factorization and exponentiation. I expand on existing results on immanants of arbitrary $m \times m$ unitary matrix $T \in SU(m)$ to the submatrices of T. Specifically, I show that immanants of principal submatrices of a unitary matrix T are a sum $\sum_t \mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\lambda)}(\Omega)$ of the diagonal \mathcal{D} -functions of group element Ω , with t determined by the choice of submatrix, and the irrep (λ) determined by the immanant under consideration. The algorithm for SU(n) \mathcal{D} -function computation and the results connecting these functions with immanants open the possibility of group-theoretic analysis and simulation of linear optics.

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to my adviser Barry C. Sanders for his expert scientific guidance, patient writing advice and generous support. I thank my other collaborators and mentors Hubert de Guise, Sandeep K. Goyal and He Lu whom I have learned much from and whose company I have enjoyed immensely. I am grateful to Dominic W. Berry, David Feder, Gilad Gour, David W. Hobill, Alexander I. Lvovsky, Christoph Simon and Urbasi Sinha for wise professional counsel.

My time at Calgary was pleasant thanks to my friends and my colleagues Gabriel Aguilar, Jobin George, Joydip Ghosh, Mark Girard, Hannah Gordon, Hon-Wai Lau, Pascal Lefebvre, Kady Lyons, Jonathan Johannes, Farokh Mivehvar, Varun Narasimhachar, Christopher O'Brien, Pantita Palittapongarnpim, Marcel.li Grimau Puigibert, Rahul Raut, Ambrish Raghoonundun, Nafiseh Sang-Nourpour, Arashdeep Singh, Priyaa Varshinee Srinivasan, Raju Valivarthi, Lucile Veissier, Navid Yousefabadi and Ehsan Zahedinejad. Thanks to Jan Blume, Luc Couturier, Yaxiong Liu and Ingo Nosske for great company during my time in Shanghai. I thank Tracy Korsgaard, Nancy Jing Lu, Lucia Wang and Gerri Zannet for their patient support and kind words. Above all, I thank my family for their unwavering love and support.

Table of Contents

Abstract			
Ack	now	ledgements	iii
Tabl	le of (Contents	iv
List	of Ta	bles	vi
List	of Fi	gures	vii
List	of sy	mbols, abbreviations and nomenclature	xi
The	sis co	ntent previously published	xiv
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Research problem and objectives	1
	1.2	Realization of linear optics in spatial and internal degrees of freedom	3
	1.3	Accurate and precise characterization of linear optics	6
	1.4	$SU(n)$ and S_n group theory for simulation of linear optics	8
	1.5	Overview of chapters	10
2	Back	ground: Linear Optics	11
	2.1	Definition of linear optics	11
	2.2	One- and two-photon inputs to linear optical interferometer	15
	2.3	Summary	17
3	Back	ground: $SU(n)$ and S_n methods in linear optics	19
	3.1	The special unitary group and its algebra	19
	3.2	Boson realizations of $SU(n)$	26
	3.3	Determinants, immanants and permanents of a matrix	30
	3.4	$SU(3)$ and S_3 methods for three-photon interferometry	32
	3.5	Cosine-sine decomposition	34
4	Real	ization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations on spatial and internal	
	mod	es of light	39
	4.1	Algorithm to design efficient realization	39
		4.1.1 Inputs and outputs of algorithm	39
		4.1.2 Decomposition of unitry matrix into internal and CS matrices	41
		4.1.3 Decomposition of CS unitary matrix into elementary operators .	43
	4.2	Cost Analysis: Number of optical elements in realization	45
	4.3	Conclusion	47
5	Char	cacterization of linear optical interferometer	49
	5.1	Characterization procedure	49
		5.1.1 Experimental procedure and inputs to algorithms	50
		5.1.2 Single-photon transmission counts to estimate $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ (Algorithm 2)	52
		5.1.3 Calibration to estimate mode-matching parameter γ (Algorithm 3)	54
		5.1.4 Two-photon interference to estimate $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ (Algorithms 4-6)	55
		5.1.5 Maximum-likelihood estimation for finding unitary matrix	60
		5.1.6 Bootstrapping to estimate error bars (Algorithm 8)	64
	5.2	Scattershot characterization for reduction in experimental time \ldots .	66
	5.3	Removal of instability in $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}$ estimation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	70
	5.4	Summary of procedure and discussions	73

	5.5	Conclu	usion	77
6	Num	nerical a	and experimental verification of accurate and precise characterization	
	of li	near op	tics	78
	6.1	Numer	rical verification	78
		6.1.1	Numerical verification: Methods	79
		6.1.2	Numerical verification: Result	80
	6.2	Experi	imental verification of beam splitter characterization	82
		6.2.1	Testing the constant γ assumption	83
		6.2.2	Comparison of beam-splitter reflectivity estimates	85
	6.3	Conclu	usion	87
7	SU((n) Rep	resentation theory for simulating linear optics	88
	7.1	Algori	thms for boson realizations of $SU(n)$ states and \mathcal{D} -functions	88
		7.1.1	Mapping to graphs	90
		7.1.2	Basis-set algorithm (Algorithm 9)	91
		7.1.3	Canonical-basis-states algorithm (Algorithm 10)	98
		7.1.4	\mathcal{D} -function algorithm	103
		7.1.5	Conclusion	105
	7.2	$\mathcal{D} ext{-func}$	ctions and immanants of unitary matrices and submatrices	106
		7.2.1	Introduction and basic result	106
		7.2.2	Recap of notation and an illustration	107
		7.2.3	Proving the theorem: the case $N = m$	109
		7.2.4	Results on submatrices: the case $N < m$	112
		7.2.5	An application: Relations between \mathcal{D} -functions	116
		7.2.6	Conclusion	117
	7.3	Conclu	usion	118
8	Sum	mary.		119
	8.1	Summ	ary of results	119
	8.2	Open	problems	120
		8.2.1	Improved realization of linear optics on multiple degrees of freedom	n121
		8.2.2	Experimental evidence for efficacy of characterization procedure	121
		8.2.3	Group-theoretic methods for simulation of linear optics	121
А	Con	structiv	re proof of the CSD	123
В	Curv	ve-fittin	g subroutine	128
С	Cho	ice of su	ubalgebra chain	132
D	Con	nection	to Gelfand-Tsetlin basis	135
Bibl	iogra	phy .		137

List of Tables

3.1	Character table for S_2 . The first row labels the different elements of the	91
3.2	Character table for S_3 . The first row labels the different elements of the permutation group. The first column comprises the three S_3 irreps, which are identified with the permanent, immanant and determinant respectively	31 32
6.1	On the promise of constant mode-matching parameter γ . The first column presents the beam splitter labels. The estimates of γ_i in the second column are computed using one- and two-photon data. The error bars $\sigma(\gamma_i)$ on γ_i	
	estimates are computed using bootstrapping	85
6.2	Reflectivity values for beam splitters (labelled by index i) obtained using different methods. The four section of the table present the reflectivity esti- mates obtained using (i) single-photon data, (ii) our two-photon characteri- zation procedure, (iii) two-photon characterization without calibration and (iv) two-photon characterization using Gaussian curve-fitting and without	
	using calibration.	86

List of Figures and Illustrations

2.1	Schematic diagram of the interferometer. U effects a unitary transformation on a multimode state of light. The dotted lines represent the couplings of the interferometer with light sources and detectors. The beam splitters at the input and output modes model the linear losses because of imperfect coupling and detector inefficiency. The vacuum input to these beam splitters is not shown. One of the beam splitter outputs enters the interferometer whereas the other one is lost. The triangles represent the random dephasing at the input and output ports. The dashed box labelled U^{lossy} represents the combined effect of the dephasing the losses and the unitary interferometer	14
2.2	Schematic diagram of single-photon counting at the output of an interferometer when single photons are incident at one input port. The star symbol represents a source of single-photon pairs. Single photons are incident at one of the input ports whereas vacuum state is input to the remaining input ports (not shown in figure). The semicircles at the output ports represent single-photon detectors and the circles with the included $\#$ represent the photon-counting logic connected to the detectors	16
2.3	Schematic diagram for coincidence measurement the interferometer output when single-photon pairs are incident on two different input ports of an interferometer. The star symbol represents a source of single-photon pairs and the semicircles at the output ports represent single-photon detectors. The coincidence logic, which is depicted by \otimes , counts two-photon coincidence events	10
3.1	at the detectors	21

- 3.2 (a) Generators of the $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ algebra. The action of the raising operators $\{C_{1,2}, C_{1,3}, C_{2,3}\}$ and lowering operators $\{C_{2,1}, C_{1,3}, C_{2,3}\}$ on the canonical basis states and their linear combinations is represented by the directed lines. (b) The SU(3) irrep labelled by its highest weight $(\kappa_1, \kappa_2) = (2, 2)$. The dots and circles represent the canonical basis states. The dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex, for instance weights associated with dimension two are represented by one dot and one circle. The lines connecting the dots represent the transformation from states of one weight to those of another by the action of SU(3) raising and lowering operators. The red dot represents the highest weight of the irrep. A unique HWS occupying this weight is annihilated by the action of each of the raising operator.
- 3.3 Depiction of the CSD. U_{m+n} is an $(m+n) \times (m+n)$ unitary matrix. The CSD factorizes U_{m+n} into the block diagonal matrices \mathbb{L}_{m+n} , \mathbb{S}_{2m} and $\mathbb{R}_{m+n}^{\dagger}$. The boxes labelled L_m and L'_n represent the block diagonal matrix $\mathbb{L}_{m+n} = L_m \oplus L'_n$. Likewise for $\mathbb{R}_{m+n}^{\prime\dagger} = R_m^{\prime\dagger} \oplus R_n^{\prime\dagger}$ and $\mathbb{S}_{m+n} = \mathbb{S}_{m+n} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n-m}$.

24

36

37

44

- 3.4 Realization of a 4×4 unitary matrix U_4 as a transformation on two spatial and two polarization modes of light. (a) The CSD factorizes U_4 into the left and right matrices L_2, L'_2, R'_2, R''_2 and the CS matrix S_4 . (b) The left and right matrices are realized as combinations of quarter- and half-wave plates, and the CS matrix is realized using two beam splitters and a half-wave plate. . .
- 4.1 A depiction of the first iteration of the algorithm for the decomposition of a given unitary $U_{n_sn_p}$ into internal (green) and CS (brown) matrices. (a) First, the $U_{n_sn_p}$ unitary matrix is CS decomposed into (i) a $2n_p \times 2n_p$ CS matrix $\mathbb{S}_{2n_p}^{(1)}$ acting on the first two spatial modes, (ii) internal unitary matrices $L_{n_p}^{(1)}$ and $R_{n_p}^{(1)\dagger}$, each of which act on the internal degrees of the first spatial mode and (iii) left and right unitary matrices $L_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{\prime(1)}$ and $R_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{\prime(1)\dagger}$ acting on the remaining $n_s - 1$ spatial modes. (b) The matrix $L_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{\prime(1)\dagger}$ is further CS decomposed. The resultant $R_{n_p(n_s-2)}^{\prime(2)\dagger}$ from the second decomposition commutes with CS matrix $\mathbb{S}_{2n_p}^{(1)}$ and can thus be absorbed into $R_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{\prime(1)\dagger}$. (c) The algorithm repeatedly decomposes the left unitary matrices. The resultant right unitary matrices are absorbed into the initial right unitary matrix. At the end of one iteration, the algorithm decomposes $U_{n_sn_p}$ unitary operation into CS matrices, internal unitary matrices and the matrix $U_{n_p(n_s-1)}$. The next iteration of the algorithm decomposes the smaller $U_{n_p(n_s-1)}$ unitary matrix.

5.1	A depiction of the sign estimation procedure in Lines 9–22 of Algorithm 6. (a) The first row and first column arguments $\{\theta_{i1}\}, \{\theta_{1j}\}\$ are zero, so their signs are arbitrarily set as positive. θ_{22} is set as positive according to (5.12). (b) The sign of each second row argument θ_{i2} is set using the known values $ \theta_{22} , \theta_{i2} \$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 1, 2 and output ports 2, <i>i</i> as in Line 15. (c) The sign of each second column argument θ_{2j} is set using the known values $ \theta_{22} , \theta_{2j} \$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 6. (d) The signs of each remaining argument θ_{ij} is set using the known values $ \theta_{22} , \theta_{2j} \$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, <i>j</i> and output ports 1, 2 as in Line 16 of Algorithm 6. (d) The signs of each remaining argument θ_{ij} is set using the known values $ \theta_{22} , \theta_{2j} \$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, <i>j</i> and output ports 2, <i>i</i> in Line 19	
5.2	of Algorithm 6	62 65
5.3	Schematic diagram of the procedure for scattershot characterization of a five- mode interferometer U . Heralded single-photon sources are coupled to the inputs of the interferometer and controllable time delays are introduced at the first two ports. All sources and detectors are switched on and the controllable time delay values are changed for the first port and then for the second port. The required characterization data are collected by selectively recording one-	20
5.4	and two-photon events. An illustration of the instability in the θ_{ij} characterization procedure for an interferometer with $m = 5$ modes. (a) If the value of $ \theta_{22} - \theta_{52} - \theta_{24} $ is close to 0 or π , then small error in $C_{2524}^{\exp}(\tau)$ can lead to an error in the estimation of $\operatorname{sgn}(\theta_{54})$. (b) The instability in the θ_{54} can be removed by collecting two-photon coincidence data for output ports 2, 5 and input ports 3, 4, and using the values of $\theta_{23}, \theta_{53}, \theta_{24}$ instead of $\theta_{22}, \theta_{52}, \theta_{24}$ values.	69 71
6.1	The fitting of coincidence data to curves obtained from spectra using (2.16) and to Gaussian functions. Coincidence counts are simulated using experimentally	
6.2	measured spectra	81

6.3	Plots of coincidence probability versus time delay for different values of γ for
	a lossless balanced beam splitter. The time delay τ is in units inverse special
	width of incoming photons.

83

84

93

100

- 6.4 A plot showing the effect of calibration on the accuracy and precision of the characterization procedure. The two curves depict the mean error for characterization with (blue curve) and without calibration (red curve), where the error is the trace distance between the expected and the actual unitary transformations and the mean is over 1000 simulated characterization experiment. The simulations comprised generating one- and two-photon interference data based on experimentally measured spectral functions and performing characterization by our procedure. MATLAB code for the simulations depicted in this figure is available on GitHub.
- 7.1 The first step of the basis-set computation algorithm (Algorithm 9) illustrated for the (2, 2) irrep of SU(3), where the dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex. The algorithm constructs the HWS (occupying the red vertex) using Lemma 8. The lowering operators can transform states at one vertex to states at another vertex along different paths connecting the starting and the target vertex, for instance the two paths coloured green and blue. Lowering along the different paths to reach a target vertex will generate the same number of LI as the weight multiplicity. In our illustration, we obtain a basis set that contains two independent states at the target vertex. The algorithm traverses the irrep graph systematically until all basis sets are calculated.
- 7.2Diagrammatic representation of the main algorithm for n = 3. The dots and circles represent the canonical basis states. The dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex, for instance weights associated with dimension two are represented by one dot and one circle. The lines connecting the dots represent the transformation from states of one weight to those of another by the action of SU(3) raising and lowering operators. We use Algorithm 9 to construct basis sets for each vertex in the SU(n) irrep graph. Once the basis sets for the SU(n) irreps are computed, the algorithm enacts the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ raising operators on the (n-1)-dimensional sub-irreps to find the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ HWS. Then the algorithm starts with the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ HWS and employs the basis-set construction (Algorithm 1) to find all the states in the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ irrep labelled by the HWS. The states thus obtained are subtracted from the set of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ states. A new state is chosen from the weight of highest multiplicity and the process repeated until all the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ irreps are found.

List of symbols, abbreviations and nomenclature

- #P-complete #P is the set of the counting problems associated with the decision problems in the set NP of nondeterministic polynomial time problems. A problem is #P-complete if and only if it is in #P, and every problem in #P can be reduced to it by a polynomial-time counting reduction. In other words, #P-complete problems are the hardest problems in #P. 31
- \mathcal{B}_2 2 × 2 matrix representing a balanced beam splitter. Defined in Equation (3.60). 38
- \mathcal{D} functions Matrix elements of irreducible representations of group elements. 3
- $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ Generating algebra of special unitary group of degree n. 19
- $\mathfrak{u}(n)$ Generating algebra of unitary group of degree n. 21
- $GL(2, \mathbb{C})$ General linear group of degree 2 over the field \mathbb{C} of complex numbers. 19
- $\operatorname{GL}(n,\mathbb{C})$ General linear group of degree n over the field \mathbb{C} of complex numbers. 21
- SU(n) Special unitary group of degree n. 3
- S_n The symmetric group, whose elements are all the permutation operations on n distinct objects, and whose group operation is the composition of permutation operations. 8
- U(n) Unitary group of degree n. 21

CS matrix Cosine-sine matrix. Defined in Equation (3.54). 35

CSD Cosine-sine decomposition. 34

DOF Degree of freedom. 3

Fock state Fock states have well-defined particle numbers. Informally, the eigenstates of the number operator $\sum_i a_i^{\dagger} a_i$. Linear optical implementations of QIP tasks such as BosonSampling and LOQC employ Fock state inputs and measurement in the Fock-state basis. 6

Frobenius distance The Frobenius norm of a matrix $A_{m \times m}$ is $||A||_F = \sqrt{\sum_{i,j=1}^m |a_{ij}|^2}$. The Frobenius distance between matrices U and V is defined as $\operatorname{dist}(U, V) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=}$ $||U - V||_F = \sqrt{\sum_{i,j=1}^m |U_{ij} - V_{ij}|^2}$, and is a symmetric, positive-definite and subadditive distance function on the set of matrices. 64

HWS Highest weight state. 20

irrep Irreducible representation. 3

LD Linearly dependent. 98

LI Linearly independent. 22

Lie algebra A vector space over some field together with a binary operation called the Lie bracket, which satisfies the following bilinarity, alternatively, anticommutativity and the Jacobi identity. 20

Lie group A group that is also a finite-dimensional smooth manifold and in which the group operations of multiplication and inversion are smooth maps. 20

LOQC Linear optical quantum computation. 1

pdf Probability density function. 64

QIP Quantum information processing. 1

QR-decomposition The QR decomposition of a matrix M is its decomposition into a product M = QR of the orthogonal matrix Q and the upper triangular matrix R.. 79

Thesis content previously published

The results reported in this thesis are published in peer-reviewed journals or are under peer-review. The content of these articles are used in my thesis either verbatim or with some modifications as required. My publications are:

- Ish Dhand and Sandeep K. Goyal. Realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations using spatial and internal modes of light. *Physical Review A*, 92:043813, 2015.
- [2] Ish Dhand, Abdullah Khalid, He Lu, and Barry C. Sanders. Accurate and precise characterization of linear optical interferometers, 2015, arXiv:1508.00283
- [3] Ish Dhand, Barry C. Sanders, and Hubert de Guise. Algorithms for SU(n) boson realizations and D-functions, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 56(11):111705, 2015.
- [4] Hubert de Guise, Dylan Spivak, Justin Kulp, and Ish Dhand. Connection between D-functions and immanants of unitary matrices and submatrices. arXiv:1511.01851

The following article reports the work done during my PhD but is different in scope from the main topic of my PhD. Hence, this article is not included in my PhD thesis.

[5] Ish Dhand and Barry C. Sanders. Stability of the Trotter-Suzuki decomposition. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and Theoretical, 47(26):265206, 2014.

The following changes are made to the material taken from my published papers for use in this thesis:

• Each section of Chapter 1 contains a few sentences verbatim (but not explicitly marked) from the respective introduction sections of my papers [1–4].

- Section 2.1 contains material from the background section of my NJP Submission [2] in addition to new material on the definition of linear optics.
- The material in Section 2.2 is copied from the background section of my NJP Submission.
- Sections 3.1 and 3.2 comprise material published in my JMP paper [3]. A paragraph with additional notational details (3.36) has been added.
- The definition of immanants in Section 3.3 is copied verbatim from my JPA submission [4].
- Section 3.5 is copied verbatim from the background section of my PRA paper.
- Sections 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 are copied from Sections III, IV and V respectively of the PRA paper. Certain phrases (beam splitter, phase shifter) were changed in the interest of consistency.
- Sections 5.1–5.2 contain material from the revised version of my NJP submission. The ordering of the sections has been changed for coherence.
- Section 5.3 is an edited version of Appendix A of my revised NJP submission.
- Section 7.1 comprises material from my JMP paper. The introduction has been changed for better context and the notation made consistent with that in the rest of this thesis.
- Section 7.2 comprises material from my JPA submission. The notation made consistent with that in the rest of this thesis.
- Appendix A is copied from Appendix A my article in PRA.
- Appendix B is copied from Appendix B of the revised version of my NJP submission.

• Appendices C and D are taken from my article in JMP.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Research problem and objectives

Here I define my research problem and objectives in multi-photon multi-channel interferometry for quantum information processing (QIP). QIP advances computation and communication by exploiting quantum mechanics. Efficient quantum algorithms can solve problems for which no efficient classical algorithm is known [6–9]. Quantum communication protocols are computationally secure [10, 11]. Numerous physical systems are being investigated for implementing QIP; nonclassical light is a strong candidate for QIP implementations because it promises long coherence times and ease of transmission.

QIP protocols that require nonlinear media have been proposed [12–15] but existing natural or electromagnetically induced nonlinearities are too weak and too noisy to be useful [16]. In contrast, linear optics is important for implementing QIP tasks because of its relative ease of implementation.

Numerous QIP tasks can be implemented on linear optics. The problem of sampling the output coincidence distribution of a linear optical interferometer, i.e., the BosonSampling problem, is hard to simulate on a classical computer [17]. BosonSampling involves sampling from the photon-coincidence distribution at the output of an interferometer when single photons are incident at each input port. Sampling from this distribution is computationally hard classically but is easy with a linear-optical interferometer [17, 18]. Single-photon detectors and linear optical interferometers allow for efficient universal quantum computation via linear optical quantum computing (LOQC) [19]. Linear optics can simulate the quantum quincunx [20] and quantum random walks [21]. Linear optics coupled with laser-manipulated atomic ensembles enables long-distance quantum communication [22]. A wide class of

communication protocols can be realized with coherent states and linear optics [23].

On the experimental front, recent advances in photonic technology including photonic circuits on silicon chips [24–28], noise-free high-efficiency photon number-resolving detectors [29–33], high-fidelity single-photon sources [34–37] have engendered the experimental implementation of multi-photon multi-channel linear optical interferometry. Reconfigurable interferometers that can perform arbitrary linear transformations on the spatial modes of light have been demonstrated [38–40].

Despite advances in the experimental implementations, the theory of design, characterization and simulation of linear optics is still in its nascent stages. The scalability of implementing linear optics on spatial modes is limited because aligning and stabilizing beam splitters in multi-channel interferometers is challenging. Characterization of optical processes using classical light requires that the device being characterized be stable with respect to the probing set-up on a sub-wavelength scale. A linear optical interferometer can be characterized using one- and two-photon statistics but the current characterization procedure lacks the accuracy and precision required for application to QIP. The classical simulation of a linear optical interferometer under indistinguishable single-photon inputs (i.e., photons with identical spectra arriving simultaneously at the interferometer) is well studied, but methods for simulating partially distinguishable photons (i.e., photons with different spectra or those with different arrival times) are oversimplified and sub-optimal. I aim to make linear optics a viable system for QIP by overcoming these challenges in the theory of multi-photon multi-channel linear optics.

In my PhD thesis, I report advances to the theory of design, characterization and simulation of linear optics. In collaboration with Sandeep K. Goyal, I tackle the inadequacy of current interferometer design procedures by devising a realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations using spatial and internal modes of light, thereby reducing the beam splitter requirement and improving scalability. My collaborators and I construct a procedure to characterize a linear optical interferometer accurately and with known precision and demonstrate the efficacy of the procedure by simulations and experiments. Finally, I contribute to the simulation of interferometry under partially distinguishable single-photon inputs by means of two results that enable a deeper analysis and faster simulation of photon measurement probabilities. The results include (i) an algorithm to compute matrix elements $(\mathcal{D} \text{ functions})$ of the irreducible representations (irrep) of the special unitary group (SU(n)) in the canonical basis and (ii) results connecting \mathcal{D} -functions to immanants of the interferometer transformation matrix.

The remainder of this chapter summarizes the results reported in this thesis. Section 1.1 details my research problem and objective regarding the design, characterization and simulation of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry. Section 1.2 elucidates our results on the design of arbitrary linear optical interferometers. We describe our procedure for the accurate and precise interferometer characterization in Section 1.3. Section 1.4 details our contribution to group-theoretic methods in the context of interferometer simulation. The chapter concludes with an overview of the thesis in Section 1.5.

1.2 Realization of linear optics in spatial and internal degrees of freedom

This section overviews our procedure for realizing arbitrary discrete unitary transformations in spatial and internal degrees of freedom (DOFs) of light. Linear optical transformations can be realized on various DOFs of light. For instance, any 2×2 unitary transformation on the polarization DOF can be decomposed into elementary operations that are implemented using quarter- and half-wave plates [41–43]. Any unitary transformation on an arbitrary number of spatial modes can be realized as an arrangement of beam splitters, phase shifters and mirrors [44–46] and of temporal modes using nested fiber loops or dispersion [47–49]. Finally, unitary transformations on orbital-angular-momentum modes of light can be realized using beam splitters, phase shifters, holograms and extraction gates [50]. Current experimental implementations choose the spatial DOF to perform quantum walks [51–53], BosonSampling [28,54–57], bosonic transport simulations [39] and photonic quantum gates [24,58,59]. Implementing linear optical transformations on n spatial modes requires aligning O (n^2) (see footnote¹ for a definition of big-O notation) beam splitters [44]; this requirement poses the key challenge to the scalability of linear optical implementation of QIP protocols.

One approach to realizing larger unitary transformations is to use internal DOFs, such as polarization, arrival time and orbital angular momentum in addition to the spatial DOF. Specifically, any lossless transformation on n_s spatial and n_p internal modes is described by an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation. However, there was no known method to effect an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation on the state of light in n_s spatial and n_p internal modes.

We aimed to devise an efficient realization of an arbitrary unitary transformation using spatial and internal DOFs. By efficient I mean that the cost of realizing the transformation, as quantified by the number of required spatial and internal optical elements, scales no faster than a polynomial in the dimension of the transformation. Specifically, we construct an algorithm to decompose an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation into a sequence of $O(n_s^2)$ beam splitters and $O(n_s^2)$ internal transformations, each of which acts only on the n_p internal modes of light in one spatial mode.

In contrast to the Reck *et al.* approach, which allows the realization of any discrete unitary transformation in spatial modes, our approach enables the realization into spatial and internal modes. The Reck *et al.* procedure decomposes arbitrary $n \times n$ unitary matrices into a product

$$f(x) = \mathcal{O}\left(g(x)\right) \tag{1.1}$$

if and only if there exist positive constant M and real number x_0 such that

$$|f(x)| \le M|g(x)| \text{ for all } x \ge x_0, \tag{1.2}$$

i.e., g(x) grows faster than f(x) for asymptotically large values of x.

¹ For functions f and g defined on some subset of the real numbers, I write [60]

of 2×2 unitary matrices, which are realized as beam splitters and phase shifters. On the other hand, incorporating n_p -dimensional internal DOFs requires decomposing into $2n_p \times 2n_p$ beam splitter matrices and $n_p \times n_p$ unitary matrices representing internal transformations. Thus, the Reck *et al.* procedure cannot incorporate internal DOFs.

Although the Reck *et al.* approach cannot be used to design interferometers that transforms the spatial and internal modes of light, we can realize arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ transformations exclusively on the spatial modes. Such a realization requires $n_s n_p$ spatial modes and O $\left(n_s^2 n_p^2\right)$ beam splitters. At the cost of increasing the required number of internal optical elements by a factor of two, we reduce the required number of beam splitters by a factor of $n_p^2/2$ as compared to the Reck *et al.* method. Another difference between our method and the Reck *et al.* method is that our method requires only balanced beam splitters, which are easier to construct accurately [61].

Reducing the required number of beam splitters at the cost of increasing the number of optical elements is desirable both in free-space and in on-chip implementations of linear optical transformations. Free-space implementations of linear optics require beam splitters to be stable with respect to each other at sub-wavelength length scales. On-chip beam splitters rely on evanescent coupling [62], which requires overcoming the challenge of aligning different optical channels. On the other hand, operations on internal elements do not require mutual stability and are typically easier to align. For these reasons, operations on internal elements are preferred over beam splitters both in free-space and in on-chip implementations of linear optical transformations.

Moreover, our approach is advantageous experimentally because of its flexibility in the choice of n_p and n_s . For instance, consider the realization of a 6×6 unitary matrix. The Reck *et al.* approach allows for a realization of this transformation on an interferometer with six spatial modes. Depending on experimental requirements, our procedure allows for a realization of the 6×6 transformations $(n_s n_p = 6)$ using either (i) six spatial modes $(n_s = 6, n_p = 1)$,

(ii) three spatial and two internal modes, for instance polarization $(n_s = 3, n_p = 2)$, (iii) two spatial and three internal modes $(n_s = 2, n_p = 3)$ or (iv) one spatial and six internal modes $(n_s = 1, n_p = 6)$.

In summary, our procedure enables the realization of arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ linear optical interferometers on n_s spatial and n_p internal DOFs thereby reducing the beam splitter requirement by a factor of $n_p^2/2$. Chapter 4 details this procedure for realizing arbitrary unitary transformation on the spatial and internal modes of light.

1.3 Accurate and precise characterization of linear optics

This section details our procedure for the accurate and precise characterization of linear optics and summarizes the numerical and experimental evidence of the superiority of the procedure over existing procedures. The accurate and precise characterization of linear optics is important in quantum information processing tasks such as BosonSampling, LOQC and quantum walks. The classical hardness of the BosonSampling problem crucially depends on bounds on the error in the implemented interferometer [63]. The proposed practical applications of BosonSampling, in quantum metrology and in the computation of molecular vibronic spectra, rely on the accurate implementation and characterization of linear optics [48, 64]. Accurate and precise characterization is important in LOQC because a high success probability of the employed non-deterministic linear-optical gates relies on implementing the desired gates with high fidelity [16]. Furthermore, linear interferometers used in photonic quantum walks require accurate characterization especially if quantum walks are employed for solving classically hard problems [51, 65, 66]. In other words, the accurate and precise characterization of interferometers enables a verifiable quantum speedup of linear-optical protocols over classical computers.

Classical-light procedures [67, 68] for linear optics characterization are unsuitable for Fock state based experiments because the interferometer parameters change when classical light sources and homodyne detectors are coupled to and decoupled from the interferometer ports. This change could result from a drift of interferometer parameters in the time required to couple (decouple) sources and detectors or as the result of the mechanical process of coupling (decoupling) itself. Characterization procedures that rely on Fock-state (rather than classical-light) inputs enable interferometer characterization without altering the experimental setup if the implemented QIP task employs Fock states. Thus, Fock-state characterization procedures would thus be accurate in BosonSampling and LOQC implementations

The Laing-O'Brien procedure [69] uses Fock states (one and two photons) for characterizing linear optical interferometers and does not require sub-wavelength stability. This procedure assumes perfect matching in source field and large-number statistics on the detected photons. Hence, implementations of this procedure are inaccurate due to spatiotemporal and polarization mode mismatch in the source field and imprecise due to shot noise.

We aimed to devise an accurate and precise procedure that uses one and two photons for the characterization of linear optical interferometers and to devise a rigorous method to estimate the standard deviation in the interferometer parameters [70]. Furthermore, we aimed to provide a correct alternative to the χ^2 -test, which has been used to estimate the confidence in the characterized interferometer parameters in current BosonSampling implementations [28, 52, 71]².

The above aims were attained via a procedure to characterize a linear optical interferometer accurately and precisely using one- and two-photon interference. Five strengths of our approach over the Laing-O'Brien procedure [69] are that our procedure (i) accounts for and corrects systematic error from spatial and polarization source-field mode mismatch

²The χ^2 -test [72–74] is used to quantify the goodness of fit between probability distribution functions of two categorical variables, which can take a fixed number of values. Coincidence-count curves and visibilities are not probability distribution functions of categorical variables, but rather are collections of many categorical variables (variables that can take on one of a fixed finite number of possible values), one variable corresponding to each time-delay value chosen in the experiment. Hence, quantifying the goodness of fit between two coincidence curves using the χ^2 -test is incorrect. This incorrectness undermines the claim that the data are consistent with quantum predictions and disagree with classical theory [28,71] and leaves the choice of unitary matrices [52] unjustified.

via a calibration procedure; (ii) increases accuracy and precision by fitting experimental coincidence data to curve simulated using measured source spectra; (iii) accurately estimates the error bars on the characterized interferometer parameters via a bootstrapping procedure; (iv) employs maximum-likelihood estimation to determine the unitary transformation matrix that best represents the characterization data and (v) reduces the experimental time required to characterize interferometers using a scattershot procedure. Chapter 5 details the characterization procedure.

The efficacy of our characterization procedure has been verified both numerically and experimentally. Experimentally, beam splitters (two-channel interferometers) were characterized using our procedure and using the Laing-O'Brien procedure, and these reflectivities were compared with the correct values obtained from single-photon measurement. Reflectivities obtained from our procedure match those obtained from single-photon measurements within 95% confidence intervals whereas those obtained from the Laing-O'Brien procedure do not. Numerically, we simulated 1000 characterization experiments using measured spectra with varying shot-noise and mode mismatch. Our procedure yields one to two orders of magnitude improvement over existing procedures in the accuracy as measured by the trace distance between the expected and observed unitary. Chapter 6 details the numerical and experimental verification of our accurate and precise characterization procedure.

1.4 SU(n) and S_n group theory for simulation of linear optics

This section elaborates on my contribution to the theory of the special unitary and the symmetric groups for application to linear optics. I outline our algorithms for computing irreducible representations of SU(n) and our result on the connection between immanants and \mathcal{D} -functions of SU(n) matrices and submatrices. The special unitary group SU(n), whose elements represent all *n*-channel interferometers and the permutation group S_n , which manifests the bosonic exchange symmetries, enable a deep analysis of photons interfering at a linear interferometer.

Motivated by recent progress in linear optics implementations, we aimed to develop group-theoretic methods for a realistic theory of photon coincidences that accommodates multimode photon pulses, multimode detection and non-simultaneous arrival of photons. My contribution to SU(n) and S_n group theory for interferometer simulation comprises (i) an algorithm to compute $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions in the canonical basis and (ii) results connecting $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions to immanants of fundamental representations. These two results pave the way for a complete group-theoretic analysis of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry for arbitrary numbers of photons and channels.

Recent application of SU(3) group theory to three-photon interferometry inspire our SU(n) \mathcal{D} -function calculation algorithm. SU(3) \mathcal{D} -functions enable a symmetry-based interpretation of the action of a three-channel linear interferometer on partially distinguishable single-photon inputs [71, 75]. Exploiting the permutation symmetries manifest in multi-photon systems reduces the cost of computing interferometer outputs in comparison to brute-force techniques [76].

The \mathcal{D} -function calculator relies on boson realizations, which map operators and states of groups to transformations and states of bosonic systems. We devise a graph-theoretic algorithm³ to construct the boson realizations of the canonical SU(*n*) basis states, which reduce the canonical subgroup chain, for arbitrary *n*. The boson realizations are employed to construct \mathcal{D} -functions, which are the matrix elements of arbitrary irreducible representations, of SU(*n*) in the canonical basis. The algorithm, which I detail in Section 7, comprises the following key steps (i) a mapping of the weights of an irrep to a graph and (ii) a graph-theoretic algorithm to compute boson realizations of the canonical basis states of SU(*n*) for arbitrary *n*. The algorithm offers a significant advantage over the two competing procedures, namely

³ A graph is a mathematical structure that captures pairwise relations between objects. Specifically, a graph is defined as an ordered pair $G = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ comprising a finite set \mathcal{V} of vertices or nodes or points together with a set \mathcal{E} of edges or arcs or lines, which are 2-element subsets of \mathcal{V} . Graph theory is a branch of discrete mathematics the deals with the study of graphs.

factorization and exponentiation as I demonstrate in Section 7.1.

My second result is a theorem relating $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions with immanants of the fundamental representation of SU(n). My collaborators and I expand a result of Kostant [77] on immanants of an arbitrary $n \times n$ unitary matrix $T \in SU(n)$ to the submatrices of T. Specifically, we show that immanants of principal submatrices of a unitary matrix T are a sum of the diagonal \mathcal{D} -functions of a group element Ω , with t determined by the choice of submatrix, and the irrep (λ) determined by the immanant under consideration. This result connects photon output probabilities, which depend on immanants of submatrices of the interferometer matrix, with $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions. The theorem is stated and proved in Section 7.2.

1.5 Overview of chapters

Chapters 2 and 3 present the relevant background for the results reported in this thesis. I define linear optics and detail the action of a linear optical interferometer on one- and two-photon inputs in Chapter 2. One- and two-photon inputs are employed in our procedure for the characterization of linear optics. Chapter 5 details the characterization procedure. Chapter 6 presents the numerical and experimental evidence of the accuracy and precision of our characterization procedure.

Chapter 3 includes the group theory of SU(n) group and its algebra, and I define determinant, immanants and permanents, which are relevant to my results on the group theory of linear optics. My results on SU(n) and S_n group-theoretic method for simulation of linear optics are presented in Chapter 7. Chapter 3 also presents the cosine-sine decomposition of unitary matrices. The cosine-sine decomposing is the key building block for our procedure for the relations of linear optics in spatial and internal modes, which I detail in Chapter 4. I conclude this thesis with a summary and a list of open problems in Chapter 8.

Chapter 2

Background: Linear Optics

This chapter presents relevant definitions and background on linear optical transformations. The action of a multi-mode linear optical interferometer on single photons entering one or two input ports and vacuum entering the other ports is detailed.

Section 2.1 defines linear optics as transformations performed by materials in which the electric polarization is linearly dependent on the incoming electric field and describes linear optical transformations as unitary operations. Section 2.2 presents expressions for the probability of detecting single photons at given output ports when single photons are incident at given input ports and of coincident photon detections when two controllably delayed photons are incident on the interferometer.

2.1 Definition of linear optics

Here I define linear optical media by their linear response to light. I parameterize the discrete unitary transformation effected by an interferometer and present a treatment of losses and dephasing at the interferometer ports.

Definition 1 (Linear optics [78]). Linear optics is defined as the set of transformations effected by media whose response to electromagnetic fields is linear. In other words, the electric polarization

$$\boldsymbol{P} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \boldsymbol{D} - \epsilon_0 \boldsymbol{E} = \epsilon_0 \boldsymbol{\chi} \boldsymbol{E} \tag{2.1}$$

is linear in the electric field E, where ϵ_0 is the vacuum permittivity, D the electric displacement and χ is the electric susceptibility tensor.

I consider the propagation of light in one-dimensional non-magnetic medium, which is a medium with zero magnetic susceptibility. The Hamiltonian describing the energy of the system is [78]

$$H = \iint d\omega \, dx \, \left[\frac{1}{2\mu_0} \boldsymbol{B}^2(x,\omega) + \frac{\epsilon_0}{2} \boldsymbol{E}^2(x,\omega) \right] + \iint d\omega \, d\omega' \, dx \, \left[\frac{1}{2} \, \boldsymbol{\chi}(\omega,\omega') \boldsymbol{E}(x,\omega) \boldsymbol{E}(x,\omega') \right], \qquad (2.2)$$

where x is the spatial coordinate, ω refers to frequency, **B** is the magnetic field and μ_0 is the vacuum permeability. I consider electromagnetic fields with finite spatial and temporal extent, i.e.,

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{E}}(x,t) = \hat{\boldsymbol{E}}_0(x,t) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}kx - \mathrm{i}\omega t} + \mathrm{c.c.}$$
(2.3)

for complex valued envelope \hat{E}_0 , wavenumber k, c.c. representing complex conjugate and the quantities with caret denoting the Fourier transform of the respected quantities without caret. Assuming bandwidth (standard deviation of $E_0(\omega)$) narrow as compared to the central frequency (mean frequency of $E_0(\omega)$) and performing canonical quantization by replacing the E and B fields with the corresponding free-field Hilbert space operators gives us [16]

$$H = \int d\omega \sum_{jk} A_{jk} a_j^{\dagger}(\omega) a_k(\omega), \qquad (2.4)$$

which is bilinear in the creation and annihilation operators for complex $\{A_{jk}\}$.

The Hamiltonian (2.4) effects photon-number preserving transformations on the state of the incoming light. The interferometer transforms the photonic creation and annihilation operators according to

$$a_j^{\dagger}(\omega) \to \sum_{i=1}^m V_{ij}(\omega) a_i^{\dagger}(\omega)$$
 (2.5)

and its complex conjugate, where $V(\omega)$ is the transformation matrix of the interferometer. In general, the elements $\{V_{ij}(\omega)\}$ of the transformation matrix depend on the frequency of transmitted light. I assume that the spectral functions E_0 of the incoming light are narrow compared to frequencies over which the entries $\{V_{ij}\}$ change noticeably and thus treat Vto be frequency-independent. Under this assumption, photon-number conservation imposes unitarity

$$V^{\dagger}(\omega)V(\omega) = 1 \tag{2.6}$$

of the transformation matrix $V(\omega)$ for all real ω . Thus, linear optical interferometers effect unitary transformations on the incoming state of light.

Following [69], we parameterize the unitary matrix V to aid the clarity of our characterization procedure (Chapter 5). If only Fock states are incident at the interferometer and only photon-number-counting detection is performed on the outgoing light, then the measurement outcomes are invariant under phase shifts at each input and output port. That is, interferometer $\hat{V} = D_1 V D_2^{\dagger}$ produces the same measurement outcome as V for any diagonal unitary matrices D_1 and D_2 . Mathematically, if D_1, D_2 are diagonal unitary matrices, then

$$V \sim \hat{V} \iff \hat{V} = D_1 V D_2^{\dagger}$$
 (2.7)

is an equivalence relation. Members of the same equivalence class defined by this equivalence relation produce the same number-counting measurement outcomes on receiving Fock-state inputs.

Each equivalence class can be represented by a unique matrix U whose first row and first column consist of real elements. The complex matrix entries of the class representative $U \sim V$ are

$$U_{ij} = t_{ij} e^{i\theta_{ij}} : t_{ij} \in \mathbb{R}^+, \ \theta_{ij} \in (-\pi, \pi], \ \theta_{i1} \equiv 0, \ \theta_{1j} = 0 \ \forall i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\}.$$
(2.8)

The constraints $\theta_{i1} \equiv 0, \theta_{1i} \equiv 0 \forall i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ on the input and output phases of the transformation matrix are obeyed in the following parameterization of U

$$U = L \times A \times M,$$

$$\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \sqrt{\lambda_m} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ 1 & \cdots & \alpha_{2m} e^{i\theta_{2m}} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 1 & \cdots & \alpha_{mm} e^{i\theta_{mm}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\mu_2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \sqrt{\mu_m} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.9)



Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of the interferometer. U effects a unitary transformation on a multimode state of light. The dotted lines represent the couplings of the interferometer with light sources and detectors. The beam splitters at the input and output modes model the linear losses because of imperfect coupling and detector inefficiency. The vacuum input to these beam splitters is not shown. One of the beam splitter outputs enters the interferometer whereas the other one is lost. The triangles represent the random dephasing at the input and output ports. The dashed box labelled U^{lossy} represents the combined effect of the dephasing, the losses and the unitary interferometer.

Thus, the values $\{\lambda_i\}, \{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_{ij}\}, \{\mu_j\}$ completely parametrize the class representative matrix U.

Next, I model the losses at the input and output ports of the interferometer. I assume time-dependent linear loss and dephasing at each interferometer port. I model losses using parameters ν_j and κ_i , which are the respective probabilities of transmission at the input mode j and output mode i. Dephasing is modelled using parameters ξ_j and ϕ_i , which are the arbitrary multiplicative phases at the input and output ports. Hence, the actual transformation effected by the interferometer is given by the matrix U^{lossy} , which has matrix elements

$$U_{ij}^{\text{lossy}} = e^{i\phi_i} \sqrt{\kappa_i} U_{ij} \sqrt{\nu_j} e^{i\xi_j}$$
$$= e^{i\phi_i} \sqrt{\kappa_i} \sqrt{\lambda_i} \alpha_{ij} e^{i\theta_{ij}} \sqrt{\mu_j} \sqrt{\nu_j} e^{i\xi_j}.$$
(2.10)

Figure 2.1 depicts the relation between the representative matrix U and the actual transformation U_{ij}^{lossy} that is effected by the interferometer.

This completes the definition and parameterization of the linear optical interferometer. Our characterization procedure (Chapter 5) employs one- and two-photon inputs to estimate the values of parameters $\{\lambda_i\}, \{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_{ij}\}, \{\mu_j\}$ of (2.10). In the next section, I recall the expectation values of measurements performed on interferometer outputs when one- and two-photon states are incident at the input ports.

2.2 One- and two-photon inputs to linear optical interferometer

The section details the action of an *m*-mode interferometer on one- and two-photon inputs. Our characterization procedure employs single-photon counting to estimate the complex amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ of the representative matrix *U* entries. The complex arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ of *U* are estimated using two-photon coincidence counts.

Consider a single photon entering the *i*-th mode of an *m*-mode interferometer. The monochromatic¹ photonic creation and annihilation operators acting on the *i*-th and the *j*-th ports obey the canonical commutation relation

$$\left[a_i(\omega_1), a_j^{\dagger}(\omega_2)\right] = \delta_{ij}\delta(\omega_1 - \omega_2)\mathbb{1}$$
(2.11)

for positive real frequencies ω_1, ω_2 .

Definition 2 (State of single photon). The state of a single photon entering the *i*-th mode is

$$|1\rangle_{i} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega f_{i}(\omega) a_{i}^{\dagger}(\omega) |0\rangle , \qquad (2.12)$$

where $f_i(\omega)$ is the normalized square integrable spectral function, $|0\rangle$ is the m-mode vacuum state.

¹Two monochromatic photons are distinguishable based on the ports that they occupy and on their respective frequencies ω_1 and ω_2 .

The state of two photons entering modes i and $j \neq i$ of the interferometer is

$$|11\rangle_{ij} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega_1 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\omega_2 f_i(\omega_1) f_j(\omega_2) a_i^{\dagger}(\omega_1) a_j^{\dagger}(\omega_2) |0\rangle$$
(2.13)

with exchange symmetry holding if $f_i(\omega) = f_j(\omega)$. One- and two-photon states are transformed into superpositions of one- and of two-photon states respectively under the action of the linear interferometer.



Figure 2.2: Schematic diagram of single-photon counting at the output of an interferometer when single photons are incident at one input port. The star symbol represents a source of single-photon pairs. Single photons are incident at one of the input ports whereas vacuum state is input to the remaining input ports (not shown in figure). The semicircles at the output ports represent single-photon detectors and the circles with the included # represent the photon-counting logic connected to the detectors.

I consider the case of single-photon transmission. The interferometer transforms the single-photon input state (2.12) to the state at the output ports according to (2.10). A photon is detected at the *i*-th output port with a probability

$$P_{ij} = \left| U_{ij}^{\text{lossy}} \right|^2 = \kappa_i \lambda_i \alpha_{ij}^2 \mu_j \nu_j \tag{2.14}$$

when a single-photon is incident on the j-th input port.

Whereas the values of $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ are estimated using single photon counting, $\{\theta_{ij}\}\$ values are estimated using two-photon coincidence measurement. Now I present probabilities of detecting two-photon coincidence at the interferometer outputs when controllably delayed pairs of photon are incident at the input ports. If a controllably delayed photon pair is incident at input ports j and j', then the probability $C_{ii'jj'}(\tau)$ of coincidence measurement at detectors placed at output ports i and i' is

$$C_{ii'jj'}(\tau) = \kappa_i \kappa_{i'} \nu_j \nu_{j'} \bigg[\left(t_{ij}^2 t_{i'j'}^2 + t_{ij'}^2 t_{i'j}^2 \right) \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 \left| f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2) \right|^2 + 2 t_{ij} t_{ij'} t_{i'j} t_{i'j'} \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2) f_j(\omega_2) f_{j'}(\omega_1) \times \cos \left(\omega_2 \tau - \omega_1 \tau + \theta_{ij} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} + \theta_{i'j'} \right) \bigg].$$
(2.15)

On substituting according to (2.8), we obtain [79]

$$C_{ii'jj'}(\tau) = \kappa_i \kappa_{i'} \lambda_i \lambda_{i'} \mu_j \mu_{j'} \nu_j \nu_{j'} \bigg[\left(\alpha_{ij}^2 \alpha_{i'j'}^2 + \alpha_{ij'}^2 \alpha_{i'j}^2 \right) \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 |f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2)|^2 + 2\gamma \alpha_{ij} \alpha_{ij'} \alpha_{i'j} \alpha_{i'j'} \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2) f_j(\omega_2) f_{j'}(\omega_1) \times \cos \left(\omega_2 \tau - \omega_1 \tau + \theta_{ij} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} + \theta_{i'j'} \right) \bigg].$$
(2.16)

where τ is the time delay between the two photons, $f_j(\omega)$, $f_{j'}(\omega)$ describe source-light spectrum and γ is the mode-matching parameter, which I describe in the remainder of this section.

Two-photon coincidence probabilities (2.16) depend on the mode matching in the source field. Spatial and polarization mode mismatch is quantified by the mode-matching parameter γ [79]. Perfectly indistinguishable light sources, such as light from a single-mode fibre, have relative mode matching $\gamma = 1$ whereas $\gamma = 0$ indicates that the sources are completely distinguishable.

2.3 Summary

In summary, I have defined linear optics and have presented a description of linear optical transformations as unitary transformations (2.5) acting on the incoming states of light. I have defined the representative matrix (2.8) of the equivalence class of unitary transformations that produce identical number-counting measurements on Fock-state inputs and have



Figure 2.3: Schematic diagram for coincidence measurement the interferometer output when single-photon pairs are incident on two different input ports of an interferometer. The star symbol represents a source of single-photon pairs and the semicircles at the output ports represent single-photon detectors. The coincidence logic, which is depicted by \otimes , counts two-photon coincidence events at the detectors.

presented a treatment (2.10) of linear loss and dephasing at the input and output ports of the interferometer.

I have defined the state (2.12) of a photon and detailed the probability (2.14) of singlephoton transmission from an input port to an output port of a linear interferometer. Finally, I have presented expressions for the coincidence probability (2.16) of obtaining coincidence measurement when two-controllably delayed photons of a given mode mismatch are incident at a linear interferometer.

Chapter 3

Background: SU(n) and S_n methods in linear optics

This chapter presents relevant background in SU(n) and S_n group theory. I introduce relevant SU(n) and S_n methods before presenting their connection with three-photon interferometry. The chapter is structured as follows. Section 3.1 comprises definitions regarding the special unitary group SU(n) and its algebra $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. In Section 3.2, I define and provide expressions of the boson realizations of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ operators. Section 3.3 includes definitions of determinants, immanants and permanents of matrices and examples for two- and three-dimensional matrices. Section 3.4 presents the relevant Section 3.5 presents the relevant background of the cosine-sine decomposition, which is a key building block of the realization procedure that is presented in Chapter 4.

3.1 The special unitary group and its algebra

Here I recall the relevant properties of special-unitary group SU(n) and its algebra $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. I explain how the $\mathfrak{su}(n) \supset \mathfrak{su}(n-1) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra chain is used to label the basis states of the unitary irreps of SU(n). I present the background for n = 2 before dealing with SU(n) for arbitrary n.

Consider the special unitary group

$$SU(2) = \{V : V \in GL(2, \mathbb{C}), V^{\dagger}V = 1, \det V = 1\}$$

(3.1)

of 2 × 2 special unitary matrices. Each element of SU(2) can be parametrized by three angles $\Omega = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma)$. The defining 2 × 2 representation of an element $V(\Omega)$ of SU(2) is given by

$$V(\Omega) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-\frac{1}{2}i(\alpha+\gamma)}\cos\frac{\beta}{2} & -e^{-\frac{1}{2}i(\alpha-\gamma)}\sin\frac{\beta}{2} \\ e^{\frac{1}{2}i(\alpha-\gamma)}\sin\frac{\beta}{2} & e^{\frac{1}{2}i(\alpha+\gamma)}\cos\frac{\beta}{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2)
The Lie algebra corresponding to Lie group SU(2) is denoted by $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ and is spanned by the operators J_x, J_y, J_z , which satisfy the angular momentum commutation relations

$$[J_x, J_y] = iJ_z, \quad [J_y, J_z] = iJ_x, \quad [J_z, J_x] = iJ_y.$$
 (3.3)

I transform the basis (3.3) of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ to the complex combinations

$$C_{1,2} = J_x + iJ_y, \qquad C_{2,1} = J_x - iJ_y, \qquad H_1 = 2J_z,$$
(3.4)

which satisfy the commutation relations

$$[H_1, C_{1,2}] = 2C_{1,2}, \quad [H_1, C_{2,1}] = -2C_{2,1}, \quad [C_{1,2}, C_{2,1}] = H_1.$$
(3.5)

These commutation relations (3.5) facilitate the construction of a (2J + 1)-dimensional irrep with carrier space spanned by basis states $\{|J, M\rangle : -J \leq M \leq J\}$ [80]. The integer 2*M* is the weight of the eigenstate $|J, M\rangle$ for

$$H_1 |J, M\rangle = 2M |J, M\rangle. \tag{3.6}$$

The operators $C_{1,2}$ and $C_{2,1}$ act on eigenstates of H_1 by raising or lowering the weight 2M of the states

$$C_{1,2}|J,M\rangle = \sqrt{J(J+1) - M(M+1)}|J,M+1\rangle,$$
(3.7)

$$C_{2,1} |J, M\rangle = \sqrt{J(J+1) - M(M-1)} |J, M-1\rangle, \qquad (3.8)$$

where 2J is the highest eigenvalue of H_1 .

Each basis state of a finite-dimensional irrep of SU(2) is labelled by integral weight $2M \in \{-2J, -2J + 2, ..., 2J - 2, 2J\}$. The unique basis state $|J, J\rangle$ is called the highest-weight state (HWS) and is annihilated by the action of the raising operator $C_{1,2}$. The representation is labelled by the largest eigenvalue 2J of H_1 . Basis states of an SU(2) irrep are visualized as collections of points on a line with the location of each point related to the weight of the state. Figure 3.1 gives a geometrical representation of the action of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ operators and illustrative examples of SU(2) irreps.

$$C_{2,1} \xleftarrow{H_1} C_{1,2} \xrightarrow{|2,-2\rangle} |2,-1\rangle |2,0\rangle |2,1\rangle |2,2\rangle$$
(a)
(b)

Figure 3.1: (a) Generators of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ Algebra. The action of the raising and lowering operators $C_{1,2}, C_{2,1}$ on the basis states is represented by the directed lines. The basis states are invariant under the action of the Cartan operator H_1 , which is represented by the dot at the centre. (b) SU(2) irreps labelled by highest weights 2M = 1 and 2M = 4 respectively. The dots represent the basis states whereas the lines connecting the dots represent the transformation from one basis state to another by the action of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ raising and lowering operators. The red dot represents the HWS, which is annihilated by the action of the raising operator $C_{1,2}$.

Next I consider the case of arbitrary n. The unitary group U(n) is the Lie group of $n \times n$ unitary matrices

$$\mathbf{U}(n) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{ V \colon V \in \mathrm{GL}(n, \mathbb{C}), V^{\dagger}V = \mathbf{1} \}.$$

$$(3.9)$$

The corresponding Lie algebra is denoted by $\mathfrak{u}(n)$. The complex extension of $\mathfrak{u}(n)$ is spanned by n^2 operators $\{C_{i,j}: i, j \in 1, 2, ..., n\}$ satisfying the canonical commutation relations

$$[C_{i,j}, C_{k,l}] = \delta_{j,k} C_{i,l} - \delta_{i,l} C_{k,j}.$$
(3.10)

The group SU(n) is the subgroup of those U(n) transformations that satisfy the additional property det V = 1; i.e.,

$$\operatorname{SU}(n) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{ V \colon V \in \operatorname{U}(n), \det V = 1 \}.$$
(3.11)

The U(n) \mathcal{D} -functions differ from the SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions by at most a phase, and I concentrate here on the SU(n) case.

The operator $N = C_{1,1} + C_{2,2} + \cdots + C_{n,n}$ is in the centre¹ of $\mathfrak{u}(n)$. The Lie algebra $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ is obtained from $\mathfrak{u}(n)$ by eliminating the operator N. The n-1 operators

$$H_i = C_{i,i} - C_{i+1,i+1} \quad \forall i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$$
(3.12)

¹The centre of an algebra \mathfrak{u} comprises those elements x of \mathfrak{u} such that xu = ux for all $u \in \mathfrak{u}$.

commute with each other and span the Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. Hence, I have the following definition of the $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ algebra.

Definition 3 ($\mathfrak{su}(n)$ algebra [80]). The algebra $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ is the span of the operators $\{C_{i,j}: i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}, i \neq j\}$ and $\{H_i: H_i = C_{i,i} - C_{i+1,i+1}, i \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}\}$ where the operators $\{C_{i,j}\}$ obey the commutation relations

$$[C_{i,j}, C_{k,l}] = \delta_{j,k} C_{i,l} - \delta_{i,l} C_{k,j}.$$
(3.13)

The linearly independent (LI) $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ basis states span the carrier space of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ representations. Each basis state is associated with a weight, which is the set of integral eigenvalues of the Cartan operators.

Definition 4 (Weight of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ basis states [80]). The weight of a basis state is the set $\Lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_{n-1})$ of n-1 integral eigenvalues of the Cartan operators $\{H_1, H_2, \ldots, H_{n-1}\}$. $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ basis states have well defined weights.

Of the $n^2 - 1$ elements, n - 1 Cartan operators generate the maximal Abelian subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. The remaining operators satisfy the commutation relation

$$[H_i, C_{j,k}] = \begin{cases} \beta_{i,jk} C_{j,k}, & \forall j < k, \\ -\beta_{i,jk} C_{j,k}, & \forall j > k, \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

for Cartan operators H_i of Definition 3 and for positive integral roots $\beta_{i,jk}$. The operators $\{C_{j,k}: j < k\}$ define a set of raising operators. The remaining off-diagonal operators $\{C_{j,k}: j > k\}$ are the $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ lowering operators. Each irrep contains a unique state that has nonnegative integral weights $K = (\kappa_1, \ldots, \kappa_{n-1})$ and is annihilated by all raising operators. This state is the HWS of the irrep.

Definition 5 (Highest-weight state). The HWS of an SU(n) irrep is the unique state that is annihilated according to

$$C_{i,j} | \psi_{\text{hws}}^K \rangle = 0 \quad \forall i < j, \, i, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$$
 (3.15)

by the action of all the raising operators.

The weight of the HWS also labels the irrep; i.e., two irreps with the same highest weight are equivalent and two equivalent representations have the same highest weight. Hence, I label an irrep by $K = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \dots, \kappa_{n-1})$ if the HWS of the irrep has weight $\Lambda = K$.

Whereas in SU(2) the weight 2*M* and the representation label *J* are enough to uniquely identify a state in the representation, this is not so for SU(*n*) representations. In general, more than one SU(*n*) basis state of an irrep could share the same weight. For example, certain states of the K = (2, 2) irrep of SU(3) irrep have the same weight (Fig. 3.2). The number of basis states that share the same SU(*n*) weight $\Lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_{n-1})$ is the multiplicity $M(\Lambda)$ of the weight [77]. Hence, uniquely labelling the SU(*n*) basis states requires a scheme to lift the possible degeneracy of weights.

One approach to labelling the SU(n) basis states involves specifying the transformation properties under the action of the subalgebras of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. We restrict our attention to the canonical subalgebra chain

$$\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,\dots,n}(n) \supset \mathfrak{su}_{1,2,\dots,n-1}(n-1) \supset \dots \supset \mathfrak{su}_{1,2}(2), \tag{3.16}$$

where $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,\ldots,m}(m)$ is the subalgebra generated by the operators $\{C_{i,j}: i, j \in \{1, 2, \ldots, m\}, i \neq j\}$ and $\{H_k: k \in \{1, 2, \ldots, m-1\}\}$. Details about the choice of subalgebra chain are presented in C. Henceforth, I drop the subscript and denote $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,\ldots,m}(m)$ by $\mathfrak{su}(m)$.

The canonical basis comprises the eigenstates of the $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ generators for all $m \leq n$ according to the following definition.

Definition 6. (Canonical basis states) The canonical basis states of SU(n) irrep $K^{(n)}$ are



Figure 3.2: (a) Generators of the $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ algebra. The action of the raising operators $\{C_{1,2}, C_{1,3}, C_{2,3}\}$ and lowering operators $\{C_{2,1}, C_{1,3}, C_{2,3}\}$ on the canonical basis states and their linear combinations is represented by the directed lines. (b) The SU(3) irrep labelled by its highest weight $(\kappa_1, \kappa_2) = (2, 2)$. The dots and circles represent the canonical basis states. The dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex, for instance weights associated with dimension two are represented by one dot and one circle. The lines connecting the dots represent the transformation from states of one weight to those of another by the action of SU(3) raising and lowering operators. The red dot represents the highest weight of the irrep. A unique HWS occupying this weight is annihilated by the action of each of the raising operator.

those states

$$\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}}\right\rangle \tag{3.17}$$

that have well defined values of

1. irrep labels $K^{(m)}$ for $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ algebras for all $\{m: 2 \leq m \leq n\}$ and

 \$u(m) weights Λ^(m), i.e., eigenvalues of the Cartan operators of \$u(m) algebras for all {m : 2 ≤ m ≤ n}.

Consider the example of the $(\kappa_1, \kappa_2) = (1, 1)$ irrep of SU(3). There are two basis states with the weight $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = (0, 0)$. We can identify these two states by specifying 1. the $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ irrep label $K^{(3)} = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2) = (1, 1)$ and the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ irrep label $K^{(2)} = (\kappa_1) = (0)$ or $K^{(2)} = (\kappa_1) = (1)$.

2. the
$$\mathfrak{su}(3)$$
 weights $\Lambda^{(3)} = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2) = (0, 0)$ and $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ weight $\Lambda^{(2)} = (\lambda_1) = (0)$.

The connection between our labelling of canonical basis states of Definition 6 and the Gelfand-Tsetlin patterns [81] is detailed in D. The canonical basis state $\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\ldots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\ldots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}}\right\rangle$ for which $K^{(m)} = \Lambda^{(m)}$ for all $m \in \{2,\ldots,n\}$ is the highest weight of the irrep $K^{(n)}$.

The relative phases between the canonical basis states are fixed by comparing with the phase of the HWS [81]. Matrix elements of the simple raising operators $C_{\ell,\ell+1}$, $\ell \in$ $\{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ are set as positive [82]. Thus, I impose the following additional constraint on the canonical basis states

$$\left\langle \psi_{\text{hws}} \middle| c_{1,2}^{p_{1,2}} c_{2,3}^{p_{2,3}} \cdots c_{n-1,n}^{p_{n-1,n}} \middle| \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}} \right\rangle \ge 0,$$
(3.18)

for all canonical basis states, for positive integers $p_{\ell,\ell+1}$.

 \mathcal{D} -functions are the matrix elements of $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ irreps. The rows and columns of $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ matrix representations are labelled by $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ basis states. The expression for $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ \mathcal{D} -functions generalize those of the $\mathrm{SU}(2)$ \mathcal{D} -functions (3.25) with M, M' replaced by suitable labels for weights and J replaced by suitable subalgebra labels.

Definition 7 (\mathcal{D} -functions). \mathcal{D} -functions of an SU(n) transformation V(Ω) are

$$\mathcal{D}_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)};\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)},K^{\prime(2)}}(\Omega) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\langle \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}} \middle| V(\Omega) \middle| \psi_{\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}^{K^{\prime(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle, \quad (3.19)$$

where $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{n^2-1}\}$ is the set of $n^2 - 1$ independent angles that parameterize an SU(n) transformation [44].

Note that SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions (3.19) are non-zero only if the left and the right states belong to the same SU(n) irrep, i.e.,

$$K^{(n)} \neq K'^{(n)} \implies \mathcal{D}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)};K'^{(n)},\dots,K'^{(3)},K'^{(2)}}_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)};\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}(\Omega) = 0.$$
(3.20)

 \mathcal{D} -functions of an irrep K refer to those \mathcal{D} -functions for which $K^{(n)} = K'^{(n)} = K$. The notation (3.19) is employed in our \mathcal{D} -function algorithm presented in Section 7.1.

We approach the task of constructing SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions by using boson realizations of SU(n) states. In the next section, I define boson realizations and illustrate the construction of SU(2) \mathcal{D} -functions using SU(2) boson realizations.

3.2 Boson realizations of SU(n)

In this section, I describe boson realizations, which map $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ operators and carrier-space states to operators and states of a system of n-1 species of bosons on n sites respectively. We first present the mapping for n = 2 and illustrate SU(2) \mathcal{D} -functions calculation using the SU(2) boson realization. The section concludes with a discussion of boson realizations of SU(n) for arbitrary n.

The commutation relations (3.5) of $\{C_{1,2}, C_{2,1}, H_1\}$ are reproduced by number-preserving bilinear products of creation and annihilation operators that act on a two-site bosonic system. Specifically, the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ operators have the boson realization

$$C_{1,2} \mapsto c_{1,2} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} a_1^{\dagger} a_2, \quad C_{2,1} \mapsto c_{2,1} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} a_2^{\dagger} a_1, \quad H_1 \mapsto h_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} a_1^{\dagger} a_1 - a_2^{\dagger} a_2,$$
(3.21)

where the bosonic creation and annihilation operators obey the commutation relations

$$\left[a_i, a_j^{\dagger}\right] = \delta_{ij} \mathbb{1}, \quad \left[a_i, a_j\right] = \left[a_i^{\dagger}, a_j^{\dagger}\right] = 0.$$
(3.22)

Here and henceforth, I use lower-case symbols for boson realizations of the respective uppercase symbols. Explicitly,

$$[h_1, c_{1,2}] = 2c_{1,2} \qquad [h_1, c_{2,1}] = -2c_{2,1} \qquad [c_{1,2}, c_{2,1}] = h_1. \tag{3.23}$$

The operators $\{c_{1,2}, c_{2,1}, h_1\}$ also span the complex extension of the $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ Lie algebra.

Boson realizations map the states in the carrier space of SU(2) to the states of a two-site

bosonic system. Specifically, each basis state of the (2J + 1)-dimensional SU(2) irrep maps

$$|J,M\rangle \mapsto \frac{(a_1^{\dagger})^{J+M} (a_2^{\dagger})^{J-M}}{\sqrt{(J+M)!(J-M)!}} |0\rangle$$
(3.24)

to the state of a two-site system with J + M and J - M bosons in the two sites respectively.

The (2J + 1)-dimensional irreps of SU(2) map to number-preserving transformations on a two-site system of 2J bosons in the basis of Equation (3.24). The elements of these $(2J + 1) \times (2J + 1)$ matrices are the SU(2) \mathcal{D} -functions

$$\mathcal{D}_{M'M}^{J}(\Omega) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \langle J, M' | V(\Omega) | J, M \rangle$$
(3.25)

for irrep J and row and column indices M', M. The expression for \mathcal{D} -functions (3.25) of SU(2) element $V(\Omega)$ can be calculated by noting that the creation operators transform under the action of V of Equation (3.2) according to

$$a_{1}^{\dagger} \rightarrow V_{11}a_{1}^{\dagger} + V_{12}a_{2}^{\dagger},$$

 $a_{2}^{\dagger} \rightarrow V_{21}a_{1}^{\dagger} + V_{22}a_{2}^{\dagger},$ (3.26)

where V is the 2 × 2 fundamental representation of $V(\Omega)$. The state $|J, M\rangle$ (3.24) thus transforms to

$$|J, M\rangle \to \frac{\left(V_{11}a_1^{\dagger} + V_{12}a_2^{\dagger}\right)^{J+M} \left(V_{21}a_1^{\dagger} + V_{22}a_2^{\dagger}\right)^{J-M}}{\sqrt{(J+M)!(J-M)!}} |0\rangle$$
(3.27)

as the vacuum state $|0\rangle$ is invariant under the action V. Using Equations (3.24) and (3.27), I obtain

$$\mathcal{D}_{M'M}^{J}(\Omega) = \left\langle 0 \left| \frac{a_1^{J+M'} a_2^{J-M'} \left(V_{11} a_1^{\dagger} + V_{12} a_2^{\dagger} \right)^{J+M} \left(V_{21} a_1^{\dagger} + V_{22} a_2^{\dagger} \right)^{J-M}}{\sqrt{(J+M')!(J-M')!}} \right| 0 \right\rangle,$$
(3.28)

which can be evaluated using the commutation relations of the creation and annihilation operators (3.22).²

$$a_k^{\dagger} \to x_k, \quad a_\ell \to \frac{\partial}{\partial x_\ell}, \quad k, \ell \in \{1, 2\},$$
(3.29)

 $^{^{2}}$ A useful computational shortcut involves the map

which preserves the boson commutation relations. The map (3.29) transforms the vector $|J, M\rangle$ (3.24) into a formal polynomial and the corresponding dual vector $\langle J, M \rangle$ into a linear differential operator in the dummy variables x_1, x_2 . The \mathcal{D} -function (3.28) is thus evaluated as the action of a linear differential operator on a polynomial in x_1, x_2 .

In Chapter 7, our objective is to generalize Equations (3.21) and (3.24) systematically from n = 2 to arbitrary n. In the remainder of this section, I define boson realizations of operators and carrier-space states of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$. Furthermore, I construct the boson realization for the HWS of arbitrary SU(n) irreps.

 $\operatorname{SU}(n)$ boson realizations map $\operatorname{SU}(n)$ states $\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\ldots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\ldots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}\right\rangle$ and $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ operators to states and operators of a system of bosons on n sites. Bosons are labelled based on the site $i \in \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$ at which they are situated and by an internal DOF, which is denoted by an additional subscript on the bosonic operators. The bosonic creation and annihilation operators on this system are

$$a_{i,j}^{\dagger}: i \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}, j \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\},$$
 (Creation) (3.30)

$$a_{k,l}: k \in \{1, 2, \dots, n\}, l \in \{1, 2, \dots, n-1\},$$
 (Annihilation), (3.31)

where the first label in the subscript is the usual index of the site occupied by the boson. The second index refers to the internal degrees of freedom of the boson. Each boson can have at most n - 1 possible internal states to ensure that basis states can be constructed for arbitrary irreps. In photonic experiments, this internal DOF could correspond to the polarization, frequency, orbital angular momementum or the time of arrival of photons.

The $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ operators are mapped to number-preserving bilinear products of boson creation and annihilation operators. Specifically, raising and lowering operators $C_{i,j}$ of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ map to bosonic operators $c_{i,j}$ according to

$$C_{i,j} \mapsto c_{i,j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} a_{i,k}^{\dagger} a_{j,k}.$$
(3.32)

Operators $\{c_{i,j}\}$ make bosons hop from site j to site i. The operators h_i are the image of the Cartan operators H_i :

$$H_i \mapsto h_i \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} a_i^{\dagger} a_i - a_{i+1}^{\dagger} a_{i+1}. \tag{3.33}$$

Operators $\{h_i\}$ count the difference in the total number of bosons at two sites and commute among themselves. As usual, I used the upper-case symbols to denote the $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ elements and the corresponding lower-case symbols for the respective boson operators.

The boson realizations of the basis states of SU(n) are obtained by the action of polynomials in creation operators $\{a_{i,j}^{\dagger}: i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n-1\}\}$ on the *n*-site vacuum state $|0\rangle$. Each term in the polynomial is a product of

$$N_K = \kappa_1 + 2\kappa_2 + \dots + (n-1)\kappa_{n-1} \tag{3.34}$$

boson creation operators for basis states in irreps $K = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \dots, \kappa_{n-1})$. Therefore, an SU(n) basis state is specified by the coefficient of a polynomial consisting of terms that are products of N_K creation operators.

Now I introduce a compressed notation for \mathcal{D} -functions. The compressed notation is based on the boson realization of SU(n) states and on the orthogonality (3.20) of \mathcal{D} -functions. In this notation, the \mathcal{D} -function

$$\mathcal{D}_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)};\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)};\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}^{K'^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K'^{(3)},K'^{(2)}}(\Omega); \quad K^{(n)} = K'^{(n)}$$
(3.35)

is represented by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\nu_1\dots\nu_n,K^{(n-1)},\dots,K^{(2)};\nu_1'\dots\nu_n',K'^{(n-1)},\dots,K'^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)}} \tag{3.36}$$

where $\nu_1 \dots \nu_n$ are the bosonic occupation numbers of the respective states, suffice to uniquely identuify each of the weights $\{\lambda^{(m)}; 1 < m \leq n\}$. Sections 3.4 and 7.2 employ the compressed notation (3.36).

The HWS of a given SU(n) irrep can be explicitly constructed in the boson realization (as polynomials in creation and annihilation operators) according to the following lemma.

Lemma 8 (Boson realization of HWS [83,84]). The bosonic state

$$\left|\psi_{\text{HWS}}^{K}\right\rangle = \det \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1}^{\dagger} & \dots & a_{1,n-1}^{\dagger} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n-1,1}^{\dagger} & \dots & a_{n-1,n-1}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^{\kappa_{n-1}} \cdots \det \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1}^{\dagger} & a_{1,2}^{\dagger} \\ a_{2,1}^{\dagger} & a_{2,2}^{\dagger} \end{pmatrix}^{\kappa_{2}} \det \left(a_{1,1}^{\dagger}\right)^{\kappa_{1}} \left|0\right\rangle \quad (3.37)$$

is a HWS for a given SU(n) irrep $K = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots, \kappa_{n-1})$.

One can verify that the state $\left|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{K}\right\rangle$ (3.37) is annihilated

$$c_{j,k} \left| \psi_{\text{hws}}^K \right\rangle = 0 \quad \forall j < k \tag{3.38}$$

by the action of any of the raising operators.

Thus, the HWS of any irrep can be constructed analytically using Lemma 8. In the Section 7.1, I present an algorithm to construct each of the basis states of arbitrary SU(n) irreps. Furthermore, I present an algorithm to compute expressions for SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions in terms of the entries of the fundamental representation. The next section shows how \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants are connected to outputs of linear interferometry.

3.3 Determinants, immanants and permanents of a matrix

This section presents relevant definitions and background on the immanants of matrices, which include determinants and permanents as special cases. The immanants of the interferometer transformation matrix are important in multi-photon interferometry because they manifest the permutation symmetries of the interfering photons [76]. I define determinants, permanents and immanants before detailing the connection between immanants and interferometer output probabilities in the next section.

The determinant and permanent of a matrix are defined respectively as follows.

Definition 9 (Determinant and permanent of a matrix). The determinant of an $n \times n$ matrix T is the antisymmetric sum

$$\det(T) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \sum_{\sigma} \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) T_{1\sigma(1)} T_{2\sigma(2)} \dots T_{m\sigma(m)} , \qquad (3.39)$$

where the sum is over all permutations σ over $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and $sgn(\sigma)$ represents the parity of the permutation. Likewise, the permanent of T is the symmetric sum

$$\operatorname{per}(T) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \sum_{\sigma} T_{1\sigma(1)} T_{2\sigma(2)} \dots T_{m\sigma(m)}$$
(3.40)

over all permutations σ over $\{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$.

	1	$\sigma_{ab} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{P_{12}\}$
λ	$\chi^{\lambda}(\mathbb{1})$	$\chi^{\lambda}(\sigma_{ab})$
	1	1
	1	-1

Table 3.1: Character table for S_2 . The first row labels the different elements of the permutation group and the first column comprises the S_2 irreps.

Although the determinant of an $n \times n$ complex matrix can be computed or approximated in time polynomial in n, the approximation of a matrix permanent is a #P-complete problem [85,86]. In fact, the proof [17] of hardness of the BosonSampling problem relies on the hardness of approximating the permanent.

Immanants are matrix functions whose hardness is intermediate between determinants and permanents [87].

Definition 10 (Immanant of a matrix). The immanant $\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T)$ of the $m \times m$ matrix T, associated with the partition $\{\tau\}$, is defined as [80]

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) T_{1\sigma(1)} T_{2\sigma(2)} \dots T_{m\sigma(m)} , \qquad (3.41)$$

where $\sigma \in S_m$ permutes k to $\sigma(k)$, and $\chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma)$ is the character³ of σ in the irrep $\{\tau\}$ of S_m .

The determinant and permanent of a matrix are the immanants associated with the alternating $(\chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) = \operatorname{sgn}(\sigma))$ and the trivial $(\chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) = 1)$ characters of S_n respectively.

For S_2 , the determinant, which is labelled by \exists , and the permanent \Box are the only two immanants

$$\Box = U_{11}U_{22} - U_{12}U_{21} \tag{3.42}$$

$$\Box = U_{11}U_{22} + U_{12}U_{21}. \tag{3.43}$$

In the case of S_3 , there are three immanants, including the permanent \Box , determinant \exists and another immanants labelled by the partially symmetric representation \blacksquare of the permutation

³The character of an element σ of an S_n representation $\{\lambda\}$ is the trace of the matrix representing σ . For instance, the trivial representation \square of S_3 represents each element of S_3 as a 1×1 matrix with entry unity. Thus, $\chi^{\square}(\sigma) = 1$ for all $\sigma \in S_3$. The character functions for S_2 and S_3 are presented in Tables 3.1 and 3.2 [80].

	1	$\sigma_{ab} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{ P_{12}, P_{13}, P_{23} \}$	$\sigma_{abc} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{P_{123}, P_{132}\}$
λ	$\chi^{\lambda}(1\!\!1)$	$\chi^{\lambda}(\sigma_{ab})$	$\chi^{\lambda}(\sigma_{abc})$
	1	1	1
	2	0	-1
	1	-1	1

Table 3.2: Character table for S_3 . The first row labels the different elements of the permutation group. The first column comprises the three S_3 irreps, which are identified with the permanent, immanant and determinant respectively

group. The three immanants of 3×3 matrix U can be expressed in terms of matrix elements as

$$= U_{11}U_{22}U_{33} - U_{11}U_{23}U_{32} - U_{12}U_{21}U_{33} + U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} + U_{13}U_{21}U_{32} - U_{13}U_{22}U_{31}$$
(3.44)

$$\square = 2U_{11}U_{22}U_{33} - U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} - U_{13}U_{21}U_{32}$$
(3.45)

$$\Box \Box = U_{11}x_{22}U_{33} + U_{11}U_{23}U_{32} - U_{12}U_{21}U_{33} + U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} + U_{13}U_{21}U_{32} + U_{13}U_{22}U_{31}.$$
(3.46)

In summary, I have defined the immanants of an $n \times n$ matrix and have given examples of immanants for two- and three-channel interferometers.

The probability of detecting photon coincidence permanent value of the transformation submatrix if indistinguishable single-photons are incident [88]. If mutual time delay is introduced between the photons, other immanants also arise in the coincidence expression, as I detail in the next section for the three-photon case.

3.4 SU(3) and S_3 methods for three-photon interferometry

Here I present the connection between three-photon coincidence probabilities and the immanants and \mathcal{D} -functions of the transformation matrix. Specifically, I present expressions for three-fold coincidence probabilities when three controllably-delayed single photons are incident at an interferometer.

Consider three photons with square-integrable spectra $f(\omega)$ incident at a three-channel interferometer U at arrival times τ_1, τ_2 and τ_3 respectively. The probability of obtaining a three-fold coincidence at the output of the interferometer is

$$\begin{split} \wp &= \int \mathrm{d}\omega_1 \, \mathrm{d}\omega_2 \, \mathrm{d}\omega_3 \, \left| f(\omega_1) \right|^2 \left| f(\omega_2) \right|^2 \left| f(\omega_3) \right|^2 \\ & \left| U_{11} U_{22} U_{33} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_1 \tau_1 + \omega_2 \tau_2 + \omega_3 \tau_3)} + U_{11} U_{23} U_{32} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_1 \tau_1 + \omega_3 \tau_2 + \omega_2 \tau_3)} + U_{12} U_{21} U_{33} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_2 \tau_1 + \omega_1 \tau_2 + \omega_3 \tau_3)} \right. \\ & \left. + U_{12} U_{23} U_{31} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_2 \tau_1 + \omega_3 \tau_2 + \omega_1 \tau_3)} + U_{13} U_{21} U_{32} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_3 \tau_1 + \omega_1 \tau_2 + \omega_2 \tau_3)} + U_{13} U_{22} U_{31} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}(\omega_3 \tau_1 + \omega_2 \tau_2 + \omega_1 \tau_3)} \right|^2. \end{split}$$

This coincidence probability can be expressed in terms of sums of specific SU(3) \mathcal{D} -functions using the Schur-Weyl duality [76]

$$U_{1i}U_{1j}U_{1k} \equiv \mathcal{D}_{i,(100)}^{(1,0)}\mathcal{D}_{j,(010)}^{(1,0)}\mathcal{D}_{k,(001)}^{(1,0)}$$

= $c_{ijk}^{m}\mathcal{D}_{(111)1;(111)1}^{m} + c_{ijk,(11)}^{\mathbb{P}}\mathcal{D}_{(111)1;(111)1}^{\mathbb{P}} + c_{ijk,(00)}^{\mathbb{P}}\mathcal{D}_{(111)0;(111)0}^{\mathbb{P}}$
+ $c_{ijk,(10)}^{\mathbb{P}}\mathcal{D}_{(111)1;(111)0}^{\mathbb{P}} + c_{ijk,(01)}^{\mathbb{P}}\mathcal{D}_{(111)0;(111)1}^{\mathbb{P}} + c_{ijk}^{\mathbb{B}}\mathcal{D}_{(111)0;(111)0}^{\mathbb{B}}$ (3.47)

for constants $c_{ijk}^{\{\lambda\}}$ where I have used the compressed \mathcal{D} -function notation (3.36). Similarly immanants. Although expressions for the case of arbitrary time delay $\boldsymbol{\tau} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\tau_1, \tau_2, \tau_3)$ depend on each of the six \mathcal{D} -functions of Equation (3.47), certain time-delay values contain fewer \mathcal{D} -functions.

For instance, consider the case of two photon arriving simultaneously and one photon delayed by time τ with respect to the other two and assuming Gaussian spectra for simplicity. The coincidence probability is

$$\wp = |A|^2 + |B|^2 + |C|^2 + e^{-\sigma^2 \tau^2} \Big[(A^* + B^*)C + (A^* + C^*)B + (B^* + C^*)A \Big], \qquad (3.48)$$

where the functions A, B and C can be expressed in terms of $\mathcal{D}^{\{\lambda\}}$ -functions by

Alternatively, A, B and C can be expressed in terms of immanants by using the following

identity [89]

$$\Box \Box = D_{111(1);111(1)}^{(3)}(\Omega) ,$$

$$\Box = D_{111(1);111(1)}^{(11)}(\Omega) + D_{111(0);111(0)}^{(11)}(\Omega) , \qquad (3.50)$$

$$\Box = D_{000(0);000(0)}^{(0)}(\Omega) = 1 ,$$

which connects the \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of the fundamental matrix representation of the interferometer transformation. Permuting the columns of the interferometer matrix, the functions A, B and C are related to immanants by [76]

$$A = U_{11}U_{22}U_{33} + U_{11}U_{23}U_{32} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\Box \Box + \Box_{123} + \Box_{132} \right),$$

$$B = U_{12}U_{21}U_{33} + U_{12}U_{23}U_{31} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\Box \Box + \Box_{213} + \Box_{231} \right),$$

$$C = U_{13}U_{22}U_{31} + U_{13}U_{21}U_{32} = \frac{1}{3} \left(\Box \Box + \Box_{312} + \Box_{321} \right),$$

(3.51)

where the subscripts refer to the permutation operation acted upon the columns of interferometer matrix.

Note that the immanants of the form \Box or the \mathcal{D}^{\Box} functions do not arise in these expressions. Symmetry arguments justify the only certain immanants and certain \mathcal{D} -functions arise in the expression.

In conclusion, I have presented a treatment of three-photon three-channel interferometry in terms of immanants and \mathcal{D} -functions of the interferometer transformation. Chapter 7 presents methods that enable the generalization of these group-theoretic methods to the multi-photon multi-channel case.

3.5 Cosine-sine decomposition

This section presents the relevant background for our procedure to realize arbitrary discrete unitary transformation on the spatial and internal modes of light. The procedure, which is presented in Chapter 4, relies on iteratively performing the cosine-sine decomposition CSD [90– 92]. In this section, I detail the CSD and present a CSD-based realization of a 4×4 unitary matrix using two spatial and two polarization modes of light.

The CSD factorizes an arbitrary unitary $(m+n) \times (m+n)$ unitary matrix into a product of three block-diagonal matrices as follows.

Theorem 11. For each $(m+n) \times (m+n)$ unitary matrix U_{m+n} , there exist unitary matrices $\mathbb{L}_{m+n}, \mathbb{S}_{m+n}, \mathbb{R}_{m+n}$, such that

$$U_{m+n} = \mathbb{L}_{m+n} \left(\mathbb{S}_{2m} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n-m} \right) \mathbb{R}_{m+n}, \tag{3.52}$$

where \mathbb{L}_{m+n} and \mathbb{R}_{m+n} are block-diagonal

$$\mathbb{L}_{m+n} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} L_m & 0\\ \hline 0 & L'_n \end{array} \right), \ \mathbb{R}_{m+n} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} R_m^{\dagger} & 0\\ \hline 0 & R_n'^{\dagger} \end{array} \right)$$
(3.53)

and \mathbb{S}_{2m} is an orthogonal cosine-sine (CS) matrix

$$S_{2m} \equiv S_{2m}(\theta_1, \dots, \theta_m)$$

$$\stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta_1 & \sin \theta_1 & \\ & \ddots & \\ & \cos \theta_m & \sin \theta_m \\ \hline -\sin \theta_1 & \cos \theta_1 & \\ & \ddots & \\ & -\sin \theta_m & \cos \theta_m \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$(3.54)$$

The decomposition of U_{m+n} into \mathbb{L}_{m+n} , \mathbb{S}_{2m} and \mathbb{R}_{m+n} is depicted in Fig. 3.3. Here and in the remainder of this section, the subscripts of the matrix symbols denote the respective dimensions of the matrix.

A constructive proof of Theorem 11 is presented in Appendix A. The matrices \mathbb{L}_{m+n} , \mathbb{S}_{2m} and \mathbb{R}_{m+n} can be constructed using the singular value decomposition as follows. In order to perform CSD on U_{m+n} , I express it as a 2 × 2 block matrix

$$U_{m+n} \equiv \left(\begin{array}{c|c} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{array}\right),\tag{3.55}$$



Figure 3.3: Depiction of the CSD. U_{m+n} is an $(m+n) \times (m+n)$ unitary matrix. The CSD factorizes U_{m+n} into the block diagonal matrices \mathbb{L}_{m+n} , \mathbb{S}_{2m} and $\mathbb{R}_{m+n}^{\dagger}$. The boxes labelled L_m and L'_n represent the block diagonal matrix $\mathbb{L}_{m+n} = L_m \oplus L'_n$. Likewise for $\mathbb{R}'_{m+n}^{\dagger} = R'_m^{\dagger} \oplus R'_n^{\dagger}$ and $\mathbb{S}_{m+n} = \mathbb{S}_{m+n} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n-m}$.

where A and D are square complex matrices of dimension $m \times m$ and $n \times n$ respectively, and B and C are rectangular with respective dimensions $m \times n$ and $n \times m$. Each row of the matrix L_m (R_m) is a left-singular (right-singular) vector of A, as is proved in Appendix A. Similarly, L'_n and R'_n are the left- and right-singular vectors of D. Finally, $\{\cos \theta_i\}$ is the set of singular values of A. The singular vectors and values of any complex matrix can be computed efficiently using established numerical techniques [93–96].

Now I illustrate the realization of an arbitrary 4×4 unitary matrix as a linear optical transformation on two spatial and two polarization modes [97]. The realization is enabled by the CSD, which decomposes the given matrix U_4 according to

for m = n = 2. The decomposition of unitary matrix U_4 is depicted in Fig. 3.4(a). By definition, U_4 acts on the four-dimensional space \mathcal{H}_4 , which I identify with the combined space

$$\mathcal{H}_4 = \mathcal{H}_2^{(s)} \otimes \mathcal{H}_2^{(p)} \tag{3.57}$$

of spatial and polarization modes. Thus, the 2×2 matrices L_2 and R_2^{\dagger} are identified with

transformations acting on the two polarization modes of light in the first spatial mode. Likewise, L'_2 and R'^{\dagger}_2 correspond to transformations on polarization in the second spatial mode. Each of these operators $L_2, L'_2, R^{\dagger}_2, R'^{\dagger}_2$ can be realized with two quarter-wave plates, one half-wave plate and one phase shifter [41, 42].



Figure 3.4: Realization of a 4×4 unitary matrix U_4 as a transformation on two spatial and two polarization modes of light. (a) The CSD factorizes U_4 into the left and right matrices $L_2, L'_2, R_2^{\dagger}, R'_2^{\dagger}$ and the CS matrix \mathbb{S}_4 . (b) The left and right matrices are realized as combinations of quarter- and half-wave plates, and the CS matrix is realized using two beam splitters and a half-wave plate.

The matrix S_4 in Equation (3.56) is a CS matrix of the form

$$\mathbb{S}_{4}(\theta_{1},\theta_{2}) = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\theta_{1} & \sin\theta_{1} \\ \\ \frac{\cos\theta_{2}}{-\sin\theta_{1}} & \cos\theta_{2} \\ -\sin\theta_{1} & \cos\theta_{1} \\ \\ -\sin\theta_{2} & \cos\theta_{2} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.58)

This matrix can be decomposed further according to

$$\mathbb{S}_4(\theta_1, \theta_2) = (\mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1}_2)(\Theta_2 \oplus \Theta_2^{\dagger})(\mathcal{B}_2^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_2), \qquad (3.59)$$

where

$$\mathcal{B}_2 \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \mathbf{i} \\ \mathbf{i} & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.60}$$

$$\Theta_2 \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\theta_1} & 0\\ 0 & e^{i\theta_2} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{3.61}$$

The transformation $(\mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1}_2)$ in Equation (3.59) represents balanced beam splitters, whereas, the transformations $\Theta_2 \oplus \Theta_2^{\dagger}$ can be realized using wave plates acting separately on the polarization of light in the two spatial mode. Figure 3.4(b) depicts the optical circuit for the realization of U_4 using beam splitters, phase shifters and wave-plates.

Although the realization of arbitrary 4×4 transformations on two spatial and two polarization modes was known [97], there was no known realization of an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ transformation on n_s spatial and n_p internal modes. Such a decomposition is presented in the next chapter.

Chapter 4

Realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations on spatial and internal modes of light

This chapter details our procedure for the realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations. I present the decomposition algorithm in Section 4.1. The cost of realizing an arbitrary unitary matrix is discussed in Section 4.2. I conclude with a discussion of our decomposition algorithm in Section 4.3.

The majority of the material in this chapter is taken from my article published in Physical Review A [1]. New material is added or existing material is shifted or eliminated to improve presentation. Those parts that are reproduced verbatim from our journal paper are listed in "Thesis content previously published".

4.1 Algorithm to design efficient realization

Here I describe the algorithm to decompose an arbitrary unitary matrix into beam-splitter and internal transformations. This section is structured as follows. Subsection 4.1.1 details the inputs and outputs of the decomposition algorithm. The first of the two stages of the algorithm is a step-by-step decomposition of the unitary into internal and CS matrices and is presented in Subsection 4.1.2. The next stage involves factorization of the CS matrices into beam-splitter and internal transformations as described in Subsection 4.1.3.

4.1.1 Inputs and outputs of algorithm

In this section, I present the inputs and outputs of our decomposition algorithm. The algorithm receives an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix as an input. The algorithm returns a sequence of matrices, each of which describes either a beam splitter acting on two-spatial

modes or an internal unitary operation, which acts on the internal DOF in one spatial modes whereas leaving the other modes unchanged. The remainder of this subsection describes the basis and the form of the matrices yielded by our algorithm.

The operators returned by the algorithm act on the combined space

$$\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_s \otimes \mathcal{H}_p, \tag{4.1}$$

where \mathcal{H}_s and \mathcal{H}_p are spanned

$$\mathcal{H}_s = \operatorname{span}\{|s_1\rangle, |s_2\rangle, \dots, |s_{n_s}\rangle\},\tag{4.2}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{p} = \operatorname{span}\{\left|p_{1}\right\rangle, \left|p_{2}\right\rangle, \dots, \left|p_{n_{p}}\right\rangle\}$$

$$(4.3)$$

by the n_s spatial modes and the n_p internal modes respectively for positive integers n_s and n_p . Each operator acting on the combined state of light can be represented by an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ matrix in the combined basis

$$\{|c_{k\ell}\rangle \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} |s_k\rangle \otimes |p_\ell\rangle : k \in \{1, \dots, n_s\}, \ \ell \in \{1, \dots, n_p\}\}$$
(4.4)

of the spatial and the internal modes. Our algorithm returns the matrix representations of the operators in this combined basis $\{|c_{k\ell}\rangle\}$.

The matrices returned by the algorithm represent either internal or beam-splitter transformations. Each internal transformation acts on the internal state of light in a spatial mode but not on the light in the other spatial modes. In the composite basis, the internal transformations acting on the k-th spatial mode are represented as

$$U_{n_p}^{(k)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{1}_{n_p(k-1)} \oplus U_{n_p} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n_p(n_s-k)}$$

$$(4.5)$$

for $n_p \times n_p$ unitary matrix U_{n_p} .

The algorithm also returns beam-splitter matrices, which mix each of the corresponding internal modes of light in two spatial modes. The matrix representation of this operator in the composite basis is given by

$$\mathcal{B}_{2n_p}^{(k)} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \mathbb{1}_{n_p(k-1)} \oplus \left(\mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{n_p} \right) \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n_p(n_s-k-1)}$$
(4.6)

for \mathcal{B}_2 as defined in Equation (3.60) representing a balanced beam splitter. To summarize, the algorithm returns a sequence of matrices, each of which is an internal transformation in the form of Equation (4.5) or is a balanced beam-splitter transformation in the form of Equation (4.6).

4.1.2 Decomposition of unitry matrix into internal and CS matrices

In this subsection, I present the first stage of our algorithm. This stage decomposes the given unitary matrix into matrices representing internal transformations (4.5) and CS transformations

$$\mathbb{S}_{2n_p}^{(k)}(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_{n_p}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{1}_{n_p(k-1)} \oplus \mathbb{S}_{2n_p}(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_{n_p})$$
$$\oplus \mathbb{1}_{n_p(n_s-k-1)}, \tag{4.7}$$

which enact the CS matrix $S_{2n_p} \equiv S_{2n_p}(\theta_1, \ldots, \theta_{n_p})$ (3.54) on the internal degrees of light in two spatial modes without affecting the light in other modes.

The first stage comprises $n_s - 1$ iterations. Of these, the first iteration factorizes the given $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix into a sequence of internal and CS matrices and one $(n_s - 1)n_p \times (n_s - 1)n_p$ unitary matrix. This smaller unitary matrix is factorized in the next iteration. Figure 4.1 depicts the first of the $n_s - 1$ iterations that comprise the first stage.

In general, the *j*-th iteration receives an $(n_s + 1 - j)n_p \times (n_s + 1 - j)n_p$ unitary matrix. This iteration decomposes the received unitary matrix into a sequence of internal and CS matrices and a smaller $(n_s - j)n_p \times (n_s - j)n_p$ unitary matrix which is decomposed in the next iteration.

Now I describe the *j*-th iteration of the decomposition algorithm in detail. First, the given unitary matrix $U_{(n_s+1-j)n_p}$ is CS decomposed by setting $m = n_p$ and $n = (n_s - j)n_p$ in the CSD. This CSD yields the following sequence of matrices

$$U_{(n_s+1-j)n_p} = \mathbb{L}_{n_p+(n_s-j)n_p} \left(\mathbb{S}_{2n_p} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{(n_s-1-j)n_p} \right) \\ \times \mathbb{R}_{n_p+(n_s-j)n_p},$$

$$(4.8)$$

for block diagonal unitary matrices

$$\mathbb{L}_{n_p+(n_s-j)n_p} = \begin{pmatrix} L_{n_p} & 0 \\ 0 & L'_{(n_s-j)n_p} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\mathbb{R}_{n_p+(n_s-j)n_p} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{R_{n_p}^{\dagger} & 0 \\ 0 & R'_{(n_s-j)n_p} \end{pmatrix},$$
(4.9)

and orthogonal CS matrix S_{2n_p} .

In other words, the first CSD of the *j*-th iteration factorizes the received unitary transformation acting on $n_s + 1 - j$ spatial modes into (i) a $2n_p \times 2n_p$ CS matrix \mathbb{S}_{2n_p} acting on the *j*-th and (j + 1)-th spatial modes, (ii) internal unitary matrices L_{n_p} and $R_{n_p}^{\dagger}$, each of which act on the internal degrees of the *j*-th spatial mode and (iii) left and right unitary matrices $L'_{(n_s-j)n_p}$ and $R'^{\dagger}_{(n_s-j)n_p}$ acting on the remaining $n_s - j$ spatial modes. Figure 4.1(a) depicts this first CSD for the first iteration.

Next the matrix $L'_{(n_s-j)n_p}$ is CS decomposed. The resultant $R'^{\dagger}_{(n_s-j-1)n_p}$ from this second CSD commutes with CS matrix S_{2n_p} yielded by the first CSD¹. Hence, the operators $R'^{\dagger}_{(n_s-j-1)n_p}$ and S_{2n_p} can be swapped, following which I multiply $R'^{\dagger}_{(n_s-j-1)n_p}$ by $R'^{\dagger}_{(n_s-j)n_p}$. Figure 4.1(b) depicts this second round of CSD and of the multiplication of the two right matrices.

The left unitary matrices thus obtained are repeatedly factorized using the CSD. The resultant right unitary matrices are absorbed into the initial right unitary matrix $R_{(n_s-1)n_p}^{\dagger}$. Thus, we are left with internal and CS matrices and with a unitary matrix

$$U_{(n_s-j)n_p} = \prod_{\ell=0}^{n_s-j-1} R_{(n_s-j-\ell)n_p}^{\prime\dagger}$$
(4.10)

¹The transformations $R_{(n_s-k-1)n_p}^{\dagger}$ and S_{2n_p} act on mutually exclusive spatial modes so their action is independent of the order of enacting the transformations.

obtained by multiplying each of the right unitary matrices. This completes a description of the j-th iteration of the algorithm.

In summary, at the end of the *j*-th iteration, the algorithm decomposes the received $U_{(n_s+1-j)n_p}$ transformation into internal and CS matrices and $U_{(n_s-j)n_p}$ as depicted in Fig. 4.1(c). The (j + 1)-th iteration of the algorithm receives this smaller $U_{(n_s-j)n_p}$ unitary matrix and decomposes it into internal and CS matrices and an even smaller unitary matrix. The algorithm iterates over integral values of j ranging from 1 to $n_s - 1$. Figure 4.2 depicts the output of the algorithm at the end of the final, i.e., $(n_s - 1)$ -th, iteration. This completes a description of the first stage of the algorithm.

At the end of the first stage, the given unitary matrix has been factorized into a sequence of internal (4.5) and CS matrices (3.54). The internal matrices can be implemented using optical elements if a suitable realization is known for the internal DOF; such realizations are known for polarization [41,42], temporal [47] and orbital-angular-momentum [50] DOFs. In the next subsection, I present a realization of the CS matrix using beam splitters acting on spatial modes and internal transformations.

4.1.3 Decomposition of CS unitary matrix into elementary operators

Here I show how the CS matrices can be decomposed into a sequence of beam-splitter transformations and internal unitary matrices. Specifically, we construct a factorization of any $2n_p \times 2n_p$ CS matrix \mathbb{S}_{2n_p} , which is in the form of Equation (3.54), into a sequence of two balanced beam-splitter matrices and two internal-transformation matrices.

Our decomposition of the CS matrix relies on the following identity

$$\mathbb{S}_{2n_p}(\theta_1,\ldots,\theta_{n_p}) = \left(\mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{n_p}\right) \left(\Theta_{n_p} \oplus \Theta_{n_p}^{\dagger}\right) \left(\mathcal{B}_2^{\dagger} \otimes \mathbb{1}_{n_p}\right), \tag{4.11}$$



Figure 4.1: A depiction of the first iteration of the algorithm for the decomposition of a given unitary $U_{n_sn_p}$ into internal (green) and CS (brown) matrices. (a) First, the $U_{n_sn_p}$ unitary matrix is CS decomposed into (i) a $2n_p \times 2n_p$ CS matrix $S_{2n_p}^{(1)}$ acting on the first two spatial modes, (ii) internal unitary matrices $L_{n_p}^{(1)}$ and $R_{n_p}^{(1)\dagger}$, each of which act on the internal degrees of the first spatial mode and (iii) left and right unitary matrices $L_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{(1)}$ and $R_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{(1)\dagger}$ acting on the remaining $n_s - 1$ spatial modes. (b) The matrix $L_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{(1)}$ is further CS decomposed. The resultant $R_{n_p(n_s-2)}^{\prime(2)\dagger}$ from the second decomposition commutes with CS matrix $\mathbb{S}_{2n_p}^{(1)}$ and can thus be absorbed into $R_{n_p(n_s-1)}^{\prime(1)\dagger}$. (c) The algorithm repeatedly decomposes the left unitary matrices. The resultant right unitary matrices are absorbed into the initial right unitary matrix. At the end of one iteration, the algorithm decomposes $U_{n_sn_p}$ unitary operation into CS matrices, internal unitary matrices and the matrix $U_{n_p(n_s-1)}$. The next iteration of the algorithm decomposes the smaller $U_{n_p(n_s-1)}$ unitary matrix.



Figure 4.2: A depiction of the output of the first stage of our decomposition algorithm (Subsection 4.1.2) for the case of $n_s = 4$ spatial modes and n_p internal modes. The given $4n_p \times 4n_p$ unitary matrix is decomposed into $4^2 = 16$ internal matrices (green) and $n_s(n_s - 1)/2 = 6$ CS matrices (brown). As usual, the right subscript of the matrices is the dimension of the space that the respective operators act on. The right superscript represents the spatial mode that the operators act on. The left subscript specifies the index of iteration that constructed the respective matrices.

where $\mathcal{B}_2 \otimes \mathbb{1}_{n_p}$ represents a balanced beam splitter (3.60) and

$$\Theta_{n_p} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\theta_1} & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & e^{i\theta_{n_p}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.12)

is a transformation on the internal modes. Thus, any CS matrix can be realized using two balanced beam splitters and two internal transformations.

To summarize, the first stage of the algorithm decomposes the given unitary matrix into internal (4.5) and CS matrices (4.7). The next stage factorizes the CS matrices returned by the first stage into internal and beam splitter (4.6) transformations, thereby completing the algorithm. MATLAB code for the CSD and for the decomposition algorithm is available online [98].

4.2 Cost Analysis: Number of optical elements in realization

Here I discuss the cost of realizing an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix using our procedure, where the cost is quantified by the number of optical elements required to implement the matrix. Optical elements required by the decomposition algorithm include balanced beam splitters, phase shifters and elements acting on internal modes. We conclude this section with a specific example of decomposing a $2n \times 2n$ transformation into spatial and polarization DOFs. In this case, this decomposition reduces the required number of beam splitters to half with the additional requirement of wave plates as compared to using only spatial modes.

Consider the decomposition of an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation. Realization of this transformation using the Reck *et al.* method requires $n_s n_p$ spatial modes and $n_s n_p (n_s n_p - 1)/2$ biased beam splitters [44]. In comparison, our decomposition requires $n_s (n_s - 1)$ beam splitters. Thus, we reduce the number of beam splitters required to realize an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ transformation by a factor of

$$\eta = \frac{n_s n_p (n_s n_p - 1)/2}{n_s (n_s - 1)} > n_p^2/2.$$
(4.13)

Although our decomposition reduces the required number of beam splitters, the number of optical elements required for internal transformations increases by a factor of 2. The Reck *et al.* approach requires $n_s n_p (n_s n_p + 1)/2$ phase shifters to effect an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation on spatial modes.

Our approach relies on decomposing to beam splitter and internal unitary transformations, so we count the number of internal optical elements required in the transformation. Realizing an $n_p \times n_p$ internal transformation typically requires n_p^2 internal optical elements [42, 47, 50]. Our decomposition requires n_s^2 arbitrary internal transformations, which are represented by matrices $\{L_{n_p}, L'_{n_p}, R_{n_p}, R'_{n_p}\}$ in the output. These arbitrary transformations can be realized using a total of $n_s^2 n_p^2$ internal optical elements. Furthermore, our decomposition also requires $n_s(n_s - 1)$ internal transformations in the form of Θ_{n_p} (4.12). Each of these transformations can be realized using n_p optical elements for the polarization, temporal and orbital angular momentum modes². In summary, our decomposition requires a total of $n_s n_p (n_s n_p + n_s - 1)$,

²For the polarization DOF the $\Theta_{n_p=2}$ matrix can be constructed using two elements: a quarter-wave plate and a phase shifter. Similarly, for the temporal DOF, the matrix Θ_{n_p} can be realized by setting the reflectivity of the variable beam splitter to zero and the transmission amplitude to $e^{i\theta_j}$ at an appropriate time [47]. The matrix Θ_{n_p} for the orbital-angular-momentum DOF of light can be constructed using a spatial light modulator (hologram) [99]. In all these realizations of the matrix Θ_{n_p} no more than n_p optical components are required.

which is an increase by a factor

$$\xi = \frac{n_s n_p (n_s n_p + n_s - 1)}{n_s n_p (n_s n_p + 1)/2} = 2 + \mathcal{O}\left(1/n_p\right)$$
(4.14)

over the cost of the Reck *et al.* approach.

Now we consider the example of using polarization as the internal DOF. Specifically, we compare the cost of realizing an arbitrary $2n \times 2n$ transformation using (i) the Reck *et al.* approach on only spatial modes and (ii) our decomposition on the spatial and polarization modes of light, i.e., $n_s = n$ and $n_p = 2$. The Reck *et al.* decomposition requires 2n spatial modes, n(2n-1) beam splitters and n(2n+1) phase shifters. In comparison, my approach requires n(n-1) balanced beam splitters, n^2 phase shifters and 3n(n-1)/2 wave plates. Thus, our decomposition reduces the required number of beam splitters and phase shifter by a factor of 2 each at the expense of an additional 3n(n-1)/2 wave plates.

To summarize this section, our realization of an arbitrary $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix reduces the number of beam splitters required by a factor of $n_p^2/2$. This completes the analysis of the cost of our decomposition.

4.3 Conclusion

In conclusion, we devise a procedure to efficiently realize any given $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary transformation on n_s spatial and n_p internal modes of light. Our realization uses interferometers composed of beam splitters and optical devices that act on internal modes to effect the given transformation. Such interferometers can be characterized by using existing procedures [2,69] based on one- and two-photon interference on spatial and internal DOFs [100–103]. We thus enable the design and characterization of linear optics on multiple degrees of freedom.

We overcome the problem of decomposing the given unitary transformation into internal transformations by performing the CSD iteratively. We also open the possibility of using an efficient iterative CSD in problems where the single-shot CSD is currently used [104–106].

By employing n_p internal modes, the number of beam splitters required to effect the transformation is reduced by a factor of $n_p^2/2$ at the cost of increasing the number of internal elements by a factor of 2. Our procedure facilitates the realization of higher dimensional unitary transformations for quantum information processing tasks such as linear optical quantum computation, BosonSampling and quantum walks.

Chapter 5

Characterization of linear optical interferometer

This chapter details our procedure for the characterization of linear optical interferometers. Section 5.1 details the accurate and precise characterization using one- and two-photon measurements and the bootstrapping-based procedure to estimate the precision of the characterized interferometer parameters. Section 5.2 presents a scattershot approach to reducing the experimental time by performing all one- and two-photon measurement in parallel. I present our approach to removing the numerical instability that adversely effect the accuracy and precision of existing characterization procedures in section 5.3. Section 5.4 comprises a nontechnical summary of the characterization and comparison with existing procedure.

The majority of the material in this chapter is taken from my article [2] that I co-authored with Abdullah Khalid, He Lu and Barry C. Sanders. New material is added or existing material is shifted or eliminated to improve presentation. Those parts that are reproduced verbatim from our journal paper are listed in "Thesis content previously published".

5.1 Characterization procedure

In this section, I describe our procedure to characterize linear optical interferometers. The outline of this section is as follows. Subsection 5.1.1 describes the experimental data required by our characterization procedure. This experimental data are processed by various algorithms to determine the transformation matrix (2.9). The algorithm to determine the amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ of the transformation-matrix elements is presented in Subsection 5.1.2. In Subsection 5.1.3, I describe the calibration of the source field by determining the mode-matching parameter γ . The estimation of $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ using two-photon interference is detailed in Subsection 5.1.4. Maximum-likelihood estimation is employed to find the unitary matrix U that best fits the calculated $\{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_{ij}\}$ values and serves as the representative matrix (2.9). We discuss the calculation of the best-fit unitary representative matrix in Subsection 5.1.5.

5.1.1 Experimental procedure and inputs to algorithms

Our characterization procedure relies on measuring (i) the spectral function f_j of the source light, (ii) single-photon detection counts, (iii) two-photon coincidence counts from a beam splitter and (iv) two-photon coincidence counts from the interferometer. The measurement data constitute the inputs to our algorithms, which then yield the representative matrix. Before presenting the algorithms, I detail the experimental procedure and the inputs received by the algorithm in this subsection.

We characterize the spectral function $f(\omega_i)$ of the incoming light for a discrete set $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_k\}$ of frequencies. The integer k of frequencies at which the spectral function is characterized is commonly equal to the ratio of the bandwidth to the frequency step of the characterization device. The characterized spectral function $f(\omega_i)$ is used to calculate the coincidence probabilities as detailed in Algorithm 1.

The amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ are determined by impinging single photons at the interferometer and counting single-photon detections at the outputs. Single-photon counting is repeated multiple $(B \in \mathbb{Z}^+)$ times in order to estimate the precision of the obtained $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ values. Specifically, the number

$$N_{ijb_j} \in \mathbb{Z}^+ : i, j \in \{1, \dots, m\}, b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\}$$
(5.1)

of single-photon detection events are counted at all m output ports $\{i\}$ for single photons impinged at the *j*-th input ports in the b_j -th repetition. The counting is then performed for each of the input ports $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$ of the interferometer. Algorithm 2 uses $\{N_{ijb_j}, b_j \in \{1, ..., B\}\}$ values to estimate α_{ij} and the standard deviation of the estimate. The experimental setup for $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ measurement is depicted in Figure 2.2. Algorithm 1 COINCIDENCE: Calculates the expected coincidence rate for two-photon interference for a given 2×2 submatrix of an arbitrary SU(m) transformation.

Input	t:				
	• $k, \Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{k-1}\}$	$\{\omega_{k-1}, \omega_k\} \in (\mathbb{R}^+)$	$)^k ightarrow $ Frequencies at which f_1, f_2 are		
	given.				
	• $f_1, f_2: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+$		\triangleright measured spectra		
	• $\ell, T = \{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_\ell\}$	$\in (\mathbb{R} \cup 0)^\ell$	\triangleright Time delay values		
	• $A \leftarrow \{\alpha_{ij}, \alpha_{ij'}, \alpha_{ij}, \alpha_{i'}, \alpha_{i$	$_{j'}\}\in (\mathbb{R}^+\cup \mathbb{C})$) ⁴ ▷ Amplitudes of 2×2 submatrix of		
	• $\Theta \leftarrow \theta_{ij}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{i'j'}$	$\in (-\pi,\pi]$	\triangleright Phases of 2 \times 2 submatrix of A (2.9)		
	• $\gamma \in [0,1]$	⊳ Mode	e-matching parameter of photon source		
Outp	out:				
	• $C: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$ pultiplicative factor.	> Two-photon	coincidence probabilities correct up to		
1: p r	rocedure Coincidence $(k, \Omega, f_1,$	$f_2, \ell, T, A, \Theta,$	$\gamma)$		
2:	for τ in T do				
3:	: $C(\tau) \leftarrow \text{INTEGRATE}\left[F(A, \Theta, f_1, f_2, \gamma, \omega_i, \omega_j, \tau), \{\omega_i \in \Omega, \omega_j \in \Omega\}\right].$				
	\triangleright Numerically integrate R	HS of (2.16)	over ω_i, ω_j with $\kappa_i = \kappa_{i'} = \nu_j = \nu_{j'} = 1$		
4:	end for				
5:	$\mathbf{return}\ C$				
6: e r	nd procedure				

Arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}\$ are calculated by fitting curves of measured coincidence counts to curves calculated using measured spectra according to (2.16). Appendix B elucidates the inputs and outputs of the curve-fitting procedure, such as the Levenberg-Marquardt algorithm [107, 108], employed by our algorithms. Before calculating $\{\theta_{ij}\}\)$, we calibrate the source field for imperfect mode matching by measuring coincidence counts on a beam splitter of known reflectivity. Controllably delayed single-photon pairs are incident at the two input ports of the beam splitter and coincidence counting is performed on the light exiting from its two output ports. Algorithm 3 details the estimation of γ using coincidence counts $C^{cal}(\tau)$ for time delay τ between the incoming photons.

The absolute values and the signs of the arguments $\{\theta_{ij} \in (-\pi, \pi]\}$ are calculated separately. To estimate the absolute values $\{|\theta_{ij}|\}$ of the arguments, pairs of single photons are incident at two input ports 1 and $j \in \{2, ..., m\}$ and coincidence measurement is performed at two output ports 1 and $i \in \{2, ..., m\}$. The choice of the input and output ports labelled by index 1 is arbitrary. The signs

$$\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{cases} -1 & \text{if } \theta_{ij} < 0, \\ 0 & \text{if } \theta_{ij} = 0, \\ 1 & \text{if } \theta_{ij} > 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

of the arguments are estimated using an additional $(m-1)^2$ coincidence measurements. Algorithm 6 details the choice of input and output ports for estimating $\{\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}\}$. A schematic diagram of the experimental setup for $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ estimation is presented in Figure 2.3.

5.1.2 Single-photon transmission counts to estimate $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ (Algorithm 2)

Now I present our procedure to estimate $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ values using single-photon counting. Singlephoton transmission probabilities are connected to the amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ according to the relation $P_{ij} = \kappa_i \lambda_i \alpha_{ij}^2 \mu_j \nu_j$ (2.14). Although the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ values can be calculated from singlephoton transmission counts, the factors $\{\lambda_i\}, \{\mu_j\}$ cannot. The transmission probabilities depend on the products of the factors $\{\lambda_i\}, \{\mu_j\}$ and the loss terms $\{\kappa_i\}, \{\nu_j\}$, so $\{\lambda_i\}, \{\mu_j\}$ cannot be measured without prior knowledge of the losses. The loss terms are usually unknown and can change between experiments. Hence, we calculate the values of $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ from single-photon measurements and choose $\{\lambda_i\}$ and $\{\mu_j\}$ such that U = LAM is unitary.

The amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ are determined by estimating transmission probabilities. The probabilities $P_{11}, P_{i1}, P_{1j}, P_{ij}$ of single-photon detection at output ports 1, i when single photons are incident at input ports 1, j are expresses in terms of the α_{ij} values according to

$$\frac{P_{11}P_{ij}}{P_{1j}P_{i1}} = \frac{|r_1\lambda_1\alpha_{11}\mu_1s_1|^2}{|r_1\lambda_1\alpha_{1j}\mu_js_j|^2} \frac{|r_i\lambda_i\alpha_{ij}\mu_js_j|^2}{|r_i\lambda_i\alpha_{i1}\mu_1s_1|^2} = \left|\frac{\alpha_{11}\alpha_{ij}}{\alpha_{1j}\alpha_{i1}}\right|^2.$$
(5.3)

The probabilities $P_{11}, P_{i1}, P_{1j}, P_{ij}$ are estimated by counting transmitted photons. The definition (2.9) of α_{ij} implies that $\alpha_{11} = \alpha_{i1} = \alpha_{1j} = 1$. Hence, the values of α_{ij} are connected

to the single-photon transmission probabilities according to

$$\alpha_{ij} = \sqrt{\frac{P_{11}P_{ij}}{P_{1j}P_{i1}}},$$
(5.4)

which is independent of the losses at the input and the output ports.

The transmission probabilities P_{ij} are estimated by counting transmitted photons as follows. The estimated values of $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ are random variables that are amenable to random error from under-sampling and experimental imperfections. Thus, data collection is repeated multiple times. For accurate estimation of α_{ij} and its standard deviation $\delta\alpha_{ij}$, the number Bof repetitions is chosen such that the standard deviation of $\{N_{ijbj} : b_j \in \{1, \ldots, B\}\}$ converges in B for all $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. The mean and standard deviation of $\{N_{ijbj} : b_j \in \{1, \ldots, B\}\}$ converge for large enough B if the cumulants of the distribution are finite [109].

Algorithm 2 AMPLITUDEESTIMATION: Uses single-photon detection counts to calculate the amplitudes of the complex entries of the transformation matrix. $\tilde{\bullet}$ represents our estimate of \bullet .

Input: • $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. \triangleright Number of modes of interferometer. • $N_{ijb_j}: \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, \dots, B\} \to \mathbb{Z}^+$ \triangleright Single-photon detection counts. • $B \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ \triangleright Number of times single-photon counting is repeated . **Output:** • $\{\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}\} \in (\mathbb{R}^+ \cup 0)^{m^2}$ \triangleright Estimate of $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ (2.9). 1: procedure AMPLITUDEESTIMATION (m, N_{ijb_i}, B) for $i, j \in \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, \dots, m\}$ do $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij} \leftarrow \operatorname{MEAN}\left(\sqrt{N_{11b_1}N_{ijb_j}/N_{1jb_j}N_{i1b_1}} : b_1, b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\}\right)$ 2:3: end for 4: return $\{\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}\}$ 5:6: end procedure

The probabilities P_{ij} are estimated by counting single-photon detection events. Suppose N_{ijb_j} photons are transmitted from input port j to the detector at output port i when N_{b_j} photons are incident and $b_j \in \{1, \ldots, B\}$. For large enough B, the transmission probability

converges according to

$$P_{ij} \leftarrow \operatorname{mean}\left\{\frac{N_{ijb_j}}{N_{b_j}} : b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\}\right\}.$$
(5.5)

Likewise, the amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ are estimated by averaging the single-photon detection counts according to

$$\alpha_{ij} = \sqrt{\frac{P_{11}P_{ij}}{P_{1j}P_{i1}}} \leftarrow \operatorname{mean}\left\{ \sqrt{\frac{N_{11b_1}}{N_{b_1}} \frac{N_{ijb_j}}{N_{b_j}} \frac{N_{b_j}}{N_{1jb_j}} \frac{N_{b_1}}{N_{i1b_1}}} : b_1, b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\} \right\}$$
$$= \operatorname{mean}\left\{ \sqrt{\frac{N_{11b_1}N_{ijb_j}}{N_{1jb_j}N_{i1b_1}}} : b_1, b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\} \right\}.$$
(5.6)

The estimate of α_{ij} relies on single-photon counts measured by impinging photons at the first input port repeatedly (repetition index $b_1 \in \{1, \ldots, B\}$) and independently at the *j*-th input port (with repetitions labelled by a different index $b_j \in \{1, \ldots, B\}$).

Henceforth, we represent our estimate of any parameter • by •. The estimate $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$ calculated using (5.6) is independent of N_{b_j} and thus resistant to variations in the incident-photon number N_{b_j} over different input modes j and different repetitions b_j . Thus, our estimates { $\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}$ } are accurate in the realistic case of fluctuating light-source strength and coupling efficiencies.

Finally, the standard deviations $\sigma(\tilde{\alpha}_{ij})$ of our estimates are calculated according to

$$\sigma(\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}) \leftarrow \text{std. dev.}\left(\sqrt{\frac{N_{11b_1}N_{ijb_j}}{N_{1jb_j}N_{i1b_1}}}: b_1, b_j \in \{1, \dots, B\}\right),\tag{5.7}$$

which converges for a large enough B. In line with standard nomenclature, I refer to these standard deviations as error bars. Algorithm 2 details the estimation of $\{\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}\}$ and error bars on the obtained estimates.

5.1.3 Calibration to estimate mode-matching parameter γ (Algorithm 3)

In this subsection, I describe the procedure to calibrate our light sources for imperfect mode matching. The mode-matching parameter γ is estimated using one- and two-photon interference on an arbitrary beam splitter. First, the reflectivity of the beam splitter is determined using single-photon counting [69]. Next, controllably delayed photon pairs are incident at the beam splitter inputs and coincidence counting is performed on the beam splitter output . We introduce a curve-fitting procedure to estimate the value of γ such that (2.16) best fits the measured coincidence counts.

The beam-splitter reflectivity, which is denoted by $\cos \vartheta$, is estimated as follows. A beam splitter of reflectivity $\cos \vartheta$ effects the 2 × 2 transformation

$$U_{\rm bs} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos\vartheta & \mathrm{i}\sin\vartheta \\ \mathrm{i}\sin\vartheta & \cos\vartheta \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathrm{i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \tan\vartheta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -\cot^2\vartheta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \cos\vartheta & 0 \\ 0 & \sin\vartheta \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathrm{i} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.8)$$

which is in the form of (2.9) with $\alpha_{22} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \cot^2 \vartheta$. The value of α_{22} is estimated using singlephoton counting as described in Algorithm 2. The estimated beam-splitter reflectivity is

$$\cos\tilde{\vartheta} = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_{22}}{1 - \alpha_{22}}}.$$
(5.9)

The error bar on $\cos \tilde{\vartheta}$ is estimated by repeating the photon counting along the lines of Algorithm 2.

Next we estimate γ using two-photon coincidence counting. Controllably delayed pairs of photons are incident at the two input ports of the beam splitter. Coincidence measurement is performed at the output ports for different values of time delay between the two photons. A curve-fitting algorithm is employed to find the best-fit value of γ , i.e., the value $\tilde{\gamma}$ that minimizes the squared sum of residues between the measured counts and the coincidence counts expected from (2.16) for the beam splitter matrix (5.8). Algorithm 3 details the calculations of $\tilde{\gamma}$, which is used to estimate $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ values accurately.

5.1.4 Two-photon interference to estimate $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ (Algorithms 4-6)

In this subsection, I describe our procedure to estimate the arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ of the representative matrix U (2.9). Our procedure requires the measurement of coincidence counts for
Algorithm 3 CALIBRATION Calculates the mode-matching parameter γ of source-field using a beam splitter of known reflectivity.

Input: • $k, \Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{k-1}, \omega_k\} \in (\mathbb{R}^+)^k \qquad \triangleright$ Frequencies at which f_1, f_2 are • $f_1, f_2: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright Given spectral functions. • $\ell, T = \{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_\ell\} \in (\mathbb{R} \cup 0)^\ell$ ▷ Time delay values coincidence is measured at. • $C^{\operatorname{cal}}: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright Measured coincidence curve. • $\vartheta \in (-\pi, \pi]$ $\triangleright \cos \vartheta$ is reflectivity of calibrating beam splitter. **Output:** • $\tilde{\gamma} \in [0,1]$ \triangleright Estimate of mode-matching parameter of photon source. 1: procedure CALIBRATION $(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, C^{cal}, \vartheta)$ $A \leftarrow \{\cos\vartheta, \sin\vartheta, \sin\vartheta, \cos\vartheta\}$ \triangleright Beam splitter of reflectivity R (5.8) 2: $\Phi \leftarrow \{0, \pi/2, \pi/2, 0\}$ \triangleright Beam splitter of reflectivity R (5.8) 3: $C(\tau, \gamma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{COINCIDENCE}(\Omega, f_1, f_2, T, A, \Phi, \gamma)$ \triangleright The quantities $\Omega, f_1, f_2, R^{\text{cal}}$ are given. γ is unknown. $\text{COINCIDENCE}(\Omega, f_1, f_2, T, R^{\text{cal}}, \gamma)$ depends on γ and τ 4: return $\tilde{\gamma} \leftarrow \text{Fit}(C(\tau, \gamma), C^{\text{cal}}(\tau), 1/C^{\text{cal}}(\tau), \text{InitGuesses})$ 5: Least-squares curve fitting to obtain the value of γ that minimizes $\frac{\sum_{\tau \in T} |C^{\text{cal}}(\tau) - C(\tau, \gamma)|^2}{C^{\text{cal}}(\tau)}$. The argument $1/C^{\text{cal}}(\tau)$ is the weight function [110] that accounts for experimental noise, which is assumed to be proportional to $\sqrt{C(\tau)}$. Ignore values of τ at which $C(\tau) = 1$. Appendix B details the choice of initial guesses to the algorithm. 6: end procedure

 $2(m-1)^2$ different choices of input and output ports. Of these measurements, $(m-1)^2$ are used to estimate the absolute values $\{|\theta_{ij}|\}$ of the arguments and the remaining $(m-1)^2$ are used to estimate the signs $\{\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}\}$.

The absolute values $\{|\theta_{ij}|\}$ are estimated as follows. Single-photon pairs are incident at input ports 1 and j and coincidence measurements are performed at output ports 1 and i for $i, j \in \{2, ..., m\}$. The state (2.13) of a photon pair is transformed under the action of the 2×2 submatrix

$$U_{i1j1} = \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\kappa_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\kappa_i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\lambda_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\lambda_i} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 \alpha_{ij} e^{i\theta_{ij}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\mu_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\mu_j} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\nu_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\nu_j} \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.10)

of U labelled by the rows 1 and i and columns 1 and j. The probability of detecting a

coincidence at the output ports 1, i is

$$C_{i1j1}(\tau) = \kappa_j \kappa_1 \lambda_j \lambda_1 \nu_i \nu_1 \mu_i \mu_1 \bigg[\left\{ \alpha_{ij}^2 + 1 \right\} \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 |f_j(\omega_1) f_1(\omega_2)|^2 + 2\gamma \alpha_{ij} \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 f_j(\omega_1) f_1(\omega_2) f_j(\omega_2) f_1(\omega_1) \cos\left(\omega_2 \tau - \omega_1 \tau + \theta_{ij}\right) \bigg], \qquad (5.11)$$

which is obtained by setting i' = j' = 1 in (2.16).

The measured coincidence counts are used to estimate the value of $|\theta_{ij}|$ as follows. The shape of the coincidence-versus- τ curve (5.11) depends on the values of α_{ij} and θ_{ij} . The shape does not depend on the parameters $\kappa_1, \kappa_i, \lambda_1, \lambda_i, \mu_1, \mu_j, \nu_1, \nu_j$, which lead to a constant multiplicative factor to the coincidence expression. Furthermore, the shape is unchanged under the transformation $\theta_{ij} \rightarrow -\theta_{ij}$ for $\theta_{ij} \in (-\pi, \pi]$ if the spectral functions are identical. Hence, $|\theta_{ij}|$ can be estimated using the shape of the coincidence function (5.11) and the values $\{\tilde{\alpha}_{ij}\}$ estimated using Algorithm 2. A curve-fitting algorithm estimates the value $|\tilde{\theta}_{ij}| \in [0, \pi]$ that best fits the measured coincidence counts. The calculation of $\{|\tilde{\theta}_{ij}|\}$ is detailed in Algorithm 4.

Our procedure computes the signs by using an additional $(m-1)^2$ coincidence measurements. First we arbitrarily set θ_{22} as positive

$$\operatorname{sgn}\theta_{22} = 1 \tag{5.12}$$

because of the invariance¹ of one- and two-photon statistics under complex conjugation $U \to U^*$ [69]. The signs of the remaining arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ are set using the coincidence counts between output ports $\{i, i'\}$ when photon pairs are incident at input ports $\{j, j'\}$ for a suitable choice of $\{i', j'\}$ as I describe below. The coincidence probability at the output

¹ Expectation values of Fock-state projection measurement with Fock-state inputs are unchanged under $U \to U^*$ if the spectral functions are equal $f_1(\omega) = f_2(\omega)$. Otherwise, the sign of $-\alpha_{22}$ can be ascertained using the difference in the $\tau > 0$ and $\tau < 0$ coincidence counts in $C_{2,2,1,1}(\tau)$.

Algorithm 4 ARGUMENT2PORT: Calculates the unknown complex argument in the entries of a 2×2 transformation using a two-photon coincidence curve.

Input:

- $k, \Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{k-1}, \omega_k\} \in (\mathbb{R}^+)^k \triangleright f_1, f_2$ are measured at frequencies Ω .
- $f_1, f_2: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright measured spectra.
- $\ell, T = \{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_\ell\} \in (\mathbb{R} \cup 0)^\ell$ \triangleright Time delay values coincidence is measured at.
- $C^{\exp}: T \to \mathbb{R}^+$ ▷ Measured coincidence curve.
- $A \leftarrow \{\alpha_{ij}, \alpha_{ij'}, \alpha_{i'j}, \alpha_{i'j'}\}$ \triangleright Complex amplitudes of 2×2 submatrix of A(2.9).
- $\Theta \leftarrow \{\theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{i'j'} \in (-\pi, \pi]\}$ \triangleright Three complex arguments of submatrix.

 \triangleright Mode-matching parameter of photon source. • γ

Output:

• $|\tilde{\theta}_{ij}|$ \triangleright Estimated magnitude of the unknown complex argument. 1: procedure Argument2Port $(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, C_{exp}, A, \Theta, \gamma)$

- $\boldsymbol{\Phi} \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{ \theta_{ij}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{i'j'} \}$ 2: \triangleright Set of three known phases and one unknown phase.
- 3:
- $C(\tau, \theta_{ij}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{COINCIDENCE}(\Omega, f_1, f_2, T, A, \Phi, \gamma)$ return $\tilde{\theta}_{ij} \leftarrow |\text{LM}(C(\tau, \theta_{ij}), C^{\exp}(\tau), 1/C^{\exp}(\tau))|$ 4:

 \triangleright Use curve fitting to compute the θ_{ij} value that minimizes $\frac{\sum_{\tau \in T} |C_{\exp}(\tau) - C(\tau, \gamma)|^2}{C_{\exp}(\tau)}$. 5: end procedure

ports i, i' is

$$C_{ii'jj'}(\tau) = \kappa_i \kappa_{i'} \lambda_i \lambda_{i'} \mu_j \mu_{j'} \nu_j \nu_{j'} \bigg[\left(\alpha_{ij}^2 \alpha_{i'j'}^2 + \alpha_{ij'}^2 \alpha_{i'j}^2 \right) \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 |f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2)|^2 + 2\gamma \alpha_{ij} \alpha_{ij'} \alpha_{i'j} \alpha_{i'j'} \int d\omega_1 d\omega_2 f_j(\omega_1) f_{j'}(\omega_2) f_j(\omega_2) f_{j'}(\omega_1) \times \cos \left(\omega_2 \tau - \omega_1 \tau + \beta_{ii'jj'} \right) \bigg],$$
(5.13)

where

$$\beta_{ii'jj'} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} |\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} + \theta_{ij}| \in [0, \pi].$$

$$(5.14)$$

Curve fitting is employed to estimate the value of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ that best fits the measured coincidence counts.

Algorithm 5 SIGNCALC: Calculates the complex-phase sign of an element of the 2×2 submatrix of an interferometer transformation matrix.

Input:	
• $\beta \equiv \theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} + \theta_{ij} $	\triangleright As defined in (5.15).
• $ heta_{i'j'}, heta_{ij'}, heta_{i'j}, heta_{ij} $	\triangleright Equations (5.15-5.16).
Output:	
• $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}$	\triangleright Sign of $\theta \in (-\pi, \pi]$ is defined in (5.2)
1: procedure SignCalc $(\beta, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{ij})$	
2: $\beta^+ \leftarrow \theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} + \theta_{ij} $	\triangleright If $\theta_{ij} < 0$, then $\beta = \beta^-$.
3: $\beta^- \leftarrow \theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} - \theta_{ij} $	\triangleright If $\theta_{ij} > 0$, then $\beta = \beta^+$.
4: $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij} \leftarrow \operatorname{sgn} \beta - \beta^- - \beta - \beta^+ $	
5: return sgn θ_{ij}	
6: end procedure	

The estimated value of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ is employed by Algorithm 5 to ascertain the sign of θ_{ij} . Algorithm 5 relies on the identity

$$\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij} = \operatorname{sgn} \left(\left| \beta_{ii'jj'} - \beta_{ii'jj'}^{-} \right| - \left| \beta_{ii'jj'} - \beta_{ii'jj'}^{+} \right| \right),$$
(5.15)

and on known values of

$$\beta_{ii'jj'}^{\pm} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} |\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j} \pm |\theta_{ij}||, \beta_{ii'jj'}^{\pm} \in [0,\pi]$$
(5.16)

to ascertain the sign of θ_{ij} . If the sign of θ_{ij} is positive, then $\beta_{ii'jj'} = \beta^+_{ii'jj'}$ and (5.15) returns a positive sgn θ_{ij} . Otherwise, $\beta_{ii'jj'} = \beta^-_{ii'jj'}$, in which case (5.15) gives a negative sign. Algorithm 6 iteratively chooses indices i, i', j, j' such that the signs of $\theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{i'j'}$ have already been ascertained before ascertaining the sign of θ_{ij} . In each iteration, the values of $\beta_{ii'jj'}^{\pm}$ are calculated by substituting $|\theta_{ij}|, |\theta_{ij'}|, |\theta_{i'j'}|, |g_{i'j'}|, ggn \theta_{ij'}, ggn \theta_{i'j}, ggn \theta_{i'j'}$. The algorithm estimates $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ by curve fitting measured coincidence counts to (5.13). Algorithm 5 is ascertains the sign of θ_{ij} using the estimates of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ and $\beta_{ii'jj'}^{\pm}$. One suitable ordering of indices ii'jj', which I depict in Figure 5.1, is

- set i' = 2, j' = 1 to determine sgn_{i2} for $i \in \{3, \ldots, m\}$ (Figure 5.1b),
- set i' = 1, j' = 2 to determine sgn_{2j} for $j \in \{3, \ldots, m\}$ (Figure 5.1c),
- set i' = 2, j' = 2 to determine $\operatorname{sgn}\theta_{ij}$ for $(i, j) \in \{3, \dots, m\} \times \{3, \dots, m\}$ (Figure 5.1d).

In summary, sgn θ_{ij} is determined using the values of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$, which are estimated by curve fitting and of $\beta_{ii'jj'}^{\pm}$, which are computed using the signs and amplitudes of $\theta_{ij'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{i'j'}$. Algorithms 4-6 detail the step-by-step procedure to determine the absolute values and the signs of $\{\theta_{ij}\}$.

For certain interferometers U, the ordering of indices ii'jj' depicted in Figure 5.1 can lead to instability in the characterization procedure. 5.3 elucidates on this instability and presents strategies to counter the instability. This completes our procedure to characterize the matrix A for representative matrix U = LAM. In the next subsection, I present a procedure to estimate the matrix that is most likely for the characterized matrix A.

5.1.5 Maximum-likelihood estimation for finding unitary matrix

At this stage, we have estimated the matrix A (2.9). The diagonal matrices L and M can be uniquely determined from A as follows. The representative matrix U = LAM is unitary so we have

$$UU^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}, \tag{5.17}$$

Algorithm 6 ARGUMENTCALC: Calculate $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ using two-photon coincidences

Input:

- $k, \Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{k-1}, \omega_k\} \in (\mathbb{R}^+)^k \triangleright f_1, f_2$ are measured at frequencies
- $f_1, f_2: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright measured spectra.
- $\ell, T = \{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_\ell\} \in (\mathbb{R} \cup 0)^\ell$ \triangleright Time delay values coincidence is measured at.
- $i', j \neq j'$

 \triangleright Measured coincidence at output ports i', j' when photons that have mutual delay τ are incident at input ports i, j.

- $\tilde{\alpha}: \{2,\ldots,m\} \times \{2,\ldots,m\} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright Complex amplitudes (2.9).
- $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ \triangleright Mode-matching parameter estimated using Algorithm 3.

Output:

• $\tilde{\theta}_{ij}: \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, \dots, m\} \to (-\pi, \pi]$ \triangleright Complex Arguments (2.9). 1: procedure ArgumentCALC $(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, C_{ii'jj'}^{exp}(\tau), \alpha_{ij}, \gamma)$ for i in $\{1, ..., m\}$ do 2: $\theta_{i1}, \theta_{1i}, \operatorname{sgn} \theta_{i1}, \operatorname{sgn} \theta_{1i} \leftarrow 0$ \triangleright The first row, column are real valued. 3: end for 4: for (i, j) in $\{2, ..., m\} \times \{2, ..., m\}$ do 5: $A \leftarrow \{1, 1, 1, \alpha_{qh}\}, \Phi \leftarrow \{0, 0, 0\}$ $\triangleright 2 \times 2$ matrix: rows 1, *i*, columns 1, *j*. 6: $|\tilde{\theta}_{ij}| \leftarrow \text{Argument2Port}\left(C_{1i1j}^{\exp}T, \Omega, f_1, f_2, T, A, \Phi, \gamma\right)$ 7: end for 8: $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{22} \leftarrow 1$ \triangleright The sign of θ_{22} is positive by definition. 9: for $(i, i', j, j') \in \{2\} \times \{3, \dots, m\} \times \{2\} \times \{3, \dots, m\} \cup \{1\} \times \{2\} \times \{3, \dots, m\} \cup \{1\} \times \{2\} \times \{3, \dots, m\} \cup \{1\} \times \{$ 10: $\{2\} \times \{3, \ldots, m\} \times \{1\} \times \{2\}$ do $A \leftarrow \{0, 0, 0\}, \Phi \leftarrow \{0, 0, 0\}$ 11: $\beta_{i,i',j,j'} \leftarrow \operatorname{Argument2Port}(C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau), \Omega, f_1, f_2, T, A, \Phi, \gamma)$ 12:end for 13:for i in $\{3, ..., m\}$ do 14: $\tilde{\theta}_{i2} \leftarrow |\tilde{\theta}_{i2}| \text{SIGNCALC}(\beta_{122i}, 0, \theta_{22}, 0, |\theta_{i2}|,));$ 15: $\tilde{\theta}_{2i} \leftarrow |\tilde{\theta}_{2i}| \text{SIGNCALC}(\beta_{2i12}, 0, \theta_{22}, 0, |\theta_{2i}|,));$ 16:end for 17:for (i, j) in $\{3, ..., m\} \times \{3, ..., m\}$ do 18: $\tilde{\theta}_{ij} \leftarrow |\tilde{\theta}_{ij}| \text{SIGNCALC}(\tilde{\beta}_{ii'jj'}, \theta_{22}, \theta_{i2}, \theta_{2j}, |\theta_{ij}|)$ 19:end for 20: return $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ 21: 22: end procedure



Figure 5.1: A depiction of the sign estimation procedure in Lines 9–22 of Algorithm 6. (a) The first row and first column arguments $\{\theta_{i1}\}, \{\theta_{1j}\}$ are zero, so their signs are arbitrarily set as positive. θ_{22} is set as positive according to (5.12). (b) The sign of each second row argument θ_{i2} is set using the known values $|\theta_{22}|, |\theta_{i2}|$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 1, 2 and output ports 2, *i* as in Line 15. (c) The sign of each second column argument θ_{2j} is set using the known values $|\theta_{22}|, |\theta_{2j}|$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, *j* and output ports 1, 2 as in Line 16 of Algorithm 6. (d) The signs of each remaining argument θ_{ij} is set using the known values $|\theta_{22}|, |\theta_{2j}|$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, *j* and output ports 1, 2 as in Line 16 of Algorithm 6. (d) The signs of each remaining argument θ_{ij} is set using the known values $|\theta_{22}|, |\theta_{i2}|, |\theta_{2j}|$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, *j* and output ports 1, 2 as in Line 16 of Algorithm 6. (d) The signs of each remaining argument θ_{ij} is set using the known values $|\theta_{22}|, |\theta_{i2}|, |\theta_{2j}|$ and coincidence measurement for input ports 2, *j* and output ports 2, *i* in Line 19 of Algorithm 6.

which, upon substitution U = LAM, implies that

$$LAMM^*A^{\dagger}L^* = 1$$

$$\implies AMM^*A^{\dagger} = L^{-1}L^{*-1}.$$
 (5.18)

Considering the first columns of the matrices (5.18) gives

$$A_{ij}M_{jj}^{*}M_{jj}A_{j1}^{\dagger} = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ \vdots\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.19)

or

$$A \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1 \\ \mu_2 \\ \vdots \\ \mu_m \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.20)

Similarly, using $U^{\dagger}U = 1$ we obtain

$$A^{\dagger} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\\lambda_{2}\\ \vdots\\\lambda_{m} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{\mu_{1}} \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\ \vdots\\0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.21)

Equations (5.20) and (5.21) are systems of linear equations that can be solved for L and Mrespectively using standard methods [111]. The solutions L and M of the linear systems and the characterized matrix A give us the representative matrix U = LAM.

Algorithm 7	MaxLikelyUni	TARY: Cal	culates unita	ry matrix	that has	3 maximum
likelihood of ge	enerating estimate	d $\{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_i\}$	$_{j}\}$			

Input:

- $\tilde{\alpha}: \{1, \ldots, m\} \times \{1, \ldots, m\} \to \mathbb{R}^+ \cup 0 \triangleright$ Estimated amplitudes of A (2.9).
- $\tilde{\theta}: \{1, \ldots, m\} \times \{1, \ldots, m\} \to (-\pi, \pi] \triangleright \text{Estimated arguments of } A (2.9).$

Output:

• $W \in SU(n) \triangleright$ Unitary matrix with maximum likelihood of generating A. 1: procedure MAXLIKELYUNITARY $(\alpha_{ij}, \theta_{ij})$ $\lambda_1 \leftarrow 1$ 2:

- 3:
- $\{\tilde{\mu}_i : i \in \{1, \dots, m\}\} \leftarrow$ solution of system (5.20) of linear equations. $\{\tilde{\lambda}_i : i \in \{2, \dots, m\}\} \leftarrow$ solution of system (5.21) of linear equations. 4:
- $\tilde{U}_{ij} \leftarrow \tilde{\lambda}_i \tilde{\alpha}_{ij} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\tilde{\theta}_{ij}} \tilde{\mu}_j$ 5:
- $W \leftarrow (\tilde{U}\tilde{U}^{\dagger})^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{U} \triangleright \text{Assumption: } U_{ij} \tilde{U}_{ij} \text{ is an iid Gaussian random variable with}$ 6: zero mean for all $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$.
- 7: end procedure

The experimentally determined A is different from the actual A because of random and systematic error in the experiment, where I denote the experimentally determined values of interferometer parameter \bullet by $\tilde{\bullet}$. Similarly, the \tilde{L} and \tilde{M} matrices obtained by solving Equations (5.20) and (5.21) for \tilde{A} (rather than A) differ from the actual L and M respectively. The estimated $\tilde{U} = \tilde{L}\tilde{A}\tilde{M}$ is thus a non-unitary matrix and is not equal to U in general. Furthermore, \tilde{U} is a random matrix, which depends on the random errors in the one- and two-photon experimental data.

We employ maximum-likelihood estimation to calculate the unitary matrix W that best fits the collected data. First, bootstrapping techniques are used to estimate the probability-density functionpdf of the entries of the random matrix \tilde{U} [112, 113]. Next, standard methods in maximum-likelihood estimation [114] are employed to find the unitary matrix W. Maximumlikelihood estimation simplifies under the assumption that the error on \tilde{U} is a Gaussian random matrix ensemble, i.e, that the matrix entries $\{\tilde{U}_{ij}\}$ are complex independent and identically distributed (iid) Gaussian random variables centred at the correct matrix entries. In this case, the most likely unitary matrix W is the one that minimizes the Frobenius distance from \tilde{U} [115]. The unitary matrix

$$W = \left(\tilde{U}\tilde{U}^{\dagger}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{U},\tag{5.22}$$

minimizes the Frobenius distance from \tilde{U} [116]. Thus, if the random errors $\{U_{ij} - \tilde{U}_{ij}\}$ in the matrix elements are iid Gaussian random variables with mean zero, then W is the best-fit unitary matrix. Figure 5.2 is a depiction of the actual, the estimated and the most likely transformation matrices. Algorithm 7 computes W.

This completes our procedure to estimate the most-likely unitary matrix W that represents the linear optical interferometer. In the next section, I present a procedure to estimate the error bars on the entries of the estimated representative matrix W accurately.

5.1.6 Bootstrapping to estimate error bars (Algorithm 8)

In this section, I present a procedure to estimate the error bars on the matrix entries $\{W_{ij}\}$ of the characterized representative matrix W. The entries $\{W_{ij}\}$ computed by Algorithms 1–7 are random variables because of random error in experiments. Obtaining accurate error bars on these random variables is important for using characterized linear optical interferometers in quantum computation and communication. Current procedures compute error bars under the assumption that Poissonian shot noise is the only source of error in experiment [38, 40].

We choose to employ bootstrapping on the data determine error bars [112, 113, 117-119].



Figure 5.2: A depiction of the error in reconstruction of the interferometer matrix U. The matrix U represents the unitary transformation effected by the interferometer. \tilde{U} is the complex-valued transformation matrix returned by the reconstruction procedure. Algorithm 7 returns W, which represents the unitary matrix that is most likely to have generated the data collected in the characterization experiment.

Monte-Carlo simulation is widely used but this technique is not applicable here because the Poissonian shot noise assumption is not reliable given the presence of other sources of error some of which are not understood. Bootstrapping is preferred because the nature of the error need not be characterized and instead relies on random sampling with replacement from the measured data. Bootstrapping can be employed to yield estimators such as bias, variance and error bars.

Algorithm 8 calculates the error bars $\sigma(W_{ij})$ using estimates of the $\{W_{ij}\}$ pdf's, which are obtained using bootstrapping as follows. The algorithm simulates N characterization experiments using the one- and two-photon data, i.e., the inputs to Algorithms 1–7. In each of the N rounds, the one- and two-photon data are randomly sampled with replacement (resampled) to generate simulated data. The data thus simulated are given as inputs to Algorithms 1–7, which return the simulated representative matrices

$$\left\{ W^{\prime b} : b \in \{1, \dots, N\}, N \in \mathbb{Z}^+ \right\}.$$
(5.23)

The pdf's of the simulated-matrix entries $\{W_{ij}^{\prime b} : b \in \{1, \ldots, N\}\}$ converge to the pdf's of the respective elements $\{W_{ij}\}$ for large enough N [120, 121].

The simulated data are obtained in each round by resampling from the one- and twophoton experimental data as follows. Single-photon detection counts are simulated by resampling from the set $\{N_{ijb_j} : b_j \in \{1, ..., B\}\}$ of experimental detection counts (Line 17 of Algorithm 8). Two-photon coincidence counts are simulated by shuffling residuals obtained on curve-fitting experimental data. Specifically, the algorithm (Line 12) resamples from the set

$$\{r(\tau) = C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau) - C_{ii'jj'}(\tau) : \tau \in T\}$$
(5.24)

of residuals obtained by fitting experimentally measured coincidence counts to function $C_{ii'jj'}(\tau)$ (2.16). The resampled residuals are added to the fitted curve to generate the simulated data (Line 14).² Algorithms 1–7 are used to obtain the simulated elements W_{ij} of the representative matrix. Finally, the error bars on the $\{W_{ij}\}$ are estimated by the standard deviation of the pdf of the elements.

This completes the characterization of representative matrix W and the error bars on its elements. The next section details a procedure for the scattershot characterization of the interferometer to reduce the experimental time required for characterizing a given interferometer.

5.2 Scattershot characterization for reduction in experimental time

In this section, I present a scattershot-based characterization approach to effect a reduction in the characterization time [57, 124]. Our scattershot approach reduces the time required to characterize an *m*-mode interferometer from $O(m^4)$ to $O(m^2)$ with constant error in the interferometer-matrix entries.

² The pdf of the residuals is different for different values of τ . We assume that the pdf's for different τ are of the same functional form, albeit with different widths. The distribution of the residuals for different values of τ are determined using standard methods for non-parametric estimation of residual distribution [122, 123]. Algorithm 8 normalizes the residuals before resampling from the residual distribution.

Input:

- $k, \Omega, f_1, f_2 : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright Spectral functions: same as Algorithm 3.
- $\ell, T = \{\tau_1, \tau_2, \dots, \tau_\ell\} \in (\mathbb{R} \cup 0)^\ell$ \triangleright Time delay values.
- $m, C^{\text{cal}}(\tau), C^{\exp}_{ii'jj'}(\tau)$ for $\tau \in T$ and $(i, i', j, j') \triangleright$ Same as Algorithms 3 and 6.
- $B, N_{ijb_j} : \{1, \ldots, m\} \times \{1, \ldots, m\} \times \{1, \ldots, B\} \to \mathbb{Z}^+$ as in Algorithm 2.
- \triangleright Number of bootstrapping samples. • N

Output:

• $\sigma(\operatorname{re} W_{ij}), \sigma(\operatorname{im} W_{ij}) : \{1, \ldots, m\} \times \{1, \ldots, m\} \to \mathbb{R}^+$ \triangleright Error in W elements.

1: procedure BOOTSTRAP
$$(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, \gamma, C_{ii'ij'}^{exp}(\tau), \theta_{ij}, B, N_{iib}, N)$$

- $A \leftarrow \{\cos\vartheta, \sin\vartheta, \sin\vartheta, \cos\vartheta\}, \Phi \leftarrow \{0, \pi/2, \pi/2, 0\}$ 2:
- 3:
- $\operatorname{Residuals^{cal}}(\tau) \leftarrow C^{cal}(\tau) \operatorname{COINCIDENCE}(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, A, \Theta, \gamma)$ NormalResiduals^{cal}(τ) $\leftarrow \frac{\operatorname{Residuals^{cal}}(\tau)}{C^{\operatorname{fit}}(\tau)} \qquad \triangleright \operatorname{Assumption: Residual}(\tau)$ \triangleright Assumption: Residuals^{cal}(τ) pdf width 4: $\propto C^{\rm fit}(\tau)$

5: **for**
$$(i, i', j, j') \in \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\}, i \neq i', j \neq j'$$
 do

- $A \leftarrow \{\alpha_{i'j'}, \alpha_{ij}, \alpha_{ij'}, \alpha_{ij}\}, \Phi \leftarrow \{\theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{ij'}\}$ 6:
- $C_{ii'jj'}^{\text{fit}} \leftarrow \text{COINCIDENCE}(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, A, \Theta, \gamma)$ 7:

- end for 10:
- for n = 1 to N do 11:
- ShuffledNormalResiduals^{cal} (τ) 12: \leftarrow Resample |T|residuals from NormalResiduals^{cal} (τ)
- ShuffledResidual^{cal}(τ) $\leftarrow C^{\text{fit}}(\tau) \times \text{ShuffledNormalResiduals}^{cal}(\tau)$ 13:

14:
$$C^n(\tau) = C^{\text{fit}}(\tau) + \text{ShuffledResidual}(\tau)$$

 $\gamma^n \leftarrow \text{CALIBRATION}(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, C^{\text{b}}, \vartheta)$ 15:

16: for
$$(i, i', j, j') \in \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\}, i \neq i', j \neq j'$$
 do

 $\alpha_{ij}^n \leftarrow \text{MEAN}\sqrt{N_{11b_1}N_{ijb_j}/N_{1jb_j}N_{i1b_1}}$ from B values each of b_1, b_j drawn with 17:replacement from $\{1, \ldots, B\}$

```
ShuffledNormalResiduals<sub>ii'jj'</sub>(\tau) \leftarrow |T| entries in NormalResiduals<sub>ii'jj'</sub>(\tau)
18:
                       ShuffledResidual<sub>ii'ij'</sub>(\tau) \leftarrow C_{ii'ij'}^{\text{fit}}(\tau) \times \text{ShuffledNormalResiduals}_{ii'jj'}(\tau)
19:
```

20:
$$C_{ii'jj'}^{n}(\tau) = C_{ii'jj'}^{\text{fit}}(\tau) + \text{ShuffledResidual}_{ii'jj'}(\tau)$$

22:
$$\{\theta_{ij}^n\} = \operatorname{ArgumentCalc}(k, \Omega, f_1, f_2, \ell, T, C_{ii'jj'}^n(\tau), \alpha_{ij}, \gamma)$$

- $\{W_{ij}^{\prime b}\} = MAXLIKELYUNITARY(\{\alpha_{ij}^n\}, \{\theta_{ij}^n\})$ 23:
- end for 24:

```
for (i, j) in \{1, ..., m\} \times \{1, ..., m\} do
25:
```

26:
$$\sigma(\operatorname{re} W_{ij}) = \operatorname{std.} \operatorname{dev.} (\{\operatorname{re} W_{ij}\}); \ \sigma(\operatorname{im} W_{ij}) = \operatorname{std.} \operatorname{dev.} (\{\operatorname{im} W_{ij}\})$$

28: end procedure

The straightforward approach of characterization involves coupling and decoupling light sources successively for each one- and two-photon measurement. In contrast, the scattershot characterization relies on coupling heralded nondeterministic single-photon sources to each of the input ports of the interferometer and detectors to each of the output ports. Controllable time delays are introduced at two input ports, which are labelled as the first and second ports. All sources and detectors are switched on and the controllable time-delay values are changed first for the first port and then for the second port.

Single-photon data are collected by selecting the events in which exactly one of the heralding detectors and exactly one of the output detectors register a photon simultaneously. Two-photon coincidence events at the outputs are counted when two heralding detectors register photons. The controllable time delays introduced at the first and second input ports ensure that each of the $2(m-1)^2$ coincidence measurements is performed. Note that our characterization procedure (Algorithms 1–8) yields accurate estimates of interferometer parameters even when photon sources with different spectral functions are used. In summary, the required characterization data are collected by selectively recording one- and two-photon events. The setup for the scattershot characterization of an interferometer is depicted in Figure 5.3.

Now I quantify the experimental time required in the characterization of a linear optical interferometer. Our characterization procedure requires Bm^2 single-photon counting measurements and $2(m-1)^2$ coincidence-counting measurements to characterize an *m*-mode interferometer. We estimate the time required for each of these measurements such that random errors in the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_{ij}\}$ estimates remain unchanged with increasing *m*. To ensure constant error in the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}, \{\theta_{ij}\}$ estimates, we require that the number of one- and two-photon detection counts remain unchanged with increasing *m*. The probability of photon detection at the output decreases with increasing *m* because of the concomitant decrease in the transmission amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$.



Figure 5.3: Schematic diagram of the procedure for scattershot characterization of a fivemode interferometer U. Heralded single-photon sources are coupled to the inputs of the interferometer and controllable time delays are introduced at the first two ports. All sources and detectors are switched on and the controllable time delay values are changed for the first port and then for the second port. The required characterization data are collected by selectively recording one- and two-photon events.

The amplitudes $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ drop as O $(1/\sqrt{m})$ because of the unitarity of U [5]. Hence, oneand two-photon transmission probabilities (2.14,2.16) decrease as 1/m and $1/m^2$, respectively. More photons need to be incident at the interferometer input ports to offset this decrease in transmission probabilities. Therefore, maintaining a constant standard deviation in the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}\$ and $\{\theta_{ij}\}\$ measurements requires O (m) and O (m^2) scaling respectively in the number of incident photons, which amounts to an overall O (m^4) scaling in the experimental time requirement. Scattershot characterization allows $(m-1)^2$ different sets of the one- and two-photon data to be collected in parallel thereby reducing the time required to characterize the interferometer by a factor of $(m-1)^2$. The overall time required for the characterization decreases from O (m^4) to O (m^2) if the scattershot approach is employed.

Our analysis of scattershot characterization assumes that the coupling losses are small and that weak single-photon sources are used, i.e., that the probability of multi-photon emissions from the heralded sources is small as compared to single-photon emission probabilities. These assumptions are expected to hold for on-chip implementations of linear optics that have integrated single-photon sources and detectors. Light sources used at each input port in our scattershot-based characterization procedure differ spectrally in generally. Our characterization procedure is accurate despite this difference because we measure source-field spectra and using these data in the curve-fitting procedure.

We have developed the scattershot approach which has advantages and disadvantages but on balance is a superior experimental approach to consecutive measurement. The advantage is that the time requirement for characterization if reduced by a factor that scales as $O(m^2)$. The disadvantage is the overhead of requiring one source at each input port and one detector at each output port. The disadvantage is not daunting because these requirements are commensurate with other active investigations of QIP such as LOQC and scattershot BosonSampling. In fact, state of the art implementations [57] meet our increased requirements for scattershot characterization.

5.3 Removal of instability in sgn θ_{ij} estimation

In this section, I describe an instability in our characterization procedure, which can yield large error in the $\{W_{ij}\}$ output for small error in the experimental data $C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau)$ in case of certain interferometers W. We present a strategy to circumvent this instability by means of collecting and processing additional experimental data.

The instability in the characterization procedure arises because of an instability in estimation of {sgn θ_{ij} } (Algorithm 5). Small error in the measured coincidence counts can lead to the wrong inference of sgn θ_{ij} , which can lead to a large error ||W - U|| in the characterized matrix W. Recall that Algorithm 5 uses the identity sgn $\theta_{ij} = \text{sgn} \left(\left| \beta_{ii'jj'} - \beta^+_{ii'jj'} \right| - \left| \beta_{ii'jj'} - \beta^-_{ii'jj'} \right| \right)$ (5.15) to determine the sign of the arguments, where $\beta^{\pm}_{ii'jj'} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} |\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{ij'} \pm |\theta_{ij}||$ and the values of $\beta_{ii'jj'}, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{ij'}, |\theta_{ij}|$ are estimated by curve fitting.

Random and systematic error in measured coincidence counts can lead to estimate of variables $\beta_{ii'jj'}, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{i'j}, \theta_{ij'}, |\theta_{ij}|$ differing from their actual values. The estimation of sgn θ_{ij} is unstable if the $\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{i'j} - \theta_{ij'}$ term (5.15) is close to 0 or π because, in this case, a small



Figure 5.4: An illustration of the instability in the θ_{ij} characterization procedure for an interferometer with m = 5 modes. (a) If the value of $|\theta_{22} - \theta_{52} - \theta_{24}|$ is close to 0 or π , then small error in $C_{2524}^{\exp}(\tau)$ can lead to an error in the estimation of $\operatorname{sgn}(\theta_{54})$. (b) The instability in the θ_{54} can be removed by collecting two-photon coincidence data for output ports 2, 5 and input ports 3, 4, and using the values of $\theta_{23}, \theta_{53}, \theta_{24}$ instead of $\theta_{22}, \theta_{52}, \theta_{24}$ values.

error in the $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ estimate can lead to an incorrect sgn θ_{ij} estimate. In other words, the sign estimates are unstable if the values of

$$\theta_{ii'jj'}^{\text{ref}} = \min\left[\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j}, \pi - (\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{i'j})\right], \qquad (5.25)$$

are small compared to the error in our $\beta_{ii'jj'}, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{ij'}, |\theta_{ij}|$ estimates.

We mitigate the sign-inference instability by making two modifications to our characterization procedure; the first modification removes instability from the sign-inference of the second row and second column elements whereas the second modification prevents incorrect inference of the remaining signs. The inference of $\{\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{i2}\}, \{\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{2j}\}$ (Lines 14–17, Figures 5.1b, 5.1c) is unstable if

$$\theta_{i2j2}^{\text{ref}} = \min(\theta_{22}, \pi - \theta_{22}) \tag{5.26}$$

is small as compared to the error in the $\beta_{i_{2j_2}}, \theta_{22}, \theta_{2j}, \theta_{i_2}, |\theta_{i_j}|$ estimates. Hence, we relabel the interferometer ports such that θ_{22} is as far away from 0 and π as possible. Specifically, after the amplitudes of the phases have been estimated (Line 8 of Algorithm 6), we choose i, jfor which $|\theta_{ij} - \pi/2|$ is minimum, and we swap the labels of input ports 2, j and output ports 2, i. We measure two-photon coincidence counts based on this new labelling and process it using Algorithm 6. The instability in the procedure for estimation of the $\{\theta_{i2}\}, \{\theta_{2j}\}$ signs is removed as a result of the relabelling.

The second modification is aimed at removing the instability in the remaining signs. The procedure estimates the remaining signs by using $\{C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau)\}$ values for i' = j' = 2. The estimation of θ_{ij} is unstable if $\theta_{i2j2}^{\text{ref}}$ is small as compared to the error in the $\beta_{i2j2}, \theta_{22}, \theta_{2j}, \theta_{i2}, |\theta_{ij}|$ estimates. We make a heuristic choice of a threshold angle θ^{T} that accounts for the error in these variables, and we reject any $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}$ inferred using $\theta_{i2j2}^{\text{ref}} \leq \theta^{\text{T}}$. Additional two-photon coincidence counting is performed and employed to estimate these values of θ_{ij} , as detailed in the following lines that can be added to the algorithm to remove the instability

17 + 1: for (i, j) in $\{3, ..., m\} \times \{3, ..., m\}$ do

2: if
$$\theta_{i2i2}^r < \theta_T$$
 then

3: Choose $i' \neq 1, i$ and $j' \neq 1, j$ such that $|\theta_{i'j'} - \theta_{ij'} - \theta_{j'j}|$ is closest to $\pi/2$.

4: $C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau) \leftarrow \text{Coincidence counts for input ports } j, j' \text{ and output ports } i, i'.$

5: $A \leftarrow \{0, 0, 0\}, \Phi \leftarrow \{0, 0, 0\}$

6:
$$\beta_{ii'jj'} \leftarrow \text{Argument2Port}(C^{\exp}_{ii'jj'}(\tau), \Omega, f_1, f_2, T, A, \Phi, \gamma)$$

7:
$$\theta_{ij} \leftarrow \theta_{ij} \text{SIGNCALC}(\beta_{ii'jj'}, \theta_{i'j'}, \theta_{ij'}, \theta_{ij'}, |\theta_{ij}|)$$

8: end if

9: end for

Figure 5.4 illustrates the rejection of those i, j choices for which $\theta_{i2j2}^{\text{ref}} \leq \theta^{\text{T}}$ and the use of $C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau), j' \neq 2$ counts to obtain a correct estimate of $\operatorname{sgn} \theta_{ij}$. We thus remove the instability in the estimation of $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ and in the estimation of the representative matrix W.

5.4 Summary of procedure and discussions

In this section, I summarize our characterization procedure for a less formally oriented audience. We describe the processing of the collected experimental data by the various algorithms presented in Section 5.1. We compare our procedure with the existing procedure for the characterization of linear optics using one- and two-photon interference [69]. We provide numerical evidence that our characterization procedure promises enhanced accuracy and precision even in the presence of shot noise and mode mismatch.

The experimental data required by our procedure to characterize an *m*-mode interferometer includes the following one- and two-photon measurements. The number N_{ijb_j} (5.1) of single-photon detection events is counted at the *j*-th output port when single photons are incident at the *i*-th input port. This single-photon counting is repeated *B* times for each of the input ports and output ports, where *B* is chosen such that the cumulants of the set $\{N_{ijb_j} : b_j \in \{1, \ldots, B\}\}$ converge. The single-photon counts $\{N_{ijb_j}\}$ are received by Algorithm 2, which returns the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ (2.9) estimates using Equation (5.6).

The spectral function $f_j(\omega)$ (2.12) of the light incident at each input port j is measured. This function is used by Algorithm 1 to calculate the expected two-photon coincidence curves using Equation (2.16). Fitting experimental data to these coincidence curves yields an accurate estimate of the mode-matching parameter during calibration and the arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ in the argument-estimation procedure. Thus, the spectral function $f_j(\omega)$ serves as an input to the algorithms for the estimation of the mode-matching parameter and of the arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ (Algorithms 3–6).

The mode-matching parameter γ is estimated by performing coincidence measurement on a beam splitter that is separate from the interferometer but is constructed using the same material. First, we use single-photon data to estimate the reflectivity $\cos \vartheta$ of the beam splitter according to Equation (5.9). Imperfect mode-matching changes the shape of the coincidence curve, and we find γ by comparing the shapes of (i) the curve expected for reflectivity $\cos \vartheta$ and (ii) the curve obtained experimentally. The estimated beam splitter reflectivity, the measured spectra and the coincidence counts are received as inputs by Algorithm 3, which returns an estimate of γ .

Algorithm 6 uses two-photon coincidence counts to estimate the arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$. Coincidence counts are measured for the input ports j, j' and output ports i, i' for the $2(m-1)^2$ sets

$$(i, i', j, j') \in \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\} \times \{1, 2\} \times \{1, \dots, m\}, \quad i \neq i', j \neq j'$$
(5.27)

of input and output ports. In other words, coincidence counts are measured for different choices of two input ports and two output ports, such that each of the choices includes (i) either the first or the second input ports and (ii) either the first or the second output port. Algorithm 6 receives as input the measured spectra, the $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ values estimated by Algorithm 2, the γ value estimated by Algorithm 3 and the two-photon coincidence data for the choice (5.27) of input ports. The algorithm returns the $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ estimates. The computed estimates of $\{\alpha_{ij}\}$ and of $\{\theta_{ij}\}$ yield the representative unitary matrix W (5.22) that has maximum likelihood of describing the characterized interferometer (Algorithm 7). This completes a summary of our procedure for characterization of the interferometer.

Algorithm 8 employs bootstrapping to find the error bars on the elements $\{W_{ij}\}$ of the characterized unitary matrix. The bootstrapping procedure uses the experimental data that is received by Algorithms 1–7 and repeatedly simulates experiments by resampling from the experimental data. The number N of repetitions is chosen such that the pdf's of the $\{W_{ij}\}$ elements over many rounds of simulation converge. The error bars on the $\{W_{ij}\}$ elements are computed based on the estimated pdf's of the elements. Our procedure thus enables the estimation of meaningful error bars on the characterized unitary matrix.

Bootstrapping is employed to test the goodness of fit between the experimental curve and expected curves [125]. Experiments [28,71] can employ bootstrapping instead of the incorrect χ^2 -confidence measure to test if the data are consistent with quantum predictions or with the classical theory.

Finally, we recommend a scattershot approach for reducing the experimental time required to characterize interferometers. The approach involves coupling heralded nondeterministic single-photon sources at each of the input ports and single-photon detectors at each of the output ports. All the sources and the detectors are switched on in parallel. Single-photon counts are recorded selectively as two-photon coincidences between the heralding detectors and the output detectors, whereas two-photon events are recorded when two heralding detectors and two output detectors record photons. Controllable time delays are introduced at the first and second input ports so coincidences between each of the $2(m-1)^2$ choices (5.27) of input and output ports are recorded. The scattershot approach reduces the experimental time required to characterize an *m*-mode interferometer from O (m^4) to O (m^2) .

Now we compare and contrast our procedure with the Laing-O'Brien procedure [69]. Our procedure is inspired by the Laing-O'Brien procedure in that it employs (i) a 'real-bordered' parameterization (2.9) of the representative matrix and modelling of linear losses at the interferometer ports, (ii) a ratio of single-photon data to estimate the complex amplitudes of the matrix elements and (iii) an iterative procedure that uses two-photon data to estimate the amplitudes of the complex arguments and to estimate the signs of the complex arguments.

Our procedure differs from the Laing-O'Brien [69] procedure in that we use averaged value (5.6) of the ratio of single-photon detections over many runs rather than the ratio of averaged values. This difference ensures accuracy of our procedure even under fluctuation in the number of incoming photons. Such fluctuations might arise from fluctuations in pump strength of the single photon source or in the strength of coupling between photon source and interferometer.

Another advance in our method is the curve-fitting procedure for estimating complex arguments of interferometer matrices. The Laing-O'Brien procedure requires coincidencecurve visibilities to estimate complex arguments α_{ij} . Whereas the Laing-O'Brien procedure recommends coincidence probabilities be measured at zero time delay and also at time delays large as compared to the temporal spread of the wave-packet, in practice, current implementations determine the visibilities by fitting experimental data to Gaussian curves [52, 55, 126–129]. These implementations are flawed because source spectra differ from Gaussian in general. Our procedure is accurate because the data are fit to curves computed from spectral functions, rather than fitting to Gaussians.

We introduce the calibration subroutine, which relies on the estimation of the mode mismatch in the source field. Spatial and polarization mode mismatch is not an issue of major concern in waveguide-based interferometers, which typically operate in the single-photon regime. In these interferometers, the calibration step of our procedure can be neglected without decreasing accuracy. The mode-mismatch parameter γ , which is an input of the curve-fitting procedure, is set to unity.

In the context of bulk-optics, our calibration step ensures accuracy and precision if (i) γ is identified as the maximum-possible source overlap in the spatial and polarization degrees of freedom and (ii) the experimentalist adjusts the setup to maximize coincidence visibility for the calibrating beam splitter and for each choice of interferometer inputs ports. Such an adjustment will ensure that the source overlap acquires its maximum-possible value γ in each of the coincidence-curve measurements. This maximum value is a property of the sources used and is independent of source alignment and focus so is expected to remain unchanged between different confidence measurements.

Other advances made in our characterization procedure over existing procedures include (i) a maximum likelihood estimation approach to determine the unitary matrix that best fits the data (ii) a bootstrapping based procedure to obtain meaningful estimates of precision and (iii) a scattershot-based procedure to improve the experimental requirements of characterization.

5.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, we devise a one- and two-photon interference procedure to characterize any linear optical interferometer accurately and precisely. Our procedure provides an algorithmic method for recording experimental data and computing the representative transformation matrix with known error.

The procedure accounts for systematic errors due to spatiotemporal mode mismatch in the source field by means of a calibration step and corrects these errors using an estimate of the mode-matching parameter. We measure the spectral function of the incoming light to achieve good fitting between the expected and measured coincidence counts, thereby achieving high precision in characterized matrix elements. We introduce a scattershot approach to effect a reduction in the experimental requirement for the characterization of interferometer. The error bars on the characterized parameters are estimated using bootstrapping statistics.

Bootstrapping computes accurate error bars even when the form of experimental error is unknown and is, thus, advantageous over the Monte Carlo method. Hence, our bootstrappingbased procedure for estimating error bars can replace the Monte Carlo method used in existing linear-optics characterization procedures. We thus open the possibility of applying bootstrapping statistics for the accurate estimation of error bars in photonic state and process tomography.

Chapter 6

Numerical and experimental verification of accurate and precise characterization of linear optics

This chapter presents experimental and numerical evidence of the accuracy and precision of our characterization procedure that was detailed in the preceding chapter. Section 6.1 comprises numerical simulations to compare our procedure with existing procedures. Section 6.2 presents experimental data comparing the accuracy and precision of our procedure with existing procedures.

The majority of the material in Section 6.1 is taken from my article [2] that I co-authored with Abdullah Khalid, He Lu and Barry C. Sanders. Those parts that are reproduced verbatim from our journal paper are listed in "Thesis content previously published". A manuscript reporting the experimental verification presented in Section 6.2 is in preparation.

6.1 Numerical verification

This section comprises the methods and results of the numerical simulations performed to verify the accuracy and precision of our characterization procedure as compared to existing procedures. We simulated one- and two-photon data using experimentally measured spectra and performed characterization many times using different procedures. Our procedure showed substantial advantage over alternative characterization procedures. I detail the methods employed in our numerical simulations in Section 6.1.1 before presenting the results of the simulation in Section 6.1.2.

6.1.1 Numerical verification: Methods

Here I detail the numerical methods employed to compare the accuracy of our procedure with existing procedures. We repeatedly simulated experimental data for randomly sampled interferometer matrices, simulated characterization on the sampled interferometer and computed the error between the expected and characterized interferometer matrices.

Two aspects in which our procedure differs from the Laing-O'Brien procedure are that we fit to curves calculated from experimental spectra rather than to Gaussian, and that we perform calibration to estimate the mode mismatch rather than assuming perfect mode matching. In these simulations we test the efficacy of our characterization procedure as compared to characterizing without calibration and characterizing by fitting to Gaussian. Specifically, I repeated following step-by-step procedure 1000 times.

- 1. Generate a random unitary matrix W sampled uniformly from the Haar measure using a QR-decomposition based procedure [130].
- 2. Simulate single-photon detection data by computing single photon transmission probabilities (2.14) and sampling under Poissonian shot noise assumption.
- 3. Simulate two-photon coincidence data by computing two-photon coincidence probabilities (2.16) and assuming Poissonian shot noise. The simulated twophoton coincidence data comprises the coincidence measurements performed for calibration (Algorithm 3) and for argument estimation (Algorithm 6). Use experimentally measured spectral functions to simulate coincidence rates for different values of time-delay.
- 4. Process simulated experimental data using Algorithms 1–8 to obtain the characterized representative unitary matrix \tilde{W}_{Acc} . Use experimentally obtained spectra in the calibration and argument estimation algorithms.

- 5. Process same data using Algorithms 1–8 but without calibration, i.e., artificially setting mode-matching parameter $\gamma = 1$, to obtain the characterized representative unitary matrix \tilde{W}_{NoCal} . Use experimentally obtained spectra in the calibration and argument estimation algorithms.
- 6. Process same data using Algorithms 1–8 but using Gaussian fitting function, i.e., using Gaussian spectra as inputs to the calibration and argument estimation algorithms, to obtain the characterized representative unitary matrix \tilde{W}_{Gauss} .
- 7. Find the error

$$\varepsilon_i = \operatorname{dist}(W, \tilde{W}_i) \tag{6.1}$$

in the three procedures that are labelled by index i and are described in steps 4–6 above. The operator list(\bullet, \bullet') refers to the trace distance between the two matrices \bullet and \bullet'

We compare (i) the mean error (6.1) incurred from our characterization procedure and the Gaussian-fitting procedure for different values of Poissonian shot noise and (ii) the mean error incurred by our procedure with and without calibration for different values of mode-matching parameter γ . The results of these comparisons are presented in the next section.

In summary, we used experimental spectral data to repeatedly generate one- and twophoton measurement data for interferometer matrices sampled randomly from the Haar measure. Poissonian shot noise was simulated on the generated data. The data were used as inputs to our characterization procedure and to existing procedures. The error in the characterization was computed as the trace distance between the actual and the characterized interferometer transformation matrix for each set of simulated data.

6.1.2 Numerical verification: Result

Here I present the results of the numerical simulation by comparing the accuracy of our procedure with the accuracy of existing procedures. First, we compared the error in character-



Figure 6.1: The fitting of coincidence data to curves obtained from spectra using (2.16) and to Gaussian functions. Coincidence counts are simulated using experimentally measured spectra.

ization using our curve-fitting procedure, which relies on experimentally measured spectra for calculating fitting curves, and the standard practice of fitting to Gaussians [52, 55, 126–129]. Figure 6.1 illustrates the distinction between fitting experimental coincidence counts to the coincidence function (2.16) simulated using spectra and fitting to Gaussian functions. Figure 6.2 demonstrates the increase in accuracy and precision of characterization by using the correct curve-fitting function.

Next we demonstrate the increase in accuracy by employing the calibration subroutine. Figure 6.3 depicts how imperfect mode matching, i.e., $\gamma < 1$, alters the observed twophoton coincidence counts. Our calibration procedure estimates and accounts for imperfect mode matching, which is assumed to be constant over the runtime of the characterization experiment.

We simulated the characterization experiment for different values of γ using (i) our calibration procedure and (ii) our calibration procedure without the calibration subroutine,



Figure 6.2: A plot showing the effect of fitting-curve choice on the accuracy and precision of the characterization procedure. The two curves depict the mean error for the two different choices of fitting curves, where the error is the trace distance between the expected and the actual unitary transformations and the mean is over 1000 simulated characterization experiments. One- and two-photon interference data was simulated for a five-channel interferometer using experimentally measured spectra and simulated Poissonian shot-noise. Characterization was performed by fitting coincidence curves to Gaussians (red curve) and to correct curves according to our procedure (blue curve). MATLAB code for the simulations depicted in this figure is available on GitHub.

i.e., by artificially setting $\gamma = 1$. Figure 6.4 presents such this comparison for different values of γ . Observe that even for almost perfect mode matching ($\gamma = 0.99$), our calibration procedure reduces characterization error by one order of magnitude. This completes our numerical verification of the advantage offered by our characterization procedure.

6.2 Experimental verification of beam splitter characterization

This section presents experimental results verifying the accuracy and precision of our characterization procedure. The experiment was performed at the Shanghai branch of the University



Figure 6.3: Plots of coincidence probability versus time delay for different values of γ for a lossless balanced beam splitter. The time delay τ is in units inverse special width of incoming photons.

of Science and Technology of China, and a manuscript reporting these results is in preparation.

The experiments involved the characterization of a two-channel interferometer (beam splitter) using our procedure and existing procedures. The collected data were used to test (i) the assumption that the mode-matching parameter γ is constant over different characterization experiments (Section 6.2.1) and (ii) our claims [2] that our characterization procedure yields a more accurate characterization of linear optical interferometers (Section 6.2.2).

6.2.1 Testing the constant γ assumption

Our characterization procedure assumes that the mode-matching parameter is unchanged over different characterization experiments. Here I present experimental evidence for the validity of this assumption.

We estimate γ for four beam splitters using two-photon coincidence curves and reflectivity values ascertained from single-photon transmission data. Our experimental procedure is as follows.



Figure 6.4: A plot showing the effect of calibration on the accuracy and precision of the characterization procedure. The two curves depict the mean error for characterization with (blue curve) and without calibration (red curve), where the error is the trace distance between the expected and the actual unitary transformations and the mean is over 1000 simulated characterization experiment. The simulations comprised generating one- and two-photon interference data based on experimentally measured spectral functions and performing characterization by our procedure. MATLAB code for the simulations depicted in this figure is available on GitHub.

- 1. Single-photon transmission data and two-photon coincidence data are collected for the four beam splitters labelled by index $i \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$.
- 2. The single-photon data are employed to estimate the reflectivity $\cos \vartheta_i$ of each of the beam splitters using Equations (5.6) and (5.9).
- 3. The reflectivity estimate obtained in Step 2 and the measured two-photon coincidence data are used to estimate the mode-matching parameter γ_i via curve-fitting. Appendix B details the inputs, procedure and outputs of the curve-fitting method.
- 4. The error bars $\sigma(\gamma_i)$ on γ_i are estimated using a bootstrapping-based procedure.

i	γ_i	$\sigma(\gamma_i)$	$\sigma(\gamma_i)/\gamma_i$
1	0.960	0.027	0.0281
2	0.981	0.007	0.0071
3	0.956	0.011	0.0115
4	0.985	0.019	0.0193

Table 6.1 presents the estimated values of γ_i and $\sigma(\gamma_i)$, and the ratio of these two estimates.

Table 6.1: On the promise of constant mode-matching parameter γ . The first column presents the beam splitter labels. The estimates of γ_i in the second column are computed using oneand two-photon data. The error bars $\sigma(\gamma_i)$ on γ_i estimates are computed using bootstrapping.

The mode-matching parameters obtained for the four beam splitters agree with each other to within 95% confidence or two standard deviations; i.e.,

$$|\gamma_i - \gamma_j| < 2\sigma(\gamma_i - \gamma_j) \tag{6.2}$$

for beam splitter labels $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ and the standard error of the difference $\gamma_i - \gamma_j$ estimated according to

$$\sigma(\gamma_i - \gamma_j) \approx \sqrt{\sigma^2(\gamma_i) + \sigma^2(\gamma_j)}.$$
(6.3)

Hence, our assumption of constant mode-mismatching is valid with 95% confidence level. In the next section, I provide evidence that our characterization procedure offers significant advantage over existing procedures.

6.2.2 Comparison of beam-splitter reflectivity estimates

Here I compare the accuracy of the beam-splitter reflectivity estimates obtained using various procedures to process two-photon coincidence data. As in the numerical verification (Section 6.1), we consider the effect of calibration of source-light for mode mismatch and the effect of using Gaussian functions for fitting the measured coincidence curves.

Beam splitter	i = 2	i = 3	i = 4			
Characterization using single-photon data:						
Reflectivity $R_i^{\rm sp}$	0.4712	0.4741	0.3570			
Error bars $\sigma(R_i^{\rm sp})$	0.0028	0.0032	0.0033			
Two-photon characterization: $(\gamma = 0.960, \sigma(\gamma) = 0.027)$						
Reflectivity R_i^{cal}	0.4851	0.4632	0.3690			
Error bars $\sigma(R_i^{\text{cal}})$	0.0196	0.0317	0.0170			
$\left R_{i}^{\mathrm{cal}} - R_{i}^{\mathrm{sp}} \right / \sigma \left(R_{i}^{\mathrm{cal}} - R_{i}^{\mathrm{sp}} \right)$	0.7021	0.3421	0.6929			
Two-photon characterization without calibration: $(\gamma = 1, \sigma(\gamma) = 0)$						
Reflectivity R_i^{nocal}	0.4422	0.4228	0.3513			
Error bars $\sigma(R_i^{\text{nocal}})$	0.0069	0.0106	0.0074			
$\left R_{i}^{\text{nocal}} - R_{i}^{\text{sp}} \right / \sigma \left(R_{i}^{\text{nocal}} - R_{i}^{\text{sp}} \right)$	3.8945	4.6331	0.7035			
Two-photon. No calibration. Gaussian fitting: $(\gamma = 1, \sigma(\gamma) = 0)$						
Reflectivity $R_i^{\rm g}$	0.4402	0.4108	0.3473			
Error bars $\sigma(R_i^{\rm g})$	0.0081	0.0082	0.0068			
$ R_i^{\rm g} - R_i^{\rm sp} / \sigma(R_i^{\rm g} - R_i^{\rm sp})$	3.6171	7.1913	1.2833			

Table 6.2: Reflectivity values for beam splitters (labelled by index i) obtained using different methods. The four section of the table present the reflectivity estimates obtained using (i) single-photon data, (ii) our two-photon characterization procedure, (iii) two-photon characterization without calibration and (iv) two-photon characterization using Gaussian curve-fitting and without using calibration.

Table 6.2 presents the reflectivity estimates of beam-splitters $i \in \{2, 3, 4\}$ obtained using various procedures. The first section of Table 6.2 presents the beam splitter reflectivity values that are estimated using single-photon data. The reflectivity values estimated from different two-photon procedures are compared with these single-photon estimates of reflectivity. The second section of the table presents the reflectivity values estimated using our characterization procedure, where the mode-matching parameter γ is obtained using two-photon coincidences on beam splitter i = 1. The third section presents reflectivity values estimated using our characterization procedure without calibration, i.e., with the assumption that $\gamma = 1$ and $\sigma(\gamma) = 0$. The final section of Table 6.2 contains reflectivity values estimated without calibration and using Gaussian curve-fitting (instead of fitting to curves calculated from spectral functions).

We compare the accuracy values of different beam splitters by comparing the respective differences between the reflectivity values obtained from the procedure and those obtained from single-photon data. Specifically, we compare

$$\frac{|R_i^{\text{proc}} - R_i^{\text{sp}}|}{\sigma \left(R_i^{\text{proc}} - R_i^{\text{sp}}\right)},\tag{6.4}$$

for beam splitters labelled $i \in \{2, 3, 4\}$ and reflectivity estimates R_i^{proc} obtained from different procedures. The denominator in Equation (6.4) normalizes the distances with respect to the error bars on the estimated reflectivity. Table 6.2 illustrates that these distances are consistently smaller than unity for our characterization procedure, whereas those for other procedures are not. We conclude that our procedure is accurate whereas other procedures are not. This completes the experimental verification of our procedure for the characterization of linear optics.

6.3 Conclusion

In summary, I have presented numerical and experimental evidence for the advantage of our characterization procedure over existing procedures. Numerically, we sampled 1000 Haar-random unitary interferometer matrices and simulated the characterization of interferometers using different procedures. Experimentally, we characterized four beam-splitter reflectivities using different characterization procedure. Both numerically and experimentally, our characterization procedure significantly reduced the error in characterization as compared to existing procedures.

Chapter 7

SU(n) Representation theory for simulating linear optics

This chapter presents my contribution to the representation theory of SU(n), namely algorithms for \mathcal{D} -functions of SU(n) and relations between SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants. These contributions enable a deeper analysis of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry and enable a speedup in the simulation of linear optics. Section 7.1 details the algorithms to compute SU(n) states and \mathcal{D} -functions. Section 7.2 presents our results on the relation between \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of the fundamental representation of SU(n).

A majority of the material in Section 7.1 and 7.2 is taken from two articles. One article, which is co-authored with Barry C. Sanders and Hubert de Duise, is in press at Journal of Mathematical Physics [3]. The other article is coauthored with Hubert de Guise, Dylan Spivak and Justin Kulp [4]. New material is added or existing material is eliminated to improve coherence and readability. Those parts that are reproduced verbatim from our articles are listed in "Thesis content previously published".

7.1 Algorithms for boson realizations of SU(n) states and \mathcal{D} -functions

This section presents our algorithms for the computation of \mathcal{D} -functions via boson realizations. \mathcal{D} -functions of a group element are the entries of irreps of the element. \mathcal{D} -functions of the special unitary group SU(2) are important in nuclear, atomic, molecular and optical physics [84, 131–136]. SU(1, 1) is the iconic non-compact semi-simple Lie group, and its \mathcal{D} -functions appear in connection with Bogolyubov transformations, squeezing and parametric downconversion [137, 138]. Methods for construction of intelligent states and the analysis of cylindrical Laguerre-Gauss beams employ \mathcal{D} -functions of SU(1, 1) [139, 140]. \mathcal{D} -functions of other Lie groups enable exact solutions to problems in quantum optics [141, 142]. Recently, SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions for arbitrary n have found application to the BosonSampling problem as detailed in Section 1.4.

Two existing procedures for computing SU(n) \mathcal{D} -function are based on factorization and on exponentiation. Both procedures have drawbacks, which we describe as follows. Factorization-based methods, which compute SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions in terms of \mathcal{D} -functions of subtransformations, are well developed for groups of low rank [45, 143–146]. However, generalizing these algorithms to higher n requires SU(n - 1) coupling and recoupling coefficients, which have limited availability for n > 3, i.e., restricted to certain subgroups of SU(3) [147–149]. Hence, methods for \mathcal{D} -functions of higher groups are underdeveloped despite the application of their corresponding algebras to diverse problems [150–153].

The second approach to computing SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions involves exponentiating and composing the matrix representations of the algebra [154, 155]. This approach has three hurdles. For one, this method requires knowledge of all the matrix elements of each generator to be exponentiated. Certain applications require closed-form expressions of \mathcal{D} -functions in terms of elements of the fundamental representation; exponentiation-based methods are infeasible for these applications because of the difficulty of exponentiating matrices analytically, especially for n > 5. Furthermore, if only a limited number of \mathcal{D} -functions are required, exponentiation is wasteful because it computes the entire set of \mathcal{D} -functions.

We overcome the shortcomings of current approaches by utilizing boson realizations, which map the algebra and its carrier space to bosonic operators and spaces respectively. Boson realizations arise naturally when considering the groups $\text{Sp}(2n, \mathbb{R})$, SU(n) and some of their subgroups. For instance, SU(1, 1), SU(2) and SU(3) boson realizations are used to study degeneracies, symmetries and dynamics in quantum systems [156–164]. A wide class of problems in theoretical physics rely on boson realizations of the symplectic group [165–169]. Here we aimed to devise an algorithm to construct the \mathcal{D} -functions of arbitrary representations of SU(n) for arbitrary n. We approach the problem of limited availability of SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions [170, 171] by presenting (i) a graph-theoretic algorithm to construct boson realizations of basis sets for each weight of a given $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ irrep (Algorithm 9 in Subsections 7.1.2), (ii) an algorithm to compute boson realizations of the canonical basis states of SU(n) for arbitrary n (Algorithms 10 in Subsection 7.1.3) and (iii) an algorithm that employs the constructed boson realizations to compute expressions for \mathcal{D} -functions as polynomials in the matrix elements of the defining representation (Algorithm 11 in Subsection 7.1.4).

7.1.1 Mapping to graphs

Before delving into the algorithms, I present a mapping from SU(n) weights and $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ transformations to the vertices and edges of a graph. Algorithms 9 and 10 rely on mapping the SU(n) irrep to a graph and systematically traversing the graph to obtain basis states. The vertices of the irrep graph are identified with the weights of the given irrep of SU(n) and the edges with the action of the elements of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ on the states. Specifically, the irrep graph $G = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$ of an SU(n) irrep is defined as follows.

Definition 12 (Irrep graph). The bijection

$$v: \{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \dots, \Lambda_d\} \to \mathcal{V}$$

$$(7.1)$$

maps the set $\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \ldots, \Lambda_d\}$ of the d weights in the given irrep to the vertices

$$\mathcal{V} = \{v(\Lambda_1), v(\Lambda_2), \dots, v(\Lambda_d)\}$$
(7.2)

of its irrep graph. Vertices $v(\Lambda_k)$ and $v(\Lambda_\ell)$ are connected by an edge $e_j = (v(\Lambda_k), v(\Lambda_\ell)) \in \mathcal{E}$ iff $\exists c_{i,j}, \Lambda_k, \Lambda_\ell$ such that

$$c_{i,j\neq i} |\psi_{\Lambda_k}\rangle = |\psi_{\Lambda_\ell}\rangle, \qquad (7.3)$$

where $|\psi_{\Lambda_k}\rangle$ and $|\psi_{\Lambda_\ell}\rangle$ are SU(n) states that have weights Λ_k and Λ_ℓ respectively. In general, states $|\psi_{\Lambda_k}\rangle$ and $|\psi_{\Lambda_\ell}\rangle$ are linear combinations of canonical basis states. Edges \mathcal{E} together with the vertices \mathcal{V} define the irrep graph $G = (\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{E})$. More than one basis state can have the same weight. The number of basis states sharing a weight Λ_i is defined as the multiplicity $M(\Lambda_i)$ of the weight. In other words, each vertex $v(\Lambda_i)$ is identified with an $M(\Lambda_i)$ -dimensional space spanned by those canonical basis states that have weight Λ_i . The vertex space and vertex basis sets are defined as follows.

Definition 13 (Vertex spaces). The vertex space of $v(\Lambda_i)$ is

$$\Psi(\Lambda_i) = \operatorname{span}\left(\left|\psi_{\Lambda_i}^1\right\rangle, \left|\psi_{\Lambda_i}^2\right\rangle, \dots, \left|\psi_{\Lambda_i}^{M(\Lambda_i)}\right\rangle\right)$$
(7.4)

of the canonical basis states (Definition 6) that have the weight Λ_i .

The set $\left\{ \left| \psi_{\Lambda_i}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \psi_{\Lambda_i}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \psi_{\Lambda_i}^{(M(\Lambda_i))} \right\rangle \right\}$ of canonical basis states is not the only set that spans the vertex space $\Psi(\Lambda_i)$ of $v(\Lambda_i)$. In general, basis sets of $\Psi(\Lambda_i)$ can be defined as follows.

Definition 14 (Vertex basis sets). The set

$$\left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}$$
(7.5)

is called the basis set of a vertex $v(\Lambda_i)$ if it spans the vertex space $\Psi(\Lambda_i)$ (7.4) of $v(\Lambda_i)$, i.e.,

span
$$\left(\left|\phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{1}\right\rangle, \left|\phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{2}\right\rangle, \dots, \left|\phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{M(\Lambda_{i})}\right\rangle\right) = \Psi(\Lambda_{i}).$$
 (7.6)

The states $\left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}$ are linear combinations of the canonical basis states $\left\{ \left| \psi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \psi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \psi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}$. Algorithm 9 computes basis sets of the spaces $\Psi(\Lambda_{i})$ for each of the *d* weights Λ_{i} that occurs in a given irrep.

7.1.2 Basis-set algorithm (Algorithm 9)

This section details the basis-set algorithm¹ and presents proofs of termination an correctness of the algorithm. The basis-set algorithm (Algorithm 9) finds the basis sets for a given SU(m) irrep and is the key subroutine of our canonical-basis-state algorithm (Algorithm 10).

¹ In Algorithms 9–11, we denote operations in capital case and SMALLCAPS font. Variables are denoted by roman font and are in lower case.
Algorithm 9 Basis-Set Algorithm

• $m \in \mathbb{Z}^+$

Input:

• HWS $|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{K}\rangle \triangleright$ Degree N_{K} (3.34) polynomial in bosonic creation operators.

 $\triangleright \left| \psi_{\text{hws}}^{K} \right\rangle \text{ is a HWS of SU}(m) \text{ irrep } K.$

- **Output:**
- $\{\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \dots, \Lambda_d \colon \Lambda_i \in (\mathbb{Z}^+ \cup 0)^{m-1}\} \triangleright$ List of weights in the irrep graph of K.
- d, Basis sets (7.7)

$$\left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(M(\Lambda_{1})} \right\rangle \right\}, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(M(\Lambda_{2}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \\ \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(M(\Lambda_{d}))} \right\rangle \right\}.$$

1: procedure $BASISSET(m, |\psi_{hws}^K\rangle)$

2:	Initialize empty statesList, empty weightList and currentStateQueue $\leftarrow \psi_{\text{hws}}^K\rangle$
3:	while $currentStateQueue$ is not empty do
4:	$currentState \leftarrow DEQUEUE(currentStateQueue)$
5:	for CURRENTOPERATOR \in set of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ lowering operations do
6:	newState \leftarrow CURRENTOPERATOR(currentState)
7:	if newState $\neq 0$ then
8:	if weight of currentState is already in stateList then
9:	if currentState is LI of stateList states with same weight then
10:	independentState \leftarrow NORMALIZE(newState)
11:	Enqueue independentState in currentStateQueue
12:	Add independentState to stateList
13:	Add weight of independentState to weightList
14:	end if \triangleright Else, do nothing.
15:	else
16:	Enqueue newState in currentStateQueue
17:	Add {weight(newState),newState} to stateList
18:	end if
19:	end if
20:	end for
21:	end while
22:	Return stateList
23:	end procedure



Figure 7.1: The first step of the basis-set computation algorithm (Algorithm 9) illustrated for the (2, 2) irrep of SU(3), where the dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex. The algorithm constructs the HWS (occupying the red vertex) using Lemma 8. The lowering operators can transform states at one vertex to states at another vertex along different paths connecting the starting and the target vertex, for instance the two paths coloured green and blue. Lowering along the different paths to reach a target vertex will generate the same number of LI as the weight multiplicity. In our illustration, we obtain a basis set that contains two independent states at the target vertex. The algorithm traverses the irrep graph systematically until all basis sets are calculated.

Algorithm 9 requires inputs $|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{K}\rangle$ and m, where $|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{K}\rangle$ is a HWS of the irrep K of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ algebra. The state $|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{K}\rangle$ is a bosonic state, which is expressed as a summation over products of N_{K} (3.34) creation operators $\{a_{i,j}^{\dagger}: i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}, j \in \{1, 2, ..., m-1\}\}$. This summation acts on the m-site bosonic vacuum state to give an N_{K} -boson state. The algorithm returns multiple sets

$$\left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(M(\Lambda_{1}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(M(\Lambda_{2}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \\ \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(M(\Lambda_{d}))} \right\rangle \right\}$$
(7.7)

of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ states, with each set spanning the space $\Psi(\Lambda_i)$ (7.4) at a different vertex $v(\Lambda_i)$ in the SU(m) irrep K. The states in the output basis sets are represented as polynomials in lowering operators acting on the HWS, or equivalently as polynomials in creation and annihilation operators acting on the n-site vacuum state. Figure 7.1 is an illustrative example of the algorithm.

A modified breadth-first search (BFS) graph algorithm [172–174] is used to traverse the irrep graph for states. As in usual BFS, we maintain a queue², called currentQueue, of the states that have been constructed but whose neighbourhood is yet to be explored. The algorithm starts with the given HWS in currentQueue and iteratively dequeues a state from the front of the queue. States neighbouring the dequeued state are obtained by enacting one-by-one each of the lowering operators of the algebra. The newly found states are enqueued into the rear of currentQueue, and the current state and its weight are stored.

We modify BFS to handle vertices with weight multiplicity greater than unity as follows. While traversing the irrep graph, the algorithm directly enqueues the first state that is found at each vertex. When the same vertex is explored along a different edge, i.e., by enacting different lowering operators, a different state is found in general. If the newly constructed state is LI of the states already constructed at the vertex, then the new state is enqueued into currentQueue.

The algorithm truncates when a state in currentQueue is annihilated by all of the lowering operators and there is no other state in the queue. This final state must exist because the number of LI states in a given SU(n) irrep is finite according to the following standard result in representation theory.

Lemma 15 (Dimension of an SU(n) irrep [151]). The dimension Δ_K of the carrier space of

²A queue [174] is a first-in-first-out data structure whose entries are maintained in order. The two operations allowed on a queue are enqueue, i.e., the addition of entries to the rear and dequeue, which is the removal of entries from the front of the queue. Both the enqueue and dequeue operations require constant, i.e., O(1) time.

an SU(n) irrep K is

$$\Delta_{K} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} M(\Lambda_{1}) + M(\Lambda_{2}) + \dots + M(\Lambda_{d})$$

$$= (1 + \kappa_{1}) (1 + \kappa_{2}) \cdots (1 + \kappa_{n-1}) \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2}}{2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{2} + \kappa_{3}}{2}\right)$$

$$\cdots \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{n-2} + \kappa_{n-1}}{2}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2} + \kappa_{3}}{3}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{2} + \kappa_{3} + \kappa_{4}}{3}\right)$$

$$\cdots \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{n-3} + \kappa_{n-2} + \kappa_{n-1}}{3}\right) \cdots \left(1 + \frac{\kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2} + \dots + \kappa_{n-1}}{n-1}\right). \quad (7.8)$$

Now we prove that the basis-set algorithm terminates. The proof relies on the fact that the carrier space of SU(m) irrep is finite-dimensional (Lemma 15). The algorithm's computational cost is quantified by the number of times the lowering operators are applied on the HWS or on states reached by lowering from the HWS. We show that the computational cost of Algorithm 9 is linear in the dimension Δ_K of the irrep whose HWS is given as input and polynomial in n.

Theorem 16 (Algorithm 9 terminates). Suppose Algorithm 9 receives as input an HWS $|\psi_{\text{hws}}^K\rangle$ of an SU(m) irrep K. Then the algorithm terminates after no more than $\Delta_K m(m-1)/2$ applications of lowering operators.

Proof. The proof is in two parts. Firstly, the number of states that enters currentStateQueue is bounded above by the dimension Δ_K (7.8) of the irrep space. Secondly, as each state that enters currentStateQueue is acted upon by no more than n(n-1)/2 lowering operators, the number of lowering operations performed is less than or equal to $\Delta_K n(n-1)/2$.

We show that the number of states that enter currentStateQueue is no more than Δ_K as follows. As each currentState is a linear combination of states obtained by acting lowering operators (Line 6) on the given HWS, each state that enters currentStateQueue is in the irrep labelled by the HWS. Moreover, each state entering the queue is tested for linear independence (Line 9) with respect to the states already obtained. Any state that is not LI is discarded. Therefore, each enqueued state (Algorithm 9, Line 16) is in the correct irrep K and is LI of each other enqueued state. Thus, the number of states that ever enter currentStateQueue is no more than the number Δ_K of LI states in irrep K.

In each iteration of the algorithm, each of the lowering operators are applied on the states in currentStateQueue. The number of lowering operations is thus bounded above by the product $\Delta_K n(n-1)/2$ of the number of states that enter currentStateQueue and of the number of lowering operators in the $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ algebra. The algorithm thus terminates after no more than $\Delta_K n(n-1)/2$ applications of lowering operators.

We now prove that the algorithm returns the correct output on termination. The proof requires the following lemma stating that each canonical basis state can be obtained by enacting only with the lowering operators on the HWS.

Lemma 17 (Every basis-state can be reached by lowering from the HWS [175]). No canonical basis-state of a given SU(n) irrep K is LI of the states obtained by lowering from the HWS by the action

$$c_{i_k,j_k} \cdots c_{i_2,j_2} c_{i_1,j_1} |\psi_{\text{hws}}\rangle \quad i_\ell \le j_\ell \,\forall 1 \le \ell \le k \tag{7.9}$$

of $k \leq \sum_{i} \kappa_{i}$ number of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ lowering operators on the HWS of the irrep.

Lemma 17 implies that each basis state can be constructed by linearly combining states obtained on lowering from the HWS. Algorithm 9 leverages from the construction of Equation (7.9) and from testing linear independence to construct the basis sets.

The correctness of the basis-set algorithm is proved as follows. We show that each state obtained by enacting any number of lowering operators on the HWS is LD on the states returned by the algorithm. Each canonical basis state is LD on the states obtained by lowering from the HWS in turn, so each canonical basis state is LD on the algorithm output. The algorithm only constructs states in the correct irrep so Algorithm 9 returns a complete basis set at each weight of the irrep on truncation. Theorem 18 (Algorithm 9 is correct). The sets

$$\left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{1}}^{(M(\Lambda_{1}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{2}}^{(M(\Lambda_{2}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \\ \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{i}}^{(M(\Lambda_{i}))} \right\rangle \right\}, \dots, \left\{ \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(1)} \right\rangle, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(2)} \right\rangle, \dots, \left| \phi_{\Lambda_{d}}^{(M(\Lambda_{d}))} \right\rangle \right\}$$

of states returned by Algorithm 9 span the respective vertex spaces $\Psi(\Lambda_i)$ (7.4) at each vertex Λ_i of the given irrep K.

Proof. We first prove by induction that each state in the form of Equation (7.9) is LD on states in the algorithm output. Our induction hypothesis is that each state

$$c_{i_k,j_k} \cdots c_{i_2,j_2} c_{i_1,j_1} |\psi_{\text{hws}}\rangle,$$
 (7.10)

which is obtained by acting ℓ lowering operators on the HWS, is LD on the states returned by the algorithm $\forall \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. The proof of the hypothesis follows from mathematical induction over ℓ .

The induction hypothesis is true for base case k = 1. In the first iteration, the algorithm enacts all the lowering operators on the HWS (Algorithm 9 Line 6) and saves each of the obtained states. No k = 1 state (7.10) is omitted because the vertices neighbouring the HWS vertex are all being explored for the first time. Hence, all the states that can be reached by lowering once from the HWS are added to currentStateQueue and, eventually, to stateList.

Assume that the induction hypothesis holds for $k = \ell$, i.e., each $k = \ell$ state is LD on the states in stateList. We prove that the hypothesis holds for $k = \ell + 1$ by contradiction. Suppose there exists a state that can be reached by enacting $\ell + 1$ lowering operators on the HWS but is LI of stateList. Let $|\psi\rangle = c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}}c_{i_{\ell},j_{\ell}}\cdots c_{i_2,j_2}c_{i_1,j_1} |\psi_{\text{hws}}\rangle$ be such a state.

Consider now the state $|\varphi\rangle = c_{i_{\ell},j_{\ell}} \cdots c_{i_{2},j_{2}} c_{i_{1},j_{1}} |\psi_{\text{hws}}\rangle$ obtained by enacting one less lowering operation from the HWS; i.e., $|\psi\rangle = c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}} |\varphi\rangle$. We have assumed that the induction hypothesis holds for $k = \ell$. Therefore, $|\varphi\rangle$ is LD on the states constructed by a algorithm. In other words,

$$\left|\varphi\right\rangle = \sum_{j=1}^{J} a_{j} \left|\phi_{j}\right\rangle$$
(7.11)

is LD on the stateList elements $\{|\phi_j\rangle : j \in \{1, 2, \dots, J\}\}$ for complex numbers a_j .

The algorithm enacts the lowering operator $c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}}$ on each $|\phi_j\rangle$ and the resulting states are either stored in stateList or are LD on elements in stateList. Therefore, the elements of the set $\{c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}} | \phi_j \rangle : j \in \{1, 2, ..., J\}$ are LD on the elements of stateList. Hence, the element $c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}} | \varphi \rangle$ is also LD on the elements of stateList. This dependence contradicts the supposition that $|\psi\rangle = c_{i_{\ell+1},j_{\ell+1}} |\varphi\rangle$ is LI of stateList, thereby proving the induction hypothesis for $k = \ell + 1$.

The induction hypothesis is true for $\ell = 1$ and is shown to hold for $k = \ell + 1$ if it holds for $k = \ell$. Thus, our induction hypothesis is true for all $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^+$. Every state obtained of irrep K obtained by lowering from the HWS is linearly dependent (LD) on the basis sets that are returned by the algorithm.

We know from Lemma 17 that each canonical basis state is LD on the states obtained by lowering. Hence, each canonical basis state is LD on the states obtained at the output of the algorithm. Therefore, the state returned by the algorithm span the space of irrep K states, and the output basis sets span the set of all basis states of the given irrep K.

We have proved that Algorithm 9 terminates and that it returns the correct basis sets on termination. Now I present our algorithm for the construction of the canonical basis states. Furthermore, I prove the correctness and termination of the canonical-basis-states algorithm.

7.1.3 Canonical-basis-states algorithm (Algorithm 10)

The algorithm for constructing the canonical basis-states of SU(n) requires inputs $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ and the irrep label K. The algorithm returns expressions for all the canonical basis states in the given irrep. Figure 7.2 illustrates SU(3) basis-state construction using our algorithm. Algorithm 10 details the step-by-step construction of the canonical basis states.

The canonical-basis-states algorithm proceeds by partitioning $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ basis sets into $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ basis sets for progressively smaller m over n-1 stages. In the first stage, the algorithm

Algorithm 10 Canonical-basis-states algorithm

Input:

- $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ \triangleright Algorithm constructs basis sets of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ algebra.
- $K = (\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \dots, \kappa_{n-1}) \in (\mathbb{Z}^+ \cup \{0\})^{n-1}$ \triangleright Label of SU(*n*) irrep.

Output:

• $\left\{ \left(\left| \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}} \right\rangle; K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(2)};\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(2)} \right) \right\} \triangleright \text{ List of all canonical}$ basis states and weight labels in the irrep $K^{(n)} = K$. 1: procedure CANONICALBASISSTATES(n, K)Initialize empty basisStatesList, HWS $\leftarrow |\psi_{\text{hws}}^K\rangle$ 2: SUmStates, SUnStates \leftarrow BASISSET(n, HWS)3: while SUnStates is not empty do 4: for $m \in \{n, n - 1, ..., 2\}$ do 5: $\Lambda_{\max} \leftarrow \mathfrak{su}(m)$ weight with highest number of states in SUmStates. 6: $|\psi_{\max}^{(m)}\rangle \leftarrow \text{arbitrary superposition of states at } \Lambda_{\max} \text{ in SUmStates.}$ 7: Apply $\mathfrak{su}(m-1)$ raising operators on $|\psi_{\max}^{(m)}\rangle$; reach $\mathfrak{su}(m-1)$ HWS $|\psi_{\max}^{(m-1)}\rangle$. 8: $K^{(m-1)} \leftarrow \text{Weight}\left(\left|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{(m-1)}\right\rangle\right).$ 9: SUmStates $\leftarrow \text{BasisSet}(m-1, \left|\psi_{\text{hws}}^{(m-1)}\right\rangle).$ 10: if m = 2 then 11: for All states $|\psi\rangle$ in SUmStates do 12:
$$\begin{split} \{\Lambda^{(n)}, \dots, \Lambda^{(2)}\} &\leftarrow \mathrm{WEIGHTS}(|\psi\rangle) & \triangleright \mathfrak{su}(m) \text{ weights } \forall m \leq n. \\ \mathrm{Concatenate} \; \left(|\psi\rangle \; ; \; K^{(n)}, \dots, K^{(2)}; \; \Lambda^{(n)}, \dots, \Lambda^{(2)} \right) \; \mathrm{basisStatesList} \end{split}$$
13:14:Subtract SUmStates from SUnStates. 15:16:end for end if \triangleright Else, do nothing. 17:end for 18: end while 19:for All states $|\psi^{(i)}\rangle$ in statelist do 20: Act $\{C_{1,2}, C_{2,3}, \dots, C_{n-1,n}\}$ on $|\psi^{(i)}\rangle$ until HWS $|\psi^{(i)}_{\text{hws}}\rangle$ is reached. $|\psi^{(i)}\rangle \leftarrow e^{i\phi^{(i)}} |\psi^{(i)}\rangle$ for $|\psi^{(i)}_{\text{hws}}\rangle = e^{i\phi^{(i)}} |\psi^{K}_{\text{hws}}\rangle$. 21:22: 23:end for Return basisStatesList 24:25: end procedure



Figure 7.2: Diagrammatic representation of the main algorithm for n = 3. The dots and circles represent the canonical basis states. The dimension of the space of states at a given vertex is the sum of the number of dots and the number of circles at the vertex, for instance weights associated with dimension two are represented by one dot and one circle. The lines connecting the dots represent the transformation from states of one weight to those of another by the action of SU(3) raising and lowering operators. We use Algorithm 9 to construct basis sets for each vertex in the SU(n) irrep graph. Once the basis sets for the SU(n) irreps are computed, the algorithm enacts the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ raising operators on the (n-1)-dimensional sub-irreps to find the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ HWS. Then the algorithm starts with the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ HWS and employs the basis-set construction (Algorithm 1) to find all the states in the $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ states. A new state is chosen from the weight of highest multiplicity and the process repeated until all the $\mathfrak{su}(n-1)$ irreps are found.

employs Lemma 8 to construct the HWS of the given irrep K (Algorithm 10, Line 2). Algorithm 9 is then used to construct the basis sets of the SU(n) irrep of the constructed HWS (Line 3).

By the (n - m)-th stage, the algorithm has partitioned the entire $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ space into basis states of the SU(m + 1) irreps. In this stage, each of the $\mathfrak{su}(m + 1)$ basis sets is partitioned into $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ basis sets by using $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ operators. The algorithm searches each SU(m + 1) irrep graph for the vertex that has the highest multiplicity.

An arbitrary linear combination of the basis states at this vertex is chosen. The algorithm then enacts all the raising operators in the $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ subalgebra on this linear combination until the action of each of the raising operators annihilates the state. The state thus obtained is the HWS of an SU(m) irrep, whose label $K^{(m)}$ can be calculated by enacting the Cartan operators on the state.

Next the algorithm performs the basis-set construction algorithm on the $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS employing only the $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ lowering operators. This procedure gives us sets of basis states that belong to the SU(m) irrep $K^{(m)}$. The irrep $K^{(m)}$ basis sets are stored and are then subtracted from the SU(m + 1) states. The algorithm iteratively (i) starts from the highest multiplicity vertex of SU(m + 1) irrep graphs, (ii) constructs a HWS by raising, (iii) stores the basis sets of SU(m) irreps corresponding to this HWS and (iv) subtracts them from SU(m + 1) states until all the states in the $\mathfrak{su}(m + 1)$ are partitioned.

At the end of n-1 stages, we have a list of basis sets of the SU(n-1) irreps. We iteratively perform the process of finding basis sets for smaller subgroups until we reach SU(2)basis sets, which are known to have unit multiplicity. Hence, the algorithm returns the basis states that are eigenvectors of the Cartan operators of all $SU(m): m \leq n$ groups.

The relative phases between the basis states are fixed by imposing Equation (3.18). Each of the constructed basis states is acted upon by the simple raising operators $\{C_{1,2}, C_{2,3}, \ldots, C_{n-1,n}\}$ until the HWS is reached. The phase of this HWS obtained by raising is required to be the same for all basis states. Our algorithm multiplies each of the basis states by a phase factor (Line 22) to impose the phase convention Equation (3.18) and returns the set of canonical basis states.

Now we prove that the canonical basis states algorithm terminates. The proof of termination uses the facts that the number of basis states is equal to the dimension Δ_K of the irrep and that each basis state is added to currentStateQueue no more than once.

Theorem 19 (Algorithm 10 terminates). Algorithm 10 terminates after the action of no more than $\Delta_K n(n-1)^2/2$ lowering operators.

Proof. In each of the n-1 stages of Algorithm 10, the states that are added to currentState-Queue are LI of each other because of the conditions imposed in the algorithm. There are no more LI states in the given SU(n) irrep than the dimension Δ_K of the irrep space. Thus, the total number of states that are added to currentQueue in each of the n-1 stages is no more than Δ_K . No more that n(n-1)/2 lowering operators are applied on the states that enter currentQueue. Thus, each stage terminates after the application of $\Delta_K n(n-1)/2$ lowering operations. Furthermore, the algorithm terminates after n-1 stages and the application of no more than $\Delta_K n(n-1)^2/2$ lowering operations.

Finally, we prove that the canonical-basis-states algorithm returns the correct output when it terminates.

Theorem 20 (Algorithm 10 is correct). The SU(n) states

$$\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(z)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}}\right\rangle \tag{7.12}$$

yielded by Algorithm 10 are the canonical states of Definition 6.

Proof. The theorem holds if the states yielded by Algorithm 10 have well defined weights and have well defined irrep labels. First we show that the weight of each state in the output of the algorithm is well defined. Each state in the output is obtained either by enacting lowering operators on the HWS or by taking linear combinations of states that have the same weight. Linear combination of states with the same weights have well defined weights themselves. Thus, all the output states have well defined weights for SU(m) irreps for all $2 \le m \le n$.

We prove that the states have well defined SU(m) irrep label separately for m = n and for $2 \le m \le n - 1$. The correctness of the $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS follows from Lemma 8. Every state in the output is a linear combination of states obtained by lowering from the constructed $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS. Thus, every state is in the correct SU(n) irrep $K^{(n)}$.

The algorithm (Line 8) enacts raising operators on linear combinations of $\mathfrak{su}(m+1)$ basis states at one weight until each of the raising operators annihilates the raised state. The $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ state thus obtained are legitimate $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS's or possibly linear combinations of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS's by construction. The uniqueness of the HWS is guaranteed by the existence of the canonical basis [175]. Each of the canonical basis states is obtained by lowering from these $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ HWS's using $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ lowering operators and thus have well defined irrep labels for all $2 \le m \le n-1$.

We have shown that the states yielded by the algorithm have well defined values of irrep labels $K^{(m)}$ for $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ algebras for all $\{m : 2 \le m \le n\}$ and of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ weights $\Lambda^{(m)}$ for all $\{m : 2 \le m \le n\}$. Thus, these states are the canonical SU(n) basis states. This completes the proof of correctness of Algorithm 10.

We have proved that Algorithm 10 terminates and returns the canonical basis states on termination. The states constructed by the canonical-basis-states algorithm are employed to compute arbitrary $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions using an algorithm presented in the next subsection.

7.1.4 \mathcal{D} -function algorithm

Our task is to construct the \mathcal{D} -function

$$\mathcal{D}_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)};\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)};\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}}(\Omega)$$
(7.13)

for given labels $\{K^{(m)}\}, \{\Lambda^{(m)}\}, \{K'^{(m)}\}, \{\Lambda'^{(m)}\}\)$ of the SU(n) element $V(\Omega)$ given by the parametrization Ω . The \mathcal{D} -function (7.13) is computed as the inner product between the state

$$\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}}\right\rangle \tag{7.14}$$

of Equation (7.16) and the transformed state

$$V(\Omega) \bigg| \psi_{\Lambda'^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}^{K'^{(n)},\dots,K'^{(3)},K'^{(2)}} \bigg\rangle.$$
(7.15)

Algorithm 11 constructs the fundamental representation, i.e., the $n \times n$ matrix, V_{ij} of the SU(n) element $V(\Omega)$ [44]. Then, the expressions for the basis states

$$\left|\psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}}\right\rangle, \left|\psi_{\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}}^{K^{\prime(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}}\right\rangle$$
(7.16)

corresponding to the given labels are computed using the canonical-basis-states algorithm. The basis states thus obtained are expressed as summations over products of creation and

Algorithm 11 *D*-function Algorithm

Input:

- $n \in \mathbb{Z}^+$ \triangleright Algorithm constructs \mathcal{D} -functions of $\mathrm{SU}(n)$ elements.
- $\Omega = \{\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_{n^2-1}\} \in \mathbb{R}^{n^2-1}$ \triangleright Parametrization of SU(n) transformation.
- $K^{(n)}, \ldots, K^{(2)}$ and $\Lambda^{(n)}, \ldots, \Lambda^{(2)}$ \triangleright Row Label.
- $K'^{(n)}, \ldots, K'^{(2)}$ and $\Lambda'^{(n)}, \ldots, \Lambda'^{(2)}$ \triangleright Column Label.

Output:

• $\mathcal{D}^{K^{(n)},...,K^{(3)},K^{(2)};K'^{(n)},...,K'^{(3)},K'^{(2)}}_{\Lambda^{(n)},...,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)};\Lambda'^{(n)},...,\Lambda'^{(3)},\Lambda'^{(2)}}(\Omega)$

1: procedure
$$D(n, \Omega, K^{(n)}, \dots, K^{(2)}, K^{\prime(n)}, \dots, K^{\prime(2)}, \Lambda^{(n)}, \dots, \Lambda^{(2)}, \Lambda^{\prime(n)}, \dots, \Lambda^{\prime(2)})$$

2: Construct $V \in GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ from parametrization Ω [44]
3: if $K^{(n)} = K^{\prime(n)}$ then
4: $\left| \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{(2)}} \right\rangle \leftarrow$ using CANONICALBASISSTATES $(n, K(n))$.
5: $\left| \psi_{\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}}^{K^{\prime(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle \leftarrow$ using CANONICALBASISSTATES $(n, K^{\prime}(n))$.
6: Construct $\left\langle \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle$ from $\left| \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle$ by complex conjugation.
7: Construct $V(\Omega) \left| \psi_{\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}}^{K^{\prime(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle$ using $a_{i,k}^{\dagger} \rightarrow \sum_{j} V_{i,j}(\Omega) a_{j,k}^{\dagger} \forall a_{i,k}, a_{i,k}^{\dagger}$.
8: Return $\mathcal{D} = \left\langle \psi_{\Lambda^{(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{(3)},\Lambda^{(2)}}^{K^{(n)},\dots,K^{\prime(3)},K^{\prime(2)}} \right| V(\Omega) \left| \psi_{\Lambda^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}}^{K^{\prime(n)},\dots,\Lambda^{\prime(3)},\Lambda^{\prime(2)}} \right\rangle$
9: else
10: Return $\mathcal{D} = 0$
11: end if
12: end procedure

annihilation operators. $V(\Omega)$ acts on the boson realization by transforming each boson independently according to

$$a_{i,j}^{\dagger} \to a_{i,j}^{\dagger\prime} = \sum_{k} V_{ik}(\Omega) a_{k,j}^{\dagger}, \qquad (7.17)$$

where $\{V_{ik}(\Omega)\}\$ are the matrix elements of the $n \times n$ representation of $V(\Omega)$. The algorithm transforms the second basis state of Equation (7.16) under the action of $V(\Omega)$ by replacing each of the creation and annihilation operators of the state according to Equation (7.17).

The \mathcal{D} -function is evaluated as the inner product using the commutation relations (3.22) or equivalently by using the Wick's theorem [176]. The correctness and termination of Algorithm 11 follows directly from Theorems 19 and 20, which completes our algorithms for the computation of boson realizations of SU(n) states and of \mathcal{D} -functions.

7.1.5 Conclusion

In summary, we have devised an algorithm to compute expressions for boson realizations of the canonical basis states of SU(n) irreps. Boson realizations are ideally suited for analyzing the physics of single photons, providing a tractable interpretation to basis states as multiphoton states and to transformations on these states as optical transformations. Furthermore, we have devised an algorithm to compute expressions for SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions in terms of elements of the fundamental representation of the group. Our algorithm offers significant advantage over competing algorithms to construct \mathcal{D} -functions. Furthermore, our \mathcal{D} -function algorithm lays the groundwork for generalizing the analysis of optical interferometry beyond the three-photon level [71, 75, 76].

This work is the first known application of graph-theoretic algorithms to SU(n) representation theory. We overcome the problem of SU(n) weight multiplicity greater than unity by modifying the breadth-first graph-search algorithm. Our procedure for generating a basis set can be extended to subgroups of SU(n). In particular, the boson realization of the HWS of O(2k) and O(2k + 1) irreps can be constructed along the lines of Lemma 8 [177–179]. Graph-search algorithms can be employed to construct O(n) basis states and \mathcal{D} -functions if the problem of labelling O(n) basis states can be overcome. Our approach opens the possibility of exploiting the diverse graph-algorithms toolkit for solving problems in representation theory of Lie groups.

7.2 \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of unitary matrices and submatrices

7.2.1 Introduction and basic result

In this section I present result on the connection between immanants and group functions (or \mathcal{D} -functions) for the unitary groups. We extend a result of Kostant [89] to submatrices of the fundamental representation of these groups.

Immanants of totally non-negative and of Hermitian matrices have been studied in [180– 182]; our results instead are applicable to unitary matrices and depend on the well-known duality between representations of the unitary and of the symmetric groups [170, 183]. This duality identifies some irreps of SU(m) with irreps of S_N with $N \leq m$. If $\{\lambda\} =$ $\{\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_N\}$ is a partition of $\lambda = \sum_k \lambda_k$ labelling an irrep of S_N , we choose to label irreps of SU(m) using the round brackets (λ) with m-1 entries defined by $(\lambda_1 - \lambda_2, \ldots, \lambda_{N-1} - \lambda_N, \lambda_N)$ and trailing zeroes omitted. Thus, the irrep $\{21\}$ of S_3 corresponds to the SU(4) irrep $(110) \sim (11)$, the SU(5) irrep $(1100) \sim (11)$ etc.

Kostant [89] has shown a simple connection between immanants (3.41) of the fundamental representation T of SU(m) group elements and group functions $\mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\lambda)}$ of SU(m) with t running over each of the zero-weight states in irrep (λ). Specifically, let $\Omega \in SU(m)$ and $T(\Omega)$ (no superscript) is the defining $m \times m$ representation of Ω . Further define the matrix $\mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)$ by

$$\left(\mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)\right)_{rt} = \mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}_{rt}(\Omega) \tag{7.18}$$

with r, t restricted to labelling zero-weight states in the irrep (τ) . Then we have [89]

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)\right].$$
(7.19)

For SU(2), this result simply states that the permanent of the matrix

$$T(\Omega) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-(\frac{1}{2})i(\alpha+\gamma)}\cos\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\right) & -e^{-(\frac{1}{2})i(\alpha-\gamma)}\sin\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\right) \\ e^{(\frac{1}{2})i(\alpha-\gamma)}\sin\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\right) & e^{(\frac{1}{2})i(\alpha+\gamma)}\cos\left(\frac{\beta}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.20)

where $\Omega = (\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \in \mathrm{SU}(2)$, is the $\mathrm{SU}(2)$ -function $\mathrm{imm}^{\{2\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{00}^1(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = \cos \beta$ whereas the determinant $\mathrm{imm}^{\{1,1\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{00}^0(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) = 1$. The trace of Equation (7.19) contains a single term in both $\mathrm{SU}(2)$ cases as the zero-weight subspaces in irreps J = 1 and J = 0 are both one-dimensional. Here and henceforth we follow the physics notation of labelling $\mathrm{SU}(2)$ irreps using the angular momentum label $J = \frac{1}{2}\lambda$, such that 2J is an integer. Thus, $\mathcal{D}_{00}^1(\Omega)$ is an $\mathrm{SU}(2)$ \mathcal{D} -function in the three-dimensional irrep J = 1.

7.2.2 Recap of notation and an illustration

Here I recall the relevant notation of boson realization of SU(n) states and $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ operators (Section 3.2) and present and example of the connection between \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants. We first introduce a basis for $\mathbb{H}_p^{(1)}$, which is the *p*-th copy of the carrier space for fundamental irrep $\{1\} \equiv (1)$ of SU(m). I write this basis in terms of harmonic oscillator states according to

$$\mathbb{H}_{p}^{(1)} = \operatorname{span}\{a_{k}^{\dagger}(\omega_{p}) | 0 \rangle, k = 1, \dots, m\}.$$
(7.21)

The label ω_p can be thought of as an internal DOF, say the frequency, of the *p*-th oscillator. We introduce the (reducible) Hilbert space $\mathbb{H}^{(N)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_1 \otimes \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_2 \dots \otimes \mathbb{H}^{(1)}_N$, which is spanned by the set of harmonic oscillator states of the type

$$a_k^{\dagger}(\omega_1)a_r^{\dagger}(\omega_2)\dots a_s^{\dagger}(\omega_N) |0\rangle , \quad k = 1,\dots,m; \quad r = 1,\dots,m, etc$$
(7.22)

Now I detail the action of the permutation group S_N on our basis states. The action of $P(\sigma)$ is defined as

$$P(\sigma)a_k^{\dagger}(\omega_1)a_r^{\dagger}(\omega_2)\dots a_s^{\dagger}(\omega_N) |0\rangle = a_k^{\dagger}(\omega_{\sigma^{-1}(1)})a_r^{\dagger}(\omega_{\sigma^{-1}(2)})\dots a_s^{\dagger}(\omega_{\sigma^{-1}(N)}) |0\rangle.$$
(7.23)

Alternatively, one may consider each of the sets $\{a_k^{\dagger}(\omega_p); k = 1, ..., m\}$, which are labelled by p, as a tensor operator that carries the defining irrep (1) of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$. $|0\rangle$ is invariant under the action of S_N and $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ elements.

Specifically, algebra u(m) is spanned by the S_N -invariant operators

$$\hat{C}_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} a_i^{\dagger}(\omega_k) a_j(\omega_k) \quad i, j = 1, \dots, m.$$
 (7.24)

The $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ subalgebra is obtained from u(m) by removing the diagonal operator $\sum_{k=1}^{m} \hat{C}_{kk}$, so the Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ is spanned by the traceless diagonal operators

$$\hat{h}_i \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \hat{C}_{ii} - \hat{C}_{i+1,i+1}, \quad i = 1, \dots, m-1.$$
 (7.25)

Furthermore, a basis for the irrep (λ) of $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ is given in terms of the harmonic oscillator occupation number n according to

$$\left|\psi^{(\lambda^{(n)})}n;\Lambda\right\rangle = \left|(\lambda)n_1n_2,\ldots,n_m;(\lambda^{(n-1)})\ldots(\Lambda^{(2)})\right\rangle,\tag{7.26}$$

where $n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (n_1, n_2, \dots, n_m)$ and n_k indicates the number of excitations in mode $k \leq m$. The weight of this state is equals the (m-1)-tuple $[n_1 - n_2, n_2 - n_3, \dots, n_{m-1} - n_m]$. Finally, the multi-index $\Lambda := (\lambda') \dots (J)$ refers to a collection of indices, each of which labels irreps in the subalgebra chain

$$\mathfrak{su}(m) \supset \mathfrak{su}(m-1) \supset \ldots \supset \mathfrak{su}(2) , \qquad (7.27)$$

and is needed to fully distinguish states having the same weight. The representation labels are all integers. We take the subalgebra $\mathfrak{su}(k-1) \subset \mathfrak{su}(k)$ to be spanned by the subset of the $k \times k$ hermitian traceless matrices of the form

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccc}
0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\
0 & * & * & * \\
\vdots & * & * & * \\
0 & * & * & *
\end{array}\right),$$
(7.28)

where * denote possible non-zero entries in $\mathfrak{su}(k-1)$.

As an illustration of the connection between \mathcal{D} -function and immanants, consider n = 3. The matrix representation of $\Omega \in SU(3)$ in the fundamental representation (which is denoted by (1) once the trailing 0 has been eliminated) of SU(3) as

$$T(\Omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{D}_{100(0);100(0)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{100(0);010(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{100(0);001(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) \\ \mathcal{D}_{010(1);100(0)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{010(1);010(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{010(1);001(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) \\ \mathcal{D}_{001(1);100(0)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{001(1);010(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) & \mathcal{D}_{001(1);001(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.29)

with $\Omega \in SU(3)$. The result of Kostant [89] applied to $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ then states that

$$per(T(\Omega)) = imm^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{111(1);111(1)}^{(3)}(\Omega) ,$$

$$imm^{\{21\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{111(1);111(1)}^{(11)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{111(0);111(0)}^{(11)}(\Omega) , \qquad (7.30)$$

$$det(T(\Omega)) = imm^{\{111\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{000(0);000(0)}^{(0)}(\Omega) = 1 ,$$

For convenience, we use the symbols T and Ω to respectively denote matrices and elements in different SU(m) without indicating m; this does not affect our conclusions as our results apply to any m.

Our novel contribution is to extend result of [89] encapsulated in Equation (7.19) to submatrices of the fundamental representations. Our results enable application of SU(n)methods to the *m*-photon *n*-channel interferometry for n > m. I present a proof of our result in the next section.

7.2.3 Proving the theorem: the case N = m

We consider the state $|\Psi_{123...m}\rangle = a_1^{\dagger}(\omega_1)a_2^{\dagger}(\omega_2)\ldots a_m^{\dagger}(\omega_m)|0\rangle$, which lives in the (reducible) tensor product space $\mathbb{H}^{(m)} = \mathbb{H}_1^{(1)} \otimes \mathbb{H}_2^{(1)} \ldots \otimes \mathbb{H}_m^{(1)}$. The first lemma deals with the weight of this state.

Lemma 21. The SU(m) weight of $|\Psi_{123...m}\rangle$ is 0. This is immediate since every mode is occupied once, so $n_i = 1 \forall i$. Since the component k of the weight is $n_k - n_{k+1}$, $\hat{h}_i |\Psi_{123...m}\rangle = 0 \forall i$.

From Lemma 21, we write $|\Psi_{123...m}\rangle$ as an expansion over zero-weight states in all irrep occurring in $\mathbb{H}^{(m)}$ according to

$$\left|\Psi_{123\dots m}\right\rangle = \sum_{\alpha\lambda\ell} \tilde{c}_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha} \left|\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha}\right\rangle, \qquad \tilde{c}_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha} = \left\langle\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha}\right|\Psi_{123\dots m}\right\rangle, \tag{7.31}$$

where $(\lambda)_{\alpha}$ is the α -th copy of the irrep $(\lambda)_{\alpha}$ of SU(m), and ℓ labels those basis states that have 0-weight in the irrep $(\lambda)_{\alpha}$ of SU(m).

Lemma 22. With the notation above:

$$\sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \left| \Psi_{123\dots m} \right\rangle = \frac{m!}{\dim(\tau)} \sum_{\alpha t} \tilde{c}_t^{(\tau)\alpha} \left| \psi_t^{(\tau)\alpha} \right\rangle.$$
(7.32)

Proof. The proof of Lemma 2 relies on the duality between representations of the symmetric and the unitary groups. From duality, the basis states $\{ |\psi_t^{(\tau)_{\alpha}} \rangle \}$ are also basis states for the irrep $\{\tau\}$ of S_m . Hence, using Equation (7.23) we obtain

$$P(\sigma) |\Psi_{123\dots m}\rangle = \sum_{\alpha\lambda\ell} \left|\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha}\right\rangle \left\langle\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)\alpha}\right| P(\sigma) |\Psi_{123\dots m}\rangle , \qquad (7.33)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha \ell \lambda k} \left| \psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \right\rangle \Gamma_{\ell k}^{\{\lambda\}}(\sigma) \left\langle \psi_{k}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} | \Psi_{123...m} \right\rangle , \qquad (7.34)$$

$$= \sum_{\alpha \ell \lambda k} \left| \psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \right\rangle \Gamma_{k\ell}^{\{\lambda\}}(\sigma^{-1}) \, \tilde{c}_{k}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}}, \tag{7.35}$$

where $\Gamma^{\{\lambda\}}$ is the unitary irrep $\{\lambda\}$ of S_m . Writing $\chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) = \sum_t \Gamma_{tt}^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma)$ gives us

$$\sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \left| \Psi_{123\dots m} \right\rangle = \sum_{\alpha k \lambda \ell} \tilde{c}_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \left| \psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \right\rangle \left[\sum_{\sigma t} \Gamma_{tt}^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) \Gamma_{\ell k}^{\{\lambda\}}(\sigma^{-1}) \right], \quad (7.36)$$

$$= \frac{m!}{\dim(\tau)} \sum_{\alpha t} \tilde{c}_t^{(\tau)_\alpha} \left| \psi_t^{(\tau)_\alpha} \right\rangle , \qquad (7.37)$$

where we have used the orthogonality of characters to arrive at Equation (7.37).

Because the action of $\Omega \in SU(m)$ commutes with the action of $\sigma \in S_m$, we have

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \left[T_{11}(\Omega) T_{22}(\Omega) \dots T_{mm}(\Omega) \right], \qquad (7.38)$$
$$= \langle \Psi_{123\dots m} | \left[T(\Omega) \otimes T(\Omega) \dots \otimes T(\Omega) \right]$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \end{bmatrix} |\Psi_{123\dots m}\rangle , \qquad (7.39)$$

$$=\sum_{\alpha rt} (\tilde{c}_r^{\tau_\alpha})^* \, \tilde{c}_t^{\tau_\alpha} \, \frac{m!}{\dim(\tau)} \mathcal{D}_{rt}^{(\tau)}(\Omega) \,. \tag{7.40}$$

Introducing the scaled coefficients $c_t^{(\tau)_{\alpha}} = \tilde{c}_t^{(\tau)_{\alpha}} \sqrt{\frac{m!}{\dim(\tau)}}$, we finally obtain

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{rt} \left[\sum_{\alpha} (c_r^{(\tau)_\alpha})^* c_t^{(\tau)_\alpha} \right] \mathcal{D}_{rt}^{(\tau)}(\Omega) , \qquad (7.41)$$

where the sums over t and r is a sum over zero-weight states in $(\tau)_{\alpha}$.

This result is not unexpected as the operator

$$\hat{\Pi}^{\{\tau\}} = \left[\sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma)\right], \qquad \sigma \in S_m$$
(7.42)

is a projector to that subspace of S_m which has permutation symmetry $\{\tau\}$, and hence (by duality) is a projector to a subspace that carries (possibly multiple copies of) the irrep (τ) of SU(m) in the *m*-fold product $(1)^{\otimes m}$.

Theorem 23. (Kostant [89])

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{t} \mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)$$
(7.43)

Proof. We present a proof that will eventually allow us to dispense with the requirements that N = m and that states have zero-weight. Construct the matrix

$$W_{rt}^{\{\tau\}} = \sum_{\alpha} c_{\alpha t}^{(\tau)} \, (c_{\alpha r}^{(\tau)})^* \,. \tag{7.44}$$

Equation (7.41) then becomes

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{rt} W_{rt}^{\{\tau\}} \mathcal{D}_{rt}^{(\tau)}(\Omega) = \operatorname{Tr}\left[W^{\{\tau\}} \mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)\right], \qquad (7.45)$$

with $\mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)$ defined in Equation (7.18). Our objective is to prove that $W^{\{\tau\}}$ is the unit matrix.

Any immanant has the property of invariance under conjugation by elements in S_m *i.e.*, the immanant of any matrix satisfies

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \left[T_{11}(\Omega) T_{22}(\Omega) \dots T_{mm}(\Omega) \right]$$
$$= \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\tau\}}(\sigma) P^{-1}(\bar{\sigma}) P(\sigma) P(\bar{\sigma}) \left[T_{11}(\Omega) T_{22}(\Omega) \dots T_{mm}(\Omega) \right], \qquad (7.46)$$

with $\sigma, \bar{\sigma} \in S_m$. Under conjugation by $\bar{\sigma}$, Equation (7.41) becomes

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \operatorname{Tr} \left[\Gamma^{\{\tau\}}(\bar{\sigma}) W^{\{\tau\}} \Gamma^{\{\tau\}}(\bar{\sigma}^{-1}) \mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega) \right],$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left[W^{\{\tau\}} \mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega) \right].$$
(7.47)

Since $\mathcal{D}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)$ is certainly not the unit matrix for arbitrary Ω , it follows that

$$\Gamma^{\{\tau\}}(\bar{\sigma})W^{\{\tau\}}\Gamma^{\{\tau\}}(\bar{\sigma}^{-1}) = W^{\{\tau\}},\tag{7.48}$$

i.e. the matrix $W^{\{\tau\}}$ is invariant under any permutation. By Schur's lemma $W^{\{\tau\}}$ must therefore be proportional to the unit matrix, *i.e.* we have $W_{ts}^{\{\tau\}} = \xi \, \delta_{ts}$ with ξ the relevant constant of proportionality. The immanant thus takes the form

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(\Omega)) = \xi\left(\sum_{t} \mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\tau)}(\Omega)\right).$$
(7.49)

To determine ξ , choose $\Omega = \mathbb{1}$. Then $T(\mathbb{1})$ is the $m \times m$ unit matrix, and $T_{k,\sigma(k)}(\mathbb{1})$ is zero unless $\sigma = \mathbb{1} \in S_m$. The immanant for $\Omega = \mathbb{1}$ is then just the dimension of the irrep $\{\tau\}$ and we have

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\tau\}}(T(1)) = \chi^{\{\tau\}}(1) = \dim(\tau) = \xi, \quad \left(\sum_{t} 1\right) = \xi \, \dim(\{\tau\}) \tag{7.50}$$

since $\mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\tau)}(\mathbb{1}) = 1$. Hence, $\xi = 1$ and the theorem is proved.

This completes our results on \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of the fundamental matrix representation. The next section generalizes these results to submatrices of the fundamental representation.

7.2.4 Results on submatrices: the case N < m.

We now consider the submatrices of T. In multi-photon interferometry, such submatrices describe the unitary scattering from an input state of the form

$$\left|\Psi_{k_1\dots k_p}\right\rangle = a_{k_1}^{\dagger}(\omega_1)a_{k_2}^{\dagger}(\omega_2)\dots a_{k_p}^{\dagger}(\omega_p)\left|0\right\rangle, \qquad p < m, \qquad (7.51)$$

to an output state $|\Psi_{\ell_1...\ell_p}\rangle$, which need not the identical to $|\Psi_{k_1...k_p}\rangle$. Both input and output live in the reducible Hilbert space $\mathbb{H}^{(p)}$ and have expansions of the form

$$\left|\Psi_{k_1\dots k_p}\right\rangle = \sum_{\alpha\lambda\ell} \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \left|\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}}\right\rangle$$
(7.52)

where $\left|\psi_{\ell}^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}}\right\rangle$ has weight $[k_1 - k_2, k_2 - k_3, \dots, k_{p-1} - k_p]$.

First we select from $T(\Omega)$ a principal submatrix $\overline{T}(\Omega)_k$, *i.e.*, $\overline{T}(\Omega)_k$ is obtained by keeping rows and columns $k = (k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_p)$ with p < m. In such a case, input and output states are identical. The permutation group S_p shuffles the p indices k_1, k_2, \ldots, k_p amongst themselves. Although the submatrix $\overline{T}(\Omega)_k$ is not unitary, the proof of Theorem 3 does not depend on the unitarity of $T(\Omega)$ and so can be copied to show

Theorem 24. The immanant $\operatorname{imm}_{k}^{\{\lambda\}}(T(\Omega))$ of a submatrix $\overline{T}(\Omega)_{k}$, which is a principal submatrix of T, is given by

$$\operatorname{imm}_{k}^{\{\lambda\}}(T(\Omega)) = \sum_{r} \mathcal{D}_{rr}^{(\lambda)}(\Omega)$$
(7.53)

where (λ) is the irrep of SU(m) corresponding to the partition $\{\lambda\}$ and where the sum over r is a sum over all the states in (λ) with weight $[k_1 - k_2, k_2 - k_3, \dots, k_{p-1} - k_p]$; following Equation(7.52) this is the weight of $|\Psi_{k_1\dots k_p}\rangle$ in Equation (7.51) and need not be zero.

As an illustration, if the third and fifth rows and columns are removed from the 5×5 fundamental matrix representation of SU(5), then the states entering in the sum of Equation (7.53) are linear combinations of terms of the form

$$P(\sigma) \left[a_1^{\dagger}(\omega_1) a_2^{\dagger}(\omega_2) a_4^{\dagger}(\omega_3) \left| 0 \right\rangle \right] \tag{7.54}$$

with weight [0, 1, -1, 1]. Using the $\mathfrak{su}(k) \downarrow \mathfrak{su}(k-1)$ branching rules [151, 184] to label basis states, the $\{2, 1\}$ immanant of this submatrix is the sum

$$\operatorname{imm}_{124}^{\{2,1\}}(T(\Omega)) = \mathcal{D}_{11010(2)(1)(1);11010(2)(1)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{11010(0,1)(1)(1);11010(0,1)(1)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega), \quad (7.55)$$

where the labels (2)(1)(1) and (0,1)(1)(1) refer to the $\mathfrak{su}(4) \supset \mathfrak{su}(3) \supset \mathfrak{su}(2)$ chains of irreps (recall that trailing 0s are omitted). Now we consider our results applied to the most general submatrices of a matrix. To fix ideas, we start with the 4×4 matrix T and remove row 1 and column 2 to obtain the submatrix \overline{T} :

$$T(\Omega) \to \bar{T}(\Omega) = \begin{pmatrix} T_{21}(\Omega) & T_{23}(\Omega) & T_{24}(\Omega) \\ T_{31}(\Omega) & T_{33}(\Omega) & T_{34}(\Omega) \\ T_{41}(\Omega) & T_{43}(\Omega) & T_{44}(\Omega) \end{pmatrix}$$
(7.56)

The immanants of 3×3 submatrix $\overline{T}(\Omega)$ are in the form

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\lambda\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega)) = \sum_{\sigma} \chi^{\{\lambda\}}(\sigma) P(\sigma) \left[T_{11}(\Omega) T_{22}(\Omega) T_{34}(\Omega) \right]$$
(7.57)

$$= \hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}} \left[T_{11}(\Omega) T_{22}(\Omega) T_{34}(\Omega) \right] , \qquad (7.58)$$

where $\hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}}$ is the immanant projector of Equation (7.42) and σ permutes the triple (124).

Let $\{a_k^{\dagger}(\omega_k) | 0 \rangle, k = 1, \dots, 4\}$ be a basis for the fundamental irrep of SU(4), and define

$$|\Psi_{134}\rangle \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} a_1^{\dagger}(\omega_1) a_3^{\dagger}(\omega_2) a_4^{\dagger}(\omega_3) |0\rangle , \qquad (7.59)$$

$$|\Phi_{234}\rangle \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} a_2^{\dagger}(\omega_1) a_3^{\dagger}(\omega_2) a_4^{\dagger}(\omega_3) |0\rangle \tag{7.60}$$

as three-particle states elements of $\mathbb{H}^{\{1\}\otimes\{1\}\otimes\{1\}}$. Clearly there is $\sigma' \in S_4$ such that

$$|\Psi_{234}\rangle = P(\sigma') |\Phi_{134}\rangle . \tag{7.61}$$

Indeed by inspection this element is given by $P(\sigma') = P_{12}$. More generally, if

$$|\Phi_k\rangle = a_{k_1}^{\dagger}(\omega)a_{k_2}^{\dagger}(\omega_2)a_{k_3}^{\dagger}(\omega_3)|0\rangle , k = (k_1, k_2, k_3), \qquad (7.62)$$

$$|\Psi_{q}\rangle = a_{q_{1}}^{\dagger}(\omega)a_{q_{2}}^{\dagger}(\omega_{2})a_{q_{3}}^{\dagger}(\omega_{3})|0\rangle , q = (q_{1}, q_{2}, q_{3}), \qquad (7.63)$$

then there is σ_{qk} exists such that $|\Psi_q\rangle = P(\sigma_{qk}) |\Phi_k\rangle$. As the action of the permutation group commutes with the action of the unitary group:

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\lambda\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega))_{kq} = \langle \Phi_k | [T(\Omega) \otimes T(\Omega) \dots \otimes T(\Omega)] \hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}} P(\sigma_{qk}) | \Phi_k \rangle$$
(7.64)

$$= \langle \Phi_k | \hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}} [T(\Omega) \otimes T(\Omega) \dots \otimes T(\Omega)] P(\sigma_{qk}) | \Phi_k \rangle$$
(7.65)

$$=\sum_{rs\alpha} \langle \Phi_k | \hat{\Pi}^{\{\lambda\}} | \psi_r^{(\lambda)_\alpha} \rangle \times \left\langle \psi_r^{(\lambda)_\alpha} | T^{(\lambda)}(\Omega) P(\sigma_{qk}) | \psi_s^{(\lambda)_\alpha} \rangle \left\langle \psi_s^{(\lambda)_\alpha} | \Phi_k \right\rangle$$
(7.66)

Now, the permutation $P(\sigma_{qk})$ is represented by a unitary matrix in the carrier space $(\lambda)_{\alpha}$. Thus, there exist $\Omega_{qk} \in \mathfrak{su}(4)$ and a phase ζ such that $P(\sigma_{qk}) \left| \psi_s^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \right\rangle = e^{i\zeta} T(\Omega_{qk}) \left| \psi_s^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}} \right\rangle$. This transforms our original problem back to the case of principal submatrices, but with now an element $\Omega \cdot \Omega_{qk}$ *i.e.*,

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{\lambda\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega)) = \sum_{t} \mathcal{D}_{tt}^{(\lambda)}(\Omega \cdot \Omega_{qk}).$$
(7.67)

Unfortunately, the action $P(\sigma_{qk}) |\psi_s^{(\lambda)_{\alpha}}\rangle$ is in general non-trivial [45, 166, 185] and it is not obvious how to find Ω' , much less $(\Omega \cdot \Omega')$. Nevertheless, we found that the sum of \mathcal{D} -functions that occur on the right hand side of Equation (7.66) always contains the same number of Das the dimension of the dual irrep $\{\tau\}$, and that the coefficients of these D's is always one. This result relied on (i) evaluating the appropriate group functions using the algorithm [3], (ii) explicitly constructing each of the immanants of all possible 4×4 submatrices and of all possible 3×3 submatrices of the fundamental irrep of $\mathfrak{su}(5)$ and (iii) explicitly constructing the immanants of 3×3 submatrices of the fundamental irrep of $\mathfrak{su}(4)$ or $\mathfrak{su}(5)$.

Thus, in the specific case of the submatrix given in Equation (7.56), we have

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{21\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega))_{(234)(134)} = \mathcal{D}_{0111(2)(1);1011(2)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{0111(11)(1);1011(11)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega).$$
(7.68)

We also verified that a similar identity holds for all 3×3 submatrices of $T(\Omega) \in \mathfrak{su}(4)$. For instance,

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{21\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega))_{(234)(124)} = \mathcal{D}_{0111,(2)(1);1101(2)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{0111(11)(1);1101(01)(1)}^{(1,1)}(\Omega), \quad (7.69)$$

$$\operatorname{imm}^{\{21\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega))_{(134)(124)} = \mathcal{D}^{(1,1)}_{1011(2)(1);1110(2)(1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}^{(1,1)}_{1011(11)(1);1110(01)(1)}(\Omega) .$$
(7.70)

Likewise, we have, for $T(\Omega) \in \mathfrak{su}(5)$,

this last being an example of a 4×4 submatrix not principal coaxial. We thus conjecture that, even for generic submatrices, $\operatorname{imm}^{\{\lambda\}}(\bar{T}(\Omega))_{kq}$ is a sum of dim $\{\lambda\}$ distinct D's with coefficients equal to +1.

7.2.5 An application: Relations between \mathcal{D} -functions

Here we present a relation between \mathcal{D} -functions of SU(3) and those of SU(4). This relation is obtained using Theorem 24 and a theorem due to Littlewood [80].

Littlewood [80] has established relations between immanants of a matrix and sums of products of immanants of principal coaxial submatrices. For instance, the equality for Schur functions $\{3\}\{1\} = \{3, 1\} + \{4\}$ yields the immanant relation

$$\sum_{ijk\ell} \left(\operatorname{imm}_{ijk}^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega)) \right) \left(\operatorname{imm}_{\ell}^{\{1\}}(T(\Omega)) \right) = \operatorname{imm}^{\{3,1\}}(T(\Omega)) + \operatorname{imm}^{\{4\}}(T(\Omega))$$

where the sum over $ijk\ell$ is a sum over complementary coaxial submatrices, i.e.

This expands to a sum of products of immanants of submatrices given explicitly by

$$\operatorname{imm}_{123}^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega))\operatorname{imm}_{4}^{\{1\}}(T(\Omega)) + \operatorname{imm}_{124}^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega))\operatorname{imm}_{3}^{\{1\}}(T(\Omega)) + \operatorname{imm}_{134}^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega))\operatorname{imm}_{2}^{\{1\}}(T(\Omega)) + \operatorname{imm}_{234}^{\{3\}}(T(\Omega))\operatorname{imm}_{1}^{\{1\}}(T(\Omega)) = \operatorname{imm}_{3,1}^{\{3,1\}}(T(\Omega)) + \operatorname{imm}_{4}^{\{4\}}(T(\Omega)),$$
(7.73)

which becomes an equality on the corresponding products of sum of SU(4) \mathcal{D} -functions:

$$\mathcal{D}_{1110(2)(1);1110(2)(1)}^{(3)}(\Omega)\mathcal{D}_{0001(1)(1);0001(1)(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{1101(2)(1);1101(2)(1)}^{(3)}(\Omega)\mathcal{D}_{0010(1)(1);010(1)(1)}^{(1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{1011(2)(2);1011(2)(2)}^{(3)}(\Omega)\mathcal{D}_{0100(1)(0);0100(1)(0)}^{(1)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{0111(3)(2);0111(3)(2)}^{(3)}(\Omega)\mathcal{D}_{1000(0)(0);1000(0)(0)}^{(1)}(\Omega) = \mathcal{D}_{1111(3)(2);1111(3)(2)}^{(21)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{1111(11)(2);1111(11)(2)}^{(21)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{1111(11)(0);1111(11)(0)}^{(21)}(\Omega) + \mathcal{D}_{1111(3)(2);1111(3)(2)}^{(4)}(\Omega).$$
(7.74)

The subgroup labels are obtained by systematically using the $\mathfrak{su}(k) \downarrow \mathfrak{su}(k-1)$ branching rules [3].

7.2.6 Conclusion

Immanants are connected to the interferometry of partially distinguishable pulses [71, 75, 76]; the associated permutation symmetries lead to novel interpretations of immanants as a type of normal coordinates describing lossless passive interferometers [71]. This connection immediately provides a physical interpretation to the appropriate combinations of group functions corresponding to these immanants and should stimulate further development of toolkits to compute group functions.

Conjectures in complexity theory regarding the behaviour of permanents of large unitary matrices may also provide an entry point towards understanding the behaviour of \mathcal{D} -functions in similar asymptotic regimes. It remains to see if this line of thought can also be turned around it might be possible to use results on the asymptotic behaviour of \mathcal{D} -functions to establish some conjectures on the behaviour of immanants of large matrices.

Finally, although the Schur-Weyl duality is not directly applicable to subgroups of the unitary groups, the permutation group retains its deep connection with representations of the classical groups, which are considered as subgroups of the unitary groups [186, 187]. Hence, it might be possible to extend the results of this section to functions of the orthogonal or symplectic groups, thus generalizing the result of Section 5 on immanants associated with plethysms of representations.

7.3 Conclusion

In summary, I have advanced group theoretic methods for linear optics by means of algorithms for computing $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions and by finding relations between \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of the interferometer transformation. Our algorithm for \mathcal{D} -functions enables the expression of interferometry outputs in terms of $SU(n) \mathcal{D}$ -functions similar to the three-photon case (3.49). Furthermore, my results on the connection between \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants allow for the computation of interferometer outputs using immanants similar to the case of three-photons outputs (3.51). Thus, I contribute to group-theoretic methods for analyzing and simulating multi-photon multi-channel interferometry along the lines of the three-photon three-channel treatment of Section 3.4.

Chapter 8

Summary

This chapter summarizes my contribution to the theory of design, characterization and simulation of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry (Section 8.1). I conclude the chapter and the thesis with a list of open problems related to the contribution reported herein (Section 8.2).

8.1 Summary of results

In summary, I contribute to the theory of design, characterization and simulation of multiphoton multi-channel interferometry. The advances that I have reported in this thesis contribute to making linear optics a viable candidate for QIP.

In the design of linear optics, we devised a procedure that enables the realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations on the spatial and internal degrees of freedom of light. Our procedure receives as input the dimensions n_s and n_p of spatial and internal DOFs respectively and an $n_s n_p \times n_s n_p$ unitary matrix and yields as output a sequence of matrices that correspond to either $2n_p \times 2n_p$ beam-splitter transformations or to arbitrary $n_p \times n_p$ internal transformations. By exploiting the n_p -dimensional internal DOF, the required number of beam splitters is reduced by a factor of $n_p^2/2$ as compared to realizing the same transformation on spatial modes alone. Our procedure thus enables realizing larger unitary transformations that are required for implementing QIP tasks.

My contribution to the characterization of multi-channel interferometers includes an accurate and precise procedure that uses one- and two-photon interference. Our procedure is advantageous to the existing procedures as it accounts for and corrects systematic errors due to spatiotemporal mode mismatch in the source field. Our procedure employs experimentally

measured source spectra to achieve accurate curve-fitting between measured and theoretical coincidence counts and thus yields accurate transformation matrix elements. We use maximum-likelihood estimation to find the unitary matrix that best represents the measured data. A scattershot approach is recommended for reducing the required characterization time. A bootstrapping procedure is introduced to obtain meaningful error bars on the characterized parameters even when the form of experimental error is unknown. The efficacy of the characterization procedure is verified numerically and experimentally.

I advance the theory of simulation of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry by developing SU(n) group-theoretic methods for simulation of linear optics. I devise an algorithm for computing boson realization of canonical SU(n) basis states and to compute SU(n) \mathcal{D} -functions. I find relations between these \mathcal{D} -functions and immanants of the matrices and submatrices of the fundamental SU(n) representations. These results open the possibility speeding up the computation of arbitrary multi-photon multi-channel measurement probabilities.

8.2 Open problems

Here I list the problems that have been opened by the advances reported in this thesis. Section 8.2.1 presents two problems that deal with improvements in the linear optical realization of discrete unitary transformations. A thorough experimental verification of our characterization procedure is recommended in Section 8.2.2. In Section 8.2.3, I suggest open problems regarding analyzing and improving the speed and the complexity of our SU(n)methods and applying them to optimally compute multi-photon multi-channel measurement probabilities.

8.2.1 Improved realization of linear optics on multiple degrees of freedom

Our design procedure (Chapter 4) enables realizing unitary matrices on the combined state of light in the spatial and one internal DOF but there is no known procedure to transform the composite state of light in more than one internal DOF. The key challenge to realizing such a transformation is the realization of beam-splitter-like transformations that mix light among different DOFs. This challenge can be overcome on a case-by-case basis for different internal DOFs.

Another direction related to the design of interferometers is to devise a realization that requires the minimum number of beam splitters and internal elements. We conjecture that our decomposition is optimal in its beam-splitter-number requirement. However, we think that other decompositions might reduce the requirement of optical elements acting on internal modes and experimental implementations would gain from such a decomposition.

8.2.2 Experimental evidence for efficacy of characterization procedure

Chapter 6 presents experimental evidence for the efficacy of our procedure for beam splitter characterization (m = 2). A verification of the accuracy and precision of our procedure on bigger (m > 2) interferometers is appealing. A comparison of the accuracy and precision of our procedure with respect to classical-light procedures [68] would also experimentally relevant.

8.2.3 Group-theoretic methods for simulation of linear optics

One open problem related to our boson-realization algorithm (Section 7.1) is to devise algorithm that computes only a specific SU(n) state rather than the entire set of SU(n) states of an irrep. Such an algorithm is expected to be faster than our algorithm. One approach to constructing a specific SU(n) state to construct the HWS of a given SU(n) irrep and systematically lower from this SU(n) HWS via the correct SU(m) HWSs for 2 < m < nto the given SU(n) weight. A faster algorithm to construct specific basic states would also enable a faster \mathcal{D} -function computation algorithm.

Finally, the problem of exploiting our group-theoretic methods to speedup the computation the outputs of multi-photon multi-channel interferometry remains open. Faster classical algorithms for simulating linear optics would make feasible the benchmarking and simulations of this candidate system for QIP.

Appendix A

Constructive proof of the CSD

In this appendix, I present a constructive proof of Theorem 11 and a procedure to construct the CSD. Recall that our CSD is a building block of our main decomposition procedure, which is discussed chapter 4.

The output of our constructive proof matches the output of existing procedures [90,91] but our proof emphasizes the key role of the singular value decomposition in the CSD. Furthermore, numerical implementations of this proof are expected to be more efficient and stable as compared to existing procedures because of the efficiency and stability of established singular-value-decomposition algorithms [93,94]. Note that efficiency of numerical implementations refers to the computational cost of performing the decomposition and differs from the requirement of efficient realization, which deals with the number of optical elements required to experimentally realize the matrices.

Recall that the singular value decomposition factorizes any $m \times n$ complex matrix M into the form

$$M = W\Lambda^M V^{\dagger} \tag{A.1}$$

for $m \times m$ unitary matrix W, $n \times n$ unitary matrix V and real non-negative diagonal matrix Λ^M . The matrices W and V diagonalize $M M^{\dagger}$ and $M^{\dagger}M$ respectively. In other words, the rows of W and V are the eigenvectors of $M M^{\dagger}$ and $M^{\dagger}M$. These rows are called the left-and right-singular vectors of M.

Now I describe the construction of metrics \mathbb{L}_{m+n} , \mathbb{S}_{m+n} , \mathbb{R}_{m+n} in the CSD of a given $(m+n) \times (m+n)$ unitary matrix U.

Proof of Theorem 7. In order to perform CSD of an arbitrary unitary matrix U, it is expressed

as a 2×2 block matrix

$$U = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} A & B \\ \hline C & D \end{array}\right),\tag{A.2}$$

for complex matrices A, B, C and D of dimensions $m \times m, n \times m, m \times n$ and $n \times n$ respectively. The constructive proof is in three parts. First, I show the matrices A and C have the same left- and right-singular vectors and that B and D, too, have the same left- and right-singular vectors. The next step is to show that these common singular vectors can diagonalize each of the matrices $\{A, B, C, D\}$. Finally, I show that diagonal form of the matrix U (A.2) is a CS matrix.

The unitarity of U implies the relations

$$UU^{\dagger} \equiv \left(\begin{array}{c|c} AA^{\dagger} + BB^{\dagger} & AC^{\dagger} + B\mathcal{D}^{\dagger} \\ \hline CA^{\dagger} + DB^{\dagger} & CC^{\dagger} + D\mathcal{D}^{\dagger} \end{array} \right) = \mathbb{1}_{m+n}, \tag{A.3}$$

$$U^{\dagger}U \equiv \begin{pmatrix} A^{\dagger}A + C^{\dagger}C & A^{\dagger}B + C^{\dagger}D \\ \hline B^{\dagger}A + \mathcal{D}^{\dagger}C & B^{\dagger}B + \mathcal{D}^{\dagger}D \end{pmatrix} = \mathbb{1}_{m+n}.$$
 (A.4)

Considering the blocks on the diagonals of Equations (A.3) yields the matrix equations

$$A A^{\dagger} + B B^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}_m, \tag{A.5}$$

$$C C^{\dagger} + D \mathcal{D}^{\dagger} = \mathbb{1}_{n}. \tag{A.6}$$

Equations (A.5) and (A.6) imply that

$$[A A^{\dagger}, B B^{\dagger}] = 0, \tag{A.7}$$

$$[C C^{\dagger}, D \mathcal{D}^{\dagger}] = 0, \tag{A.8}$$

i.e., $A A^{\dagger}$ commutes with $B B^{\dagger}$ and $C C^{\dagger}$ commutes with $D D^{\dagger}$. Furthermore, $A A^{\dagger}$ and $B B^{\dagger}$ are normal matrices. Hence, $A A^{\dagger}$ and $B B^{\dagger}$ are diagonalized by the same matrix; or A and B have the same (up to a phase) left-singular vectors, denoted by the unitary matrix L_m . From Equation (A.8), C and D have the same left-singular vectors, denoted by L'_n . From Equation (A.4), we have

$$A^{\dagger}A + C^{\dagger}C = \mathbb{1}_m, \tag{A.9}$$

$$B^{\dagger}B + \mathcal{D}^{\dagger}D = \mathbb{1}_n. \tag{A.10}$$

Following the same line of reasoning as the one used for obtaining common left-singular vectors, we observe that matrices A and C have the same right-singular vectors, say R_m , and B and D have the same right-singular vectors R'_n .

The left- and right-singular vectors of the matrices $\{A, B, C, D\}$ can be employed to diagonalize these matrices according to

$$A = L_m \Lambda^A R_m^{\dagger}, \tag{A.11}$$

$$B = L_m \Lambda^B R_n^{\prime\dagger}, \tag{A.12}$$

$$C = L'_n \Lambda^C R^{\dagger}_m, \tag{A.13}$$

$$D = L'_n \Lambda^D R'^{\dagger}_n, \tag{A.14}$$

for diagonal complex matrices $\{\Lambda^A, \Lambda^B, \Lambda^C, \Lambda^D\}$. The matrices consisting of the absolute values of the corresponding complex elements of $\{\Lambda^A, \Lambda^B, \Lambda^C, \Lambda^D\}$ matrices are denoted by $|\Lambda^A|$, $|\Lambda^B|$, $|\Lambda^C|$ and $|\Lambda^D|$ and comprise the singular values of A, B, C and D matrices respectively. Equations (A.11) to (A.14) can be combined into a single $(m + n) \times (m + n)$ matrix equation

$$\begin{pmatrix}
A & B \\
\hline C & D
\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}
L_m & \\
\hline & L'_n
\end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix}
\Lambda^A & \Lambda^B \\
\hline & \Lambda^C & \Lambda^D
\end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix}
R_m^{\dagger} & \\
\hline & R_n^{\prime\dagger}
\end{pmatrix}$$

$$\implies U = \tilde{\mathbb{L}}_{m+n}\tilde{\Lambda}_{m+n}\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_{m+n}.$$
(A.15)

Factorization (A.15) is similar to the CSD because $\tilde{\mathbb{L}}_{m+n}$ and $\tilde{\mathbb{R}}_{m+n}$ block-diagonal unitary matrices and $\tilde{\Lambda}_{m+n}$ comprises diagonal blocks. In the remainder of this appendix, we show that $\tilde{\Lambda}_{m+n}$ can be brought into the form of a CS matrix (3.54), thereby completing the construction of the CSD. If the matrices L_m (L'_n) and R_m (R'_n) are calculated from the singular value decomposition of A (D), then Λ^A (Λ^D) is a real and non-negative diagonal matrix. The matrices L_m , L'_n , R_m and R'_n also diagonalize the matrices C and D resulting in Λ^B and Λ^C . Unlike Λ^A and Λ^D , which consist of real elements, these matrices Λ^B and Λ^C are complex matrices in general. In other words, the diagonal matrices Λ^B and Λ^C are of the form

$$\Lambda^{B} = P|\Lambda^{B}|$$

$$\Lambda^{C} = -|\Lambda^{C}|P^{\dagger},$$
(A.16)

where P is an $m \times m$ diagonal unitary matrix. The phases P_{jj} in Equation (A.16) for C are complex conjugates of the phases for B because of the unitarity of Λ .

We can remove the matrix P from Λ^B and Λ^C by redefining L_m and R_m as

$$\tilde{L}_m = L_m P, \tag{A.17}$$

$$\tilde{R}_m = R_m P. \tag{A.18}$$

Thus Equation (A.15) can be rewritten as:

or

$$U = \mathbb{L}_{m+n} \Lambda_{m+n} \mathbb{R}_{m+n}.$$
 (A.20)

Note that the matrix Λ_{m+n} comprises only real elements. Furthermore, Λ_{m+n} is unitary because it is a product $\Lambda_{m+n} = \mathbb{L}_{m+n}^{\dagger} U \mathbb{R}_{m+n}^{\dagger}$. Hence, λ_{m+n} is an orthogonal matrix.

The orthogonality of the Λ implies that any two rows and any two columns of the matrix are orthogonal. Therefore, the 2 × 2 block matrices

$$\Lambda_{i} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda_{i,i} & \Lambda_{i,i+m} \\ \\ \Lambda_{i+m,i} & \Lambda_{i+m,i+m} \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.21)

is also an orthogonal matrix. Any 2×2 orthogonal matrix is of the form

$$\Lambda_i = \begin{pmatrix} \cos \theta_i & \sin \theta_i \\ -\sin \theta_i & \cos \theta_i \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.22)

for $1 \leq i \leq m$.

Next we consider the case of i > m. For the matrix Λ^B all the columns with the index i > m are zero. Similarly, for the matrix Λ^C all the rows with the index i > m are zero. From the unitarity of Λ_{m+n} , we see that each of the diagonal elements in the last n - m columns and rows of the matrix Λ^D is unity. In summary, the matrix Λ_{m+n} is of the form

$$\Lambda_{m+n} = \mathbb{S}_{2m} \oplus \mathbb{1}_{n-m} \tag{A.23}$$

for \mathbb{S}_{2m} a CS matrix in the form of Equation (3.54).

This completes our procedure for factorizing a given unitary matrix using the CSD. MATLAB code for our CSD procedure is available online [98].
Appendix B

Curve-fitting subroutine

Here I detail the inputs and outputs of the curve-fitting algorithm employed in our accurate and precise characterization procedure (Chapter 5). The accurate and precise characterization procedure (Chapter 5) employs curve fitting in Algorithm 3 to estimate the mode-matching parameter γ and in Algorithms 4–6 to estimate the interferometer-matrix arguments $\{\theta_{ij}\}$. The curve-fitting algorithm uses the experimental data and determines those values of unknown parameters that yield the best between experimental and theoretical coincidence rates.

The curve-fitting algorithm receives the following inputs: (i) the choice of parameters to be fitted; (ii) the coincidence counts $\{C_{ii'jj'}^{\exp}(\tau)\}$; (iii) an objective function, which characterizes the least-square error between expected and experimental counts; and (iv) the initial guesses for each of the fitted parameters. The output of the curve-fitting subroutine is the set of parameter values that optimize the objective function.

The first input to the subroutine is the choice of the parameters to be fit. The curve-fitting subroutine fits three parameters. One of these three (namely the mode-matching parameter γ in Algorithm 3 or the $|\theta_{ij}|$ or $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ value in Algorithm 6) is related to the shape of the curve, whereas the other two are related to the ordinate scaling and the abscissa shift of the curve respectively. The ordinate scaling factor comprises the unknown losses { κ_i, ν_j }, transmission factors { λ_i, μ_j } and the incident photon-pair count. The horizontal shift factor accounts for the unknown zero of the time delay between the incident photons. The algorithm returns the values of the shape parameter, the abscissa shift and the ordinate scaling that best fit the given coincidence curves.

The second input is the experimental data that are fit to the theoretical coincidence



Figure B.1: Simulated coincidence counts for output ports i, i' and input ports j, j' of interferometer with $\alpha_{ii} = \alpha_{i'j'} = \sqrt{3}/4$ and $\alpha_{ii'} = \alpha_{ij'} = 1/4$ and for different values of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$. The value of $\beta_{ii'jj'}$ in each respective figure is (a) π , (b) 0, (c) $\pi/3$ and (d) $2\pi/3$. The coincidence counts corresponding to $\tau = 0$ and $\tau \to \infty$ are marked on each plot by $C^{\exp}(0)$ and $C^{\exp}(\infty)$ respectively.

curves, which are described in the third input: the objective function. The objective function quantifies the goodness of fit between the experimental data and the parameterized curve. We use a weighted sum

$$\sum_{\tau \in T} w(\tau) |C^{\exp}(\tau) - C'(\tau)|^2$$
(B.1)

of squares between the experimental data and the fitted curve as the objective function [110] for weighs $w(\tau)$. We assume that the pdfs of the coincidence counts are proportional to $\sqrt{C^{\exp}(\tau)}$ and we assign the weights

$$w(\tau) = \begin{cases} 1/C^{\exp}(\tau) & \text{if } C^{\exp}(\tau) \neq 0\\ 1 & \text{if } C^{\exp}(\tau) = 0 \end{cases}$$
(B.2)

to the squared sum of residues. In case the pdf's of the residuals for different values of τ is not known, standard methods for non-parametric estimation of residual distribution can be employed to estimate the pdf's [122, 123]. Thus, the curve fitting algorithm returns those values of the fitting parameters that minimize weighted sum of squared residues between experimental and fitted data.

The curve-fitting procedure optimizes the fitness function over the domain of the fitting parameter values. Like other optimization procedures, the convergence of curve fitting is sensitive to the initial guesses of the fitting parameters. The following heuristics give good guesses for the three fitting parameters. We guess the ordinate scaling as the ratio

$$\frac{C^{\exp}(\infty)}{C_{ii'jj'}(\infty)} \tag{B.3}$$

of the experimental coincidence counts

$$C^{\exp}(\infty) \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \frac{C^{\exp}(\tau_1) + C^{\exp}(\tau_\ell)}{2},\tag{B.4}$$

to the coincidence probability $C_{ii'jj'}(\infty)$ for large (compared to the temporal length of the photon) time-delay values. The γ value is guessed for Algorithm 3 as the ratio of the visibility

of the experimental curve to the expected visibility in the curve. The initial guesses for $\vartheta \equiv |\theta_{ij}|$ and $\vartheta \equiv \beta_{ii'jj'}$ are based on the known estimate of γ and the visibility

$$V = \frac{2\gamma \cos^2 \vartheta \sin^2 \vartheta}{\cos^4 \vartheta + \sin^4 \vartheta}.$$
 (B.5)

of the curve. As there are four kinds of curves (see Figure B.1) possible for different values of the shape parameter $(\gamma, |\theta_{ij}|, \beta_{ii'j'})$, another approach is to perform curve fitting four times, each time with a value from the set $\pi/4, 3\pi/4, 5\pi/4, 7\pi/4$ of initial guesses and choose the fitted parameters that optimize the objective function. Finally, the initial value of the abscissa shift parameter is guessed such that the global maxima or minima (whichever is further from the mean of the coincidence-count values over τ) of the coincidence curve is at zero time delay.

In summary, the curve fitting procedure uses the measured coincidence counts, the objective function and the initial guesses to compute the parameters that yield he best fit between theoretical and measured coincidence counts. This completes our description of the curve-fitting procedure and of heuristics that can be employed to compute the initial guesses for the fitted parameters.

Appendix C

Choice of subalgebra chain

This appendix elaborates on the different choices of sub algebra chain that can be employed in the labelling of the SU(n) states and \mathcal{D} -functions. Our algorithms construct canonical basis states that reduce the subalgebra chain (3.16). Other $\mathfrak{su}(n) \supset \mathfrak{su}(n-1) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra chains are possible and our algorithm can be generalized to construct canonical basis states that reduce other chains, as I discuss in this appendix.

Each $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ subalgebra of $\mathfrak{su}(n)$, m < n is specified by the sets of raising, lowering and Cartan operators that generate it. For a given sequence

$$I^{(m)} = \left\{ i_1^{(m)}, i_2^{(m)}, \dots, i_m^{(m)} \right\}$$
(C.1)

of m increasing integers, we can define the corresponding set of raising, lowering and Cartan operators

$$\left\{C_{i_1,i_2}, C_{i_1,i_3}, \dots, C_{i_1,i_m}, C_{i_2,i_3}, \dots, C_{i_2,i_m}, \dots, C_{i_{m-1},i_m}\right\}$$
 (Raising) (C.2)

$$\left\{C_{i_2,i_1}, C_{i_3,i_1}, \dots, C_{i_m,i_1}, C_{i_3,i_2}, \dots, C_{i_m,i_2}, \dots, C_{i_m,i_{m-1}}\right\}$$
 (Lowering) (C.3)

$$\left\{C_{i_{2},i_{2}}-C_{i_{1},i_{1}},C_{i_{3},i_{3}}-C_{i_{2},i_{2}},\ldots,C_{i_{m},i_{m}}-C_{i_{m-1},i_{m-1}}\right\}$$
 (Cartan) (C.4)

that generate the algebra. Thus, each $\mathfrak{su}(n) \supset \mathfrak{su}(n-1) \supset \cdots \supset \mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra chain is

uniquely specified by the ordered sequences $I^{(m)}$: m < n of integers, where

$$I^{(n-1)} = \{i_1^{(n-1)}, i_2^{(n-1)}, \dots, i_{n-1}^{(n-1)}\} \subset \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$$

$$I^{(n-2)} = \{i_1^{(n-2)}, i_2^{(n-2)}, \dots, i_{n-1}^{(n-2)}\} \subset I^{(n-1)}$$

$$\dots$$

$$I^{(m-1)} = \{i_1^{(m-1)}, i_2^{(m-1)}, \dots, i_m^{(m-1)}\} \subset I^{(m)}$$

$$\dots$$

$$I^{(2)} = \{i_1^{(2)}, i_2^{(2)}\} \subset I^{(3)}.$$
(C.5)

Consider the example of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebras of $\mathfrak{su}(3)$. The three subsets

$$\{C_{1,2}, C_{2,1}, C_{1,1} - C_{2,2}\}$$
(C.6)

$$\{C_{1,3}, C_{3,1}, C_{1,1} - C_{3,3}\}$$
(C.7)

$$\{C_{2,3}, C_{3,2}, C_{2,2} - C_{3,3}\}$$
(C.8)

of the generators $\{C_{i,j}: i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}\}$ of $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ generate three distinct $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebras. Each of the three subsets (C.6)-(C.8) can be labelled with a two-element subset of the $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and can be employed to define canonical basis states of SU(n). For instance, consider $(\lambda, \kappa) = (1, 1)$ irrep of SU(3). The weight $(\lambda_2, \lambda_1) = (0, 0)$ is associated with a two-dimensional space. We can identify two basis states of this space by specifying the following:

- 1. choice of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebra. For instance $I^{(2)} = \{1, 2\}$, which corresponds to the algebra generated by $\{C_{1,2}, C_{2,1}, C_{1,1} C_{2,2}\}$,
- 2. $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,3}(3)$ irreps label: $K^{(3)} = (1,1)$, $\mathfrak{su}_{(1,2)}(2)$ irreps label: $K^{(2)} = (0)$ and (1) for the two basis states.
- 3. $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,3}(3)$ weights: (0,0), $\mathfrak{su}_{(1,2)}(2)$ weights: (0).

Another basis set of the $\Lambda = (0, 0)$ space of $\mathfrak{su}(3)$ irrep K = (1, 1) is specified by choosing a different $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ subalgebra as follows.

- 1. choice of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ algebra. For instance $I^{(2)} = \{1, 3\}$, which corresponds to the algebra generated by $\{C_{1,3}, C_{3,1}, C_{1,1} C_{3,3}\}$,
- 2. $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,3}(3)$ irreps label: $K^{(3)} = (1,1)$, $\mathfrak{su}_{(1,3)}(2)$ irreps label: $K^{(2)} = (0)$ and (1) for the two basis states.
- 3. $\mathfrak{su}_{1,2,3}(3)$ weights: (0,0), $\mathfrak{su}_{(1,3)}(2)$ weights: (0).

Thus, different choices of subalgebra chain give us different basis states.

In the main text, we have chosen the subalgebra chain (3.16). Our algorithms can be modified to account for other choices of subalgbra chain by choosing a different set of lowering operators in the basis-set subroutine. Thus our algorithms can be used to construct states and \mathcal{D} -functions in any of the bases that reduce $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ subalgebra chains.

Appendix D

Connection to Gelfand-Tsetlin basis

In this appendix, I detail the mapping between our SU(n) basis states and the canonical Gelfand-Tsetlin (GT) basis. The GT basis identifies each SU(n) irrep with a sequence of n numbers

$$S_n = (m_{1,n}, \dots, m_{n,n}) \tag{D.1}$$

$$m_{k,n} \ge m_{k+1,n} \ \forall 1 \le k \le n-1, \tag{D.2}$$

where the first label in the subscript is the sequence index and the second label identifies the algebra. The carrier space of every $\mathfrak{su}(m)$ subalgebra is composed of disjoint $\mathfrak{su}(m-1)$ carrier spaces

$$\{(m_{1,n-1},\ldots,m_{n-1,n-1})\}$$
 (D.3)

that obey the betweenness condition

$$m_{k,n} \ge m_{k,n-1} \ge m_{k+1,n}.$$
 (D.4)

Thus, each $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ basis state $|M\rangle$ can be labelled by the GT pattern

where

$$m_{k,\ell} \ge m_{k,n-1} \ge m_{k+1,\ell}, \ 1 \le k < \ell \le n.$$
 (D.6)

The canonical basis states are eigenstates of the Cartan operators $\{H_i\}$ (3.12) as detailed in the following lemma. **Lemma 25** (Connection to Gelfand-Tsetlin basis [188]). The canonical basis states are connected to the GT basis according to

Every state $|M\rangle$ in the GT-labeling scheme is a simultaneous eigenstate of all $\mathfrak{su}(n)$ Cartan operators,

$$H_{\ell} |M\rangle = \lambda_{\ell}^{M} |M\rangle, \quad (1 \le \ell \le N - 1),$$
 (D.8)

with eigenvalues

$$\lambda_{\ell} = \sum_{k=1}^{\ell} m_{k,\ell} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\ell+1} m_{k,\ell+1} + \sum_{k=1}^{\ell-1} m_{k,\ell-1} \right), \ 1 \le \ell \le N - 1.$$
(D.9)

Thus, the canonical basis states of Def. 6 is uniquely mapped to the GT basis.

Furthermore, the weights λ_{ℓ} are also mapped via the boson realizations to differences in number of bosons at sites ℓ and $\ell + 1$. Hence, the difference

$$\nu_{\ell+1} - \nu_{\ell} = \sum_{k=1}^{l} m_{k,\ell} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\ell+1} m_{k,\ell+1} + \sum_{k=1}^{\ell-1} m_{k,\ell-1} \right), \ 1 \le \ell \le N - 1$$
(D.10)

in the number of bosons at sites $\ell + 1$ and ℓ of the boson realization of a basis state is also connected to its GT pattern. Once we recall the total number of bosons in the system is $\nu_1 + \nu_2 + \cdots + \nu_n = N_k$, one can then invert the differences and recover ν_p in term of the $m_{k,\ell-1}$. Thus the canonical GT basis states are connected to our SU(n) basis states.

Bibliography

- I. Dhand and S. K. Goyal. Realization of arbitrary discrete unitary transformations using spatial and internal modes of light. *Phys. Rev. A*, 92:043813, 2015. arXiv:1508.06259.
- [2] I. Dhand, A. Khalid, H. Lu, and B. C. Sanders. Accurate and precise characterization of linear optical interferometers. arXiv:1508.00283.
- [3] I. Dhand, B. C. Sanders, and H. de Guise. Algorithms for SU(n) boson realizations and *D*-functions. J. Math. Phys., 56(11):111705, 2015.
- [4] H. de Guise, D. Spivak, J. Kulp, and I. Dhand. Connection between *D*-functions and immanants of unitary matrices and submatrices. arXiv:1511.01851.
- [5] I. Dhand and B. C. Sanders. Stability of the Trotter-Suzuki decomposition. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 47(26):265206, 2014.
- [6] P. W. Shor. Polynomial-time algorithms for prime factorization and discrete logarithms on a quantum computer. SIAM J. Comput., 26(5):1484–1509, 1997.
- [7] S. Lloyd. Universal quantum simulators. *Science*, 273(5278):1073–1078, 1996.
- [8] A. W. Harrow, A. Hassidim, and S. Lloyd. Quantum algorithm for linear systems of equations. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 103(15):150502, 2009.
- [9] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2010.
- [10] C. H. Bennett and G. Brassard. Quantum cryptography: Public key distribution and coin tossing. In Proceedings of International Conference on Computers, Systems and Signal Processing, volume 175, pages 175–179, 1984.

- [11] N. Gisin, G. Ribordy, W. Tittel, and H. Zbinden. Quantum cryptography. Rev. Mod. Phys., 74:145–195, 2002.
- [12] I. L. Chuang and Y. Yamamoto. Simple quantum computer. *Phys. Rev. A*, 52:3489– 3496, 1995.
- [13] J. Clausen, L. Knöll, and D. Welsch. Quantum state conversion by cross-kerr interaction.
 J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiclassical Opt., 4(2):155, 2002.
- [14] J. C. Howell and J. A. Yeazell. Quantum computation through entangling single photons in multipath interferometers. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 85:198–201, 2000.
- [15] G. J. Milburn. Quantum optical fredkin gate. Phys. Rev. Lett., 62:2124–2127, 1989.
- [16] P. Kok, K. Nemoto, T. C. Ralph, J. P. Dowling, and G. J. Milburn. Linear optical quantum computing with photonic qubits. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 79(1):135–174, 2007.
- [17] S. Aaronson and A. Arkhipov. The computational complexity of linear optics. Theory Comput., 9(4):143–252, 2013.
- [18] S. Aaronson and A. Arkhipov. Bosonsampling is far from uniform. Quantum Inf. Comput., 14(15-16):1383–1423, 2014.
- [19] E. Knill, R. Laflamme, and G. J. Milburn. A scheme for efficient quantum computation with linear optics. *Nature*, 409(6816):46–52, 2001.
- [20] B. Do, M. L. Stohler, S. Balasubramanian, D. S. Elliott, C. Eash, E. Fischbach, M. A. Fischbach, A. Mills, and B. Zwickl. Experimental realization of a quantum quincunx by use of linear optical elements. J. Opt. Soc. Am. B, 22(2):499–504, 2005.
- [21] H. Jeong, M. Paternostro, and M. Kim. Simulation of Quantum Random Walks Using the Interference of a Classical Field. *Phys. Rev. A*, 69(1):012310, 2004.

- [22] L.-M. Duan, M. D. Lukin, J. I. Cirac, and P. Zoller. Long-distance quantum communication with atomic ensembles and linear optics. *Nature*, 414(6862):413–418, 2001.
- [23] J. M. Arrazola and N. Lütkenhaus. Quantum communication with coherent states and linear optics. *Phys. Rev. A*, 90(4):042335–042345, 2014.
- [24] A. Politi, M. J. Cryan, J. G. Rarity, S. Yu, and J. L. O'Brien. Silica-on-Silicon waveguide quantum circuits. *Science*, 320(5876):646–649, 2008.
- [25] J. C. Matthews, A. Politi, A. Stefanov, and J. L. O'Brien. Manipulation of multiphoton entanglement in waveguide quantum circuits. *Nat. Photon.*, 3(6):346–350, 2009.
- [26] A. Crespi, R. Ramponi, R. Osellame, L. Sansoni, I. Bongioanni, F. Sciarrino, G. Vallone, and P. Mataloni. Integrated photonic quantum gates for polarization qubits. *Nat. Commun.*, 2:566, 2011.
- [27] P. J. Shadbolt, M. Verde, A. Peruzzo, A. Politi, A. Laing, M. Lobino, J. C. Matthews, M. G. Thompson, and J. O'Brien. Generating, manipulating and measuring entanglement and mixture with a reconfigurable photonic circuit. *Nat. Photon.*, 6(1):45–49, 2012.
- [28] B. J. Metcalf, N. Thomas-Peter, J. B. Spring, D. Kundys, M. A. Broome, P. C. Humphreys, X.-M. Jin, M. Barbieri, W. Steven Kolthammer, J. C. Gates, B. J. Smith, N. K. Langford, P. G. Smith, and I. A. Walmsley. Multiphoton Quantum Interference in a Multiport Integrated Photonic Device. *Nat. Commun.*, 4:1356, 2013.
- [29] G. Gol'Tsman, O. Okunev, G. Chulkova, A. Lipatov, A. Semenov, K. Smirnov,
 B. Voronov, A. Dzardanov, C. Williams, and R. Sobolewski. Picosecond superconducting single-photon optical detector. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 79(6):705–707, 2001.
- [30] D. Rosenberg, A. Lita, A. Miller, and S. Nam. Noise-free high-efficiency photon-numberresolving detectors. *Phys. Rev. A*, 71(6):0618031–0618034, 2005.

- [31] E. Gansen, M. Rowe, M. Greene, D. Rosenberg, T. Harvey, M. Su, R. Hadfield, S. Nam, and R. Mirin. Photon-number-discriminating detection using a quantum-dot, optically gated, field-effect transistor. *Nat. Photon.*, 1(10):585–588, 2007.
- [32] A. E. Lita, A. J. Miller, and S. W. Nam. Counting near-infrared single-photons with 95% efficiency. Opt. Express, 16(5):3032–3040, 2008.
- [33] F. Najafi, J. Mower, N. C. Harris, F. Bellei, A. Dane, C. Lee, X. Hu, P. Kharel, F. Marsili,
 S. Assefa, K. K. Berggren, and D. Englund. On-chip detection of non-classical light by scalable integration of single-photon detectors. *Nat. Commun.*, 6:5873, 2015.
- [34] C. Santori, D. Fattal, J. Vučković, G. S. Solomon, and Y. Yamamoto. Indistinguishable photons from a single-photon device. *Nature*, 419(6907):594–597, 2002.
- [35] A. B. U'Ren, C. Silberhorn, K. Banaszek, and I. A. Walmsley. Efficient conditional preparation of high-fidelity single photon states for fiber-optic quantum networks. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 93:093601, 2004.
- [36] A. Faraon, I. Fushman, D. Englund, N. Stoltz, P. Petroff, and J. Vučković. Dipole induced transparency in waveguide coupled photonic crystal cavities. *Opt. Express*, 16(16):12154, 2008.
- [37] A. Sipahigil, M. L. Goldman, E. Togan, Y. Chu, M. Markham, D. J. Twitchen, A. S. Zibrov, A. Kubanek, and M. D. Lukin. Quantum interference of single photons from remote nitrogen-vacancy centers in diamond. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108:143601, 2012.
- [38] J. Mower, N. C. Harris, G. R. Steinbrecher, Y. Lahini, and D. Englund. High-fidelity quantum state evolution in imperfect photonic integrated circuits. *Phys. Rev. A*, 92:032322, 2015.
- [39] N. C. Harris, G. R. Steinbrecher, J. Mower, Y. Lahini, M. Prabhu, T. Baehr-Jones, M. Hochberg, S. Lloyd, and D. Englund. Bosonic transport simulations in a large-scale

programmable nanophotonic processor. arXiv:1507.03406.

- [40] J. Carolan, C. Harrold, C. Sparrow, E. Martin-Lopez, N. J. Russell, J. W. Silverstone,
 P. J. Shadbolt, N. Matsuda, M. Oguma, M. Itoh, G. D. Marshall, M. G. Thompson,
 J. C. F. Matthews, T. Hashimoto, J. L. O'Brien, and A. Laing. Universal linear optics. Science, 349(6249):711–716, 2015.
- [41] R. Simon and N. Mukunda. Universal SU(2) gadget for polarization optics. Phys. Lett. A, 138(9):474–480, 1989.
- [42] R. Simon and N. Mukunda. Minimal three-component SU(2) gadget for polarization optics. *Phys. Lett. A*, 143(4–5):165–169, 1990.
- [43] B. N. Simon, C. M. Chandrashekar, and S. Simon. Hamilton's turns as a visual tool kit for designing single-qubit unitary gates. *Phys. Rev. A*, 85(2):022323, 2012.
- [44] M. Reck, A. Zeilinger, H. J. Bernstein, and P. Bertani. Experimental realization of any discrete unitary operator. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 73(1):58–61, 1994.
- [45] D. J. Rowe, B. C. Sanders, and H. de Guise. Representations of the Weyl group and Wigner functions for SU(3). J. Math. Phys., 40(7):3604, 1999.
- [46] H. de Guise, B. C. Sanders, S. D. Bartlett, and W. Zhang. Geometric phase in SU(n) interferometry. Czech. J. Phys., 51(4):312–320, 2001.
- [47] K. R. Motes, A. Gilchrist, J. P. Dowling, and P. P. Rohde. Scalable boson sampling with time-bin encoding using a loop-based architecture. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113:120501, 2014.
- [48] K. R. Motes, J. P. Olson, E. J. Rabeaux, J. P. Dowling, S. J. Olson, and P. P. Rohde. Linear optical quantum metrology with single photons: Exploiting spontaneously generated entanglement to beat the shot-noise limit. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 114:170802, 2015.

- [49] M. Pant and D. Englund. High dimensional unitary transformations and boson sampling on temporal modes using dispersive optics. 2015, arXiv:1505.03103.
- [50] J. C. García-Escartín and P. Chamorro-Posada. Universal quantum computation with the orbital angular momentum of a single photon. J. Opt., 13(6):064022, 2011.
- [51] A. Peruzzo, M. Lobino, J. C. Matthews, N. Matsuda, A. Politi, K. Poulios, X.-Q. Zhou, Y. Lahini, N. Ismail, K. Wörhoff, Y. Bromberg, Y. Silberberg, M. G. Thompson, and J. L. OBrien. Quantum walks of correlated photons. *Science*, 329(5998):1500–1503, 2010.
- [52] A. Crespi, R. Osellame, R. Ramponi, V. Giovannetti, R. Fazio, L. Sansoni, F. De Nicola,
 F. Sciarrino, and P. Mataloni. Anderson localization of entangled photons in an integrated quantum walk. *Nat. Photon.*, 7(4):322–328, 2013.
- [53] K. Poulios, R. Keil, D. Fry, J. D. A. Meinecke, J. C. F. Matthews, A. Politi, M. Lobino, M. Gräfe, M. Heinrich, S. Nolte, A. Szameit, and J. L. O'Brien. Quantum walks of correlated photon pairs in two-dimensional waveguide arrays. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 112:143604, 2014.
- [54] M. A. Broome, A. Fedrizzi, S. Rahimi-Keshari, J. Dove, S. Aaronson, T. C. Ralph, and
 A. G. White. Photonic boson sampling in a tunable circuit. *Science*, 339(6121):794–8, 2013.
- [55] J. B. Spring, B. J. Metcalf, P. C. Humphreys, W. S. Kolthammer, X.-M. Jin, M. Barbieri, A. Datta, N. Thomas-Peter, N. K. Langford, D. Kundys, J. C. Gates, B. J. Smith, P. G. R. Smith, and I. A. Walmsley. Boson sampling on a photonic chip. *Science*, 339(6121):798–801, 2013.
- [56] A. Crespi, R. Osellame, R. Ramponi, D. J. Brod, E. F. Galvão, N. Spagnolo, C. Vitelli,E. Maiorino, P. Mataloni, and F. Sciarrino. Integrated multimode interferometers with

arbitrary designs for photonic boson sampling. Nat. Photon., 7(7):545–549, 2013.

- [57] M. Bentivegna, N. Spagnolo, C. Vitelli, F. Flamini, N. Viggianiello, L. Latmiral, P. Mataloni, D. J. Brod, E. F. Galvão, A. Crespi, R. Ramponi, R. Osellame, and F. Sciarrino. Experimental scattershot boson sampling. *Sci. Adv.*, 1(3):e1400255, 2015.
- [58] M. A. Pooley, D. J. P. Ellis, R. B. Patel, A. J. Bennett, K. H. A. Chan, I. Farrer, D. A. Ritchie, and A. J. Shields. Controlled-NOT gate operating with single photons. *Appl. Phys. Lett.*, 100(21):211103, 2012.
- [59] T. Meany, D. N. Biggerstaff, M. A. Broome, A. Fedrizzi, M. Delanty, A. Gilchrist, G. D. Marshall, M. J. Steel, A. G. White, and M. J. Withford. Engineering integrated photonics for heralded quantum gates. 2015, arXiv:1502.03386.
- [60] D. E. Knuth. Big omicron and big omega and big theta. SIGACT News, 8(2):18–24, 1976.
- [61] S. R. Huisman, T. J. Huisman, S. A. Goorden, A. P. Mosk, and P. W. H. Pinkse. Programming balanced optical beam splitters in white paint. *Opt. Express*, 22(7):8320, 2014.
- [62] A. Szameit, F. Dreisow, T. Pertsch, S. Nolte, and A. Tünnermann. Control of directional evanescent coupling in fs laser written waveguides. *Opt. Express*, 15(4):1579, 2007.
- [63] A. Arkhipov. Boson sampling is robust to small errors in the network matrix. 2014, arxiv:1412.2516.
- [64] J. Huh, G. G. Guerreschi, B. Peropadre, J. R. McClean, and A. Aspuru-Guzik. Boson sampling for molecular vibronic spectra. *Nat. Photon.*, 9(9):615–620, 2015.
- [65] J. K. Gamble, M. Friesen, D. Zhou, R. Joynt, and S. N. Coppersmith. Two-particle quantum walks applied to the graph isomorphism problem. *Phys. Rev. A*, 81(5):052313– 052324, 2010.

- [66] L. Sansoni, F. Sciarrino, G. Vallone, P. Mataloni, A. Crespi, R. Ramponi, and R. Osellame. Two-particle bosonic-fermionic quantum walk via integrated photonics. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 108(1):010502–010507, 2012.
- [67] M. Lobino, D. Korystov, C. Kupchak, E. Figueroa, B. C. Sanders, and A. I. Lvovsky. Complete characterization of quantum-optical processes. *Science*, 322(5901):563–566, 2008.
- [68] S. Rahimi-Keshari, M. A. Broome, R. Fickler, A. Fedrizzi, T. C. Ralph, and A. G. White. Direct Characterization Of Linear-Optical Networks. *Opt. Express*, 21(11):13450–13458, 2013.
- [69] A. Laing and J. L. O'Brien. Super-stable tomography of any linear optical device. ArXiv e-prints, 2012, 1208.2868.
- [70] J. Altepeter, E. Jeffrey, and P. Kwiat. Photonic state tomography. Adv. At. Mol. Opt. Phys., pages 105–159, 2005.
- M. Tillmann, S.-H. Tan, S. E. Stoeckl, B. C. Sanders, H. de Guise, R. Heilmann,
 S. Nolte, A. Szameit, and P. Walther. Generalized multiphoton quantum interference.
 Phys. Rev. X, 5:041015, 2015.
- [72] K. Pearson. On the criterion that a given system of deviations from the probable in the case of a correlated system of variables is such that it can be reasonably supposed to have arisen from random sampling. *Philos. Mag.*, 50(302):157–175, 1900.
- [73] R. L. Plackett. Karl Pearson and the chi-squared test. Int. Stat. Rev., 51(1):59–72, 1983.
- [74] P. E. Greenwood and M. S. Nikulin. A Guide to Chi-Squared Testing. Wiley, New York, 1996.

- [75] S.-H. Tan, Y. Y. Gao, H. de Guise, and B. C. Sanders. SU(3) quantum interferometry with single-photon input pulses. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 110(11):113603, 2013.
- [76] H. de Guise, S.-H. Tan, I. P. Poulin, and B. C. Sanders. Coincidence landscapes for three-channel linear optical networks. *Phys. Rev. A.*, 89(6):063819, 2014.
- [77] B. Kostant. A formula for the multiplicity of a weight. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 93(1), 1959.
- [78] L. Mandel and E. Wolf. Optical Coherence and Quantum Optics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [79] P. P. Rohde and T. C. Ralph. Modelling photo-detectors in quantum optics. J. Mod. Opt., 53(11):1589–1603, 2006.
- [80] D. Littlewood. The Theory of Group Characters and Matrix Representations of Groups.AMS Chelsea Publishing Series. Clarendon Press, Gloucestershire, 1950.
- [81] I. M. Gelfand and M. L. Tsetlin. Finite-dimensional representations of the group of unimodular matrices. volume 2 of *Collected Papers*, pages 653–656. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1988. (in English) *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR (N.S.)*, **7**1 (1950), pp. 825–828 (in Russian).
- [82] A. O. Barut and R. Raczka. The explicit construction of finite-dimensional irreducible representations. In *Theory of group representations and applications*, volume 2. World Scientific, Singapore, 1986.
- [83] M. Moshinsky. The harmonic oscillator and supermultiplet theory. Nucl. Phys., 31:384–405, 1962.
- [84] M. Moshinsky. Wigner Coefficients for the SU₃ Group and some Applications. Rev. Mod. Phys., 34(4):813–828, 1962.

- [85] J. R. Bunch and J. E. Hopcroft. Triangular factorization and inversion by fast matrix multiplication. *Math. Comput.*, 28(125):231–231, 1974.
- [86] L. Valiant. The complexity of computing the permanent. Theor. Comput. Sci., 8(2):189–201, 1979.
- [87] P. Bürgisser. The computational complexity of immanants. SIAM J. Comput., 30(3):1023–1040, 2000.
- [88] L. Troyansky and N. Tishby. On the quantum evaluation of the determinant and the permanent of a matrix. Proc. Phys. Comput., page 96, 1996.
- [89] B. Kostant. Immanant inequalities and 0-Weight spaces. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 8(1):181– 186, 1995.
- [90] G. W. Stewart. On the perturbation of pseudo-inverses, projections and linear least squares problems. SIAM Rev., 19(4):634–662, 1977.
- [91] G. W. Stewart. Computing the CS decomposition of a partitioned orthonormal matrix. Numer. Math., 40(3):297–306, 1982.
- [92] B. D. Sutton. Computing the complete CS decomposition. Numer. Algorithms, 50(1):33–65, 2009.
- [93] G. Golub and W. Kahan. Calculating the singular values and pseudo-inverse of a matrix. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 2(2):205–224, 1965.
- [94] V. Klema and A. Laub. The singular value decomposition: Its computation and some applications. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Contr.*, 25(2):164–176, 1980.
- [95] E. Anderson, Z. Bai, C. Bischof, J. Demmel, J. Dongarra, J. Du Croz, A. Greenbaum, S. Hammarling, A. McKenney, S. Ostrouchov, and D. Sorensen. *LAPACK's User's Guide*. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia, 1992.

- [96] W. H. Press, S. A. Teukolsky, W. T. Vetterling, and B. P. Flannery. Numerical Recipes in C, volume 2. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996.
- [97] S. K. Goyal, F. S. Roux, A. Forbes, and T. Konrad. Implementation of multidimensional quantum walks using linear optics and classical light. *Phys. Rev. A*, 92:040302, 2015.
- [98] I. Dhand and S. K. Goyal. https://github.com/ishdhand/internal-spatial-decomposition, 2015.
- [99] D. Flamm, C. Schulze, D. Naidoo, S. Schröter, A. Forbes, and M. Duparré. All-digital holographic tool for mode excitation and analysis in optical fibers. J. Lightwave Technol., 31(7):1023–1032, 2013.
- [100] S. P. Walborn, A. N. de Oliveira, S. Pádua, and C. H. Monken. Multimode hong-oumandel interference. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 90:143601, 2003.
- [101] C. Schuck, G. Huber, C. Kurtsiefer, and H. Weinfurter. Complete deterministic linear optics bell state analysis. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 96:190501, 2006.
- [102] E. Nagali, L. Sansoni, F. Sciarrino, F. De Martini, L. Marrucci, B. Piccirillo, E. Karimi, and E. Santamato. Optimal quantum cloning of orbital angular momentum photon qubits through hong-ou-mandel coalescence. *Nat. Photon.*, 3(12):720–723, 2009.
- [103] E. Karimi, D. Giovannini, E. Bolduc, N. Bent, F. M. Miatto, M. J. Padgett, and R. W. Boyd. Exploring the quantum nature of the radial degree of freedom of a photon via hong-ou-mandel interference. *Phys. Rev. A*, 89:013829, 2014.
- [104] S. S. Bullock. Note on the Khaneja Glaser decomposition. Quantum Inf. Comput., 4(5):396–400, 2004.
- [105] F. S. Khan and M. Perkowski. Synthesis of multi-qudit hybrid and d-valued quantum logic circuits by decomposition. *Theor. Comput. Sci.*, 367(3):336–346, 2006.

- [106] V. V. Shende, S. S. Bullock, and I. L. Markov. Synthesis of quantum-logic circuits. *IEEE Trans. Comput.-Aided Des. Integr. Circuits Syst.*, 25(6):1000–1010, 2006.
- [107] K. Levenberg. A Method for the Solution of Certain Problems in Least Squares. Q. Appl. Math., 2:164–168, 1944.
- [108] D. W. Marquardt. An Algorithm for Least-Squares Estimation of Nonlinear Parameters. J. Soc. Ind. Appl. Math., 11(2):431–441, 1963.
- [109] F. James. Statistical Methods in Experimental Physics, volume 7. World Scientific, Singapore, 2006.
- [110] T. Strutz. Data Fitting and Uncertainty: A Practical Introduction to Weighted Least Squares and Beyond. Vieweg and Teubner, Wiesbaden, 2010.
- [111] T. Kailath. *Linear Systems*, volume 1. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1980.
- [112] B. Efron. Bootstrap methods: Another look at the jackknife. Ann. Stat., 7(1):1–26, 1979.
- [113] B. Efron and R. Tibshirani. Bootstrap Methods for Standard Errors, Confidence Intervals, and Other Measures of Statistical Accuracy. *Stat. Sci.*, 1(1):54–75, 1986.
- [114] F. W. Scholz. Maximum Likelihood Estimation. Wiley, New York, 2004.
- [115] T. Tao. Topics in Random Matrix Theory, volume 132. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2012.
- [116] J. B. Keller. Closest unitary, orthogonal and hermitian operators to a given operator. Math. Mag., 48(4):192–197, 1975.
- [117] P. Diaconis. Computer-intensive methods in statistics. Sci. Amer., 248:116–130, 1983.

- [118] C. J. Willmott, S. G. Ackleson, R. E. Davis, J. J. Feddema, K. M. Klink, D. R. Legates, J. O'donnell, and C. M. Rowe. Statistics for the evaluation and comparison of models. J. Geophys. Res.: Oceans, 90(C5):8995–9005, 1985.
- [119] B. F. Manly. Randomization, Bootstrap and Monte Carlo Methods in Biology, volume 70. CRC Press, 2006.
- [120] T. J. DiCiccio and B. Efron. Bootstrap confidence intervals. Stat. Sci., 11(3):189–228, 1996.
- [121] A. C. Davison and D. V. Hinkley. Bootstrap Methods and Their Application. Cambridge Series in Statistical and Probabilistic Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997.
- [122] M. G. Akritas and I. Van Keilegom. Non-parametric estimation of the residual distribution. Scand. J. Stat., 28(3):549–567, 2001.
- [123] X. Chen, O. Linton, and I. Van Keilegom. Estimation of Semiparametric Models when the Criterion Function Is Not Smooth. *Econometrica*, 71(5):1591–1608, 2003.
- [124] A. P. Lund, A. Laing, S. Rahimi-Keshari, T. Rudolph, J. L. O'Brien, and T. C. Ralph. Boson sampling from a Gaussian state. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 113:100502, 2014.
- [125] I. Kojadinovic and J. Yan. Goodness-of-fit testing based on a weighted bootstrap: A fast large-sample alternative to the parametric bootstrap. Can. J. Stat., 40(3):480–500, 2012.
- [126] C. Hong, Z. Ou, and L. Mandel. Measurement of subpicosecond time intervals between two photons by interference. *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, 59(18):2044–2046, 1987.
- [127] A. Peruzzo, A. Laing, A. Politi, T. Rudolph, and J. L. O'Brien. Multimode quantum interference of photons in multiport integrated devices. *Nat Commun*, 2:224, 2011.

- [128] M. Tillmann, B. Dakić, R. Heilmann, S. Nolte, A. Szameit, and P. Walther. Experimental boson sampling. *Nat. Photon.*, 7(7):540–544, 2013.
- [129] J. Carolan, J. D. Meinecke, P. J. Shadbolt, N. J. Russell, N. Ismail, K. Wörhoff, T. Rudolph, M. G. Thompson, J. L. O'Brien, J. C. Matthews, and A. Laing. On the experimental verification of quantum complexity in linear optics. *Nat. Photon.*, 8(8):621–626, 2014.
- [130] F. Mezzadri. How to generate random matrices from the classical compact groups. Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 54(5):592 – 604, 2007.
- [131] D. A. Varšalovič, A. N. Moskalev, and V. K. Kersonskij. Quantum Theory of Angular Momentum. World Scientific, Singapore, 1989.
- [132] M. Rose. Elementary Theory of Angular Momentum. Dover, New York, 1995.
- [133] A. R. Edmonds. Angular Momentum in Quantum Mechanics. Princeton University Press, Princeton, 1996.
- [134] G. Racah. Theory of complex spectra. III. Phys. Rev., 63:367–382, 1943.
- [135] M. Jacob and G. Wick. On the general theory of collisions for particles with spin. Ann. Phys., 7(4), 1959.
- [136] K. Alder, A. Bohr, T. Huus, B. Mottelson, and A. Winther. Study of nuclear structure by electromagnetic excitation with accelerated ions. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 28(4):432–542, 1956.
- [137] H. Ui. Clebsch-Gordan formulas of the SU(1,1) group. Prog. Theor. Phys., 44(3):689–702, 1970.
- [138] B. Yurke, S. McCall, and J. Klauder. SU(2) and SU(1,1) interferometers. *Phys. Rev.* A, 33(6):4033–4054, 1986.

- [139] P. Joanis, D. H. Mahler, and H. de Guise. su(1, 1) intelligent states. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 43(38):385304, 2010.
- [140] E. Karimi, R. W. Boyd, P. de la Hoz, H. de Guise, J. Řeháček, Z. Hradil, A. Aiello, G. Leuchs, and L. L. Sánchez-Soto. Radial quantum number of Laguerre-Gauss modes. *Phys. Rev. A*, 89(6):063813, 2014.
- [141] J. M. Cerveró and J. D. Lejarreta. Generalized two-mode harmonic oscillator: dynamical group and squeezed states. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 29(23):7545–7560, 1996.
- [142] A. Wünsche. Symplectic groups in quantum optics. J. Opt. B: Quantum Semiclassical Opt., 2(2):73–80, 2000.
- [143] N. Vilenkine. Special Functions and the Theory of Group Representations. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1968.
- [144] W. Miller. Lie Theory and Special Functions. Academic Press, New York, 1968.
- [145] J. D. Talman. Special functions: a group theoretic approach. In *Boojums all the Way Through*, pages 309–309. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [146] E. Chacón and M. Moshinsky. Representations of finite U(3) transformations. Phys. Lett., 23(10):567–569, 1966.
- [147] J. P. Draayer. Wigner and Racah coefficients for SU(3). J. Math. Phys., 14(12):1904, 1973.
- [148] D. J. Millener. A note on recoupling coefficients for SU(3). J. Math. Phys., 19(7):1513, 1978.
- [149] D. J. Rowe and C. Bahri. Clebsch-Gordan coefficients of SU(3) in SU(2) and SO(3) bases. J. Math. Phys., 41(9):6544, 2000.

- [150] M. A. B. Beg and H. Ruegg. A set of harmonic functions for the group SU(3). J. Math. Phys., 6(5):677, 1965.
- [151] R. Slansky. Group theory for unified model building. Phys. Rep., 79(1):1–128, 1981.
- [152] H. Georgi. Lie Algebras in Particle Physics. Westview Press, Boulder, 1999.
- [153] D. J. Rowe. Fundamentals of Nuclear Models: Foundational Models. World Scientific, Singapore, 2010.
- [154] J. F. Cornwell. Group Theory in Physics an Introduction. Academic Press, San Diego, 1997.
- [155] R. Gilmore. Lie Groups, Lie Algebras, and Some of Their Applications. Dover Books on Mathematics. Dover, Mineola, 2012.
- [156] J. M. Jauch and E. L. Hill. On the problem of degeneracy in quantum mechanics. *Phys. Rev.*, 57:641–645, 1940.
- [157] J. Schwinger. On angular momentum. USAEC Report NYO-3071, 1952.
- [158] G. A. Baker. Degeneracy of the n-dimensional, isotropic, harmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev., 103(4):1119–1120, 1956.
- [159] J. P. Elliott. Collective motion in the nuclear shell model. I. classification schemes for states of mixed configurations. Proc. R. Soc. A, 245(1240):128–145, 1958.
- [160] D. M. Fradkin. Three-dimensional isotropic harmonic oscillator and SU(3). Am. J. Phys., 33(3):207, 1965.
- [161] F. Iachello. The Interacting Boson Model. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1987.

- [162] A. Klein and E. Marshalek. Boson realizations of Lie algebras with applications to nuclear physics. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 63(2):375–558, 1991.
- [163] A. Kuriyama, J. da Providência, and M. Yamamura. A possible description of manybody system composed of four kinds of boson operators: In relation to the su(2)- and the su(1,1)-algebraic Model. *Prog. Theor. Phys.*, 103(2):305–319, 2000.
- [164] S. D. Bartlett, D. A. Rice, B. C. Sanders, J. Daboul, and H. de Guise. Unitary transformations for testing Bell inequalities. *Phys. Rev. A*, 63(4):042310, 2001.
- [165] R. C. Hwa and J. Nuyts. Group embedding for the harmonic oscillator. Phys. Rev., 145(4):1188–1195, 1966.
- [166] P. Kramer and M. Moshinsky. Group theory of harmonic oscillators (III). States with permutational symmetry. Nucl. Phys., 82(2):241–274, 1966.
- [167] M. Moshinsky and C. Quesne. Linear canonical transformations and their unitary representations. J. Math. Phys., 12(8):1772–1780, 1971.
- [168] C. Quesne and M. Moshinsky. Canonical transformations and matrix elements. J. Math. Phys., 12(8):1780–1783, 1971.
- [169] D. J. Rowe. Coherent state theory of the noncompact symplectic group. J. Math. Phys., 25(9):2662, 1984.
- [170] H. Weyl. The Theory of Groups and Quantum Mechanics. Dover, New York, 1950.
- [171] S. Chaturvedi, G. Marmo, N. Mukunda, R. Simon, and A. Zampini. The Schwinger representation of a group: concept and applications. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 18(08):887–912, 2006.
- [172] E. F. Moore. The shortest path through a maze. In Proc. Int. Symp. Theory Switching, pages 285–292, Cambridge, 1961. Harvard University Press.

- [173] C. Y. Lee. An algorithm for path connections and its applications. IEEE Trans. Electron. Comput., EC-10(3):346–365, 1961.
- [174] D. E. Knuth. The Art of Computer Programming: Sorting and Searching, volume 3. Pearson Education, New York, 1998.
- [175] J. E. Humphreys. Weight and Maximal Vectors. In Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory, volume 9. Springer, New York, 1972.
- [176] N. N. Bogolyubov and D. V. Shirkov. Introduction to the Theory of Quantized Fields. Wiley, New York, 1959.
- [177] S. C. Pang. Lowering and raising operators for the orthogonal group in the chain $O(n) \supset O(n-1) \supset \cdots$, and their graphs. J. Math. Phys., 8(6):1233, 1967.
- [178] M. K. F. Wong. Representations of the orthogonal group II. Polynomial bases for the irreducible representations of the orthogonal group. J. Math. Phys., 10(6):1065, 1969.
- [179] M. A. Lohe. The boson calculus for the orthogonal and symplectic groups. J. Math. Phys., 12(9):1882, 1971.
- [180] T. H. Pate. Descending chains of immanants. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 162–164:639–650, 1992.
- [181] T. H. Pate. Inequalities involving immanants. *Linear Algebra Appl.*, 212–213:31–44, 1994.
- [182] B. Rhoades and M. Skandera. Temperley-Lieb immanants. Ann. Comb., 9(4):451–494, 2005.
- [183] D. J. Rowe, M. J. Carvalho, and J. Repka. Dual pairing of symmetry and dynamical groups in physics. *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 84(2):711–757, 2012.

- [184] M. L. Whippman. Branching rules for simple lie groups. J. Math. Phys., 6:1534–1539, 1965.
- [185] M. Moshinsky and E. Chacon. Spectroscopic and Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, chapter Racah Coefficients and states with permutational symmetry. Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1968.
- [186] P. H. Butler and B. G. Wybourne. Applications of s-functional analysis to continuous groups in physics. J. Phys. I France, 30(10):795–802, 1969.
- [187] B. G. Wybourne. Classical Groups for Physicists. Wiley, New York, 1974.
- [188] A. Alex, M. Kalus, A. Huckleberry, and J. von Delft. A numerical algorithm for the explicit calculation of SU(n) and SL(n, C) Clebsch-Gordan coefficients. J. Math. Phys., 52(2):023507, 2011.